Deloitte.



International GAAP Holdings LimitedModel financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2016

Key contacts

Global IFRS Leader

Veronica Poole

ifrsglobalofficeuk@deloitte.co.uk

IFRS centres of excellence

Americas

Canada Karen Higgins ifrs@deloitte.ca

LATCOClaudio Giaimoifrs-LATCO@deloitte.comUnited StatesRobert Uhliasplus-us@deloitte.com

Asia-Pacific

AustraliaAnna Crawfordifrs@deloitte.com.auChinaStephen Taylorifrs@deloitte.com.cnJapanShinya Iwasakiifrs@tohmatsu.co.jpSingaporeShariq Barmakyifrs-sg@deloitte.com

Europe-Africa

Belgium Thomas Carlier ifrs-belgium@deloitte.com

Denmark Jan Peter Larsen ifrs@deloitte.dk France Laurence Rivat ifrs@deloitte.fr ifrs@deloitte.de Germany Jens Berger Italy Massimiliano Semprini ifrs-it@deloitte.it Luxembourg **Eddy Termaten** ifrs@deloitte.lu Netherlands ifrs@deloitte.nl Ralph Ter Hoeven Michael Raikhman Russia ifrs@deloitte.ru South Africa Nita Ranchod ifrs@deloitte.co.za Spain Cleber Custodio ifrs@deloitte.es

United Kingdom Elizabeth Chrispin deloitteifrs@deloitte.co.uk

Acknowledgement

These model financial statements have been prepared by the IFRS Centre of Excellence in Hong Kong, Deloitte China.

į

Deloitte's IAS Plus (**www.iasplus.com**) is one of the most comprehensive sources of global financial reporting news on the Web. It is a central repository for information about International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs) as well as the activities of the International Accounting Standards Board (IASB). The site, which is also available in German, includes portals tailored to the United Kingdom and the United States, each with a focus on local GAAP and jurisdiction-specific corporate reporting requirements. Canadian portals in English and French have been added in 2015. They feature news and publications related to all Canadian financial reporting frameworks, including IFRS.

IAS Plus features:

- news about global financial reporting developments, presented intuitively with related news, publications, events and more;
- summaries of all standards, interpretations and projects, with complete histories of developments and standard-setter discussions together with related news and publications;
- rich jurisdiction-specific information, including background and financial reporting requirements, links to country-specific resources, related news and publications and a comprehensive history of the adoption of IFRSs around the world;
- detailed personalisation of the site, which is available by selecting particular topics of interest and viewing tailored views of the site;
- dedicated resource pages for research and education, sustainability and integrated reporting, accounting developments in Europe, global financial crisis, XBRL and Islamic accounting;
- important dates highlighted throughout the site for upcoming meetings, deadlines and more;
- a library of IFRS-related publications available for download and subscription including our popular *IFRS in Focus newsletter* and other publications;
- model IFRS financial statements and checklists, with many versions available tailored to specific jurisdictions;
- an extensive electronic library of both global and jurisdiction-specific IFRS resources;
- expert analysis and commentary from Deloitte subject matter experts, including webcasts, podcasts and interviews;
- e-learning modules for most International Accounting Standards (IASs) and IFRSs;
- enhanced search functionality, allowing easy access to topics of interest by tags, categories or free text searches, with search results intuitively presented by category with further filtering options;
- Deloitte commetn letters to the IASB and numerous other bodies; and
- a mobile-friendly interface and updates through Twitter and RSS feeds.

Contents

Section 1	– New and revised	I IFRSs for 2016 annu	al financia	l statements an	d beyond	,
Section 2	– Model financial s	statements for the yea	ar ended 3	31 December 20	016	1′

Section 1 – New and revised IFRSs for 2016 annual financial statements and beyond

This section provides you with a high level summary of the new and revised IFRSs that are effective for 2016 and beyond. Specifically, this section covers the following:

- An overview of the amendments to IFRSs that are mandatorily effective for the year ending 31 December 2016; and
- An overview of new and revised IFRSs that are not yet mandatorily effective (but allow early application) for the year ending 31 December 2016. For this purpose, the discussion below reflects IFRSs issued on or before 31 August 2016. When entities prepare financial statements for the year ending 31 December 2016, they should also consider and disclose the potential impact of the application of any new and revised IFRSs issued by the IASB after 31 August 2016 but before the financial statements are authorised for issue.

Section 1A: Amendments to IFRSs that are mandatorily effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2016

The following amendments to IFRSs became mandatorily effective in the current year. All these amendments to IFRSs generally require full retrospective application (i.e. comparative amounts have to be restated), with some amendments requiring prospective application.

For December year-end entities, below is a list of the amendments to IFRSs that are mandatorily effective for their 2016 financial year*:

- Amendments to IFRS 10, IFRS 12 and IAS 28 Investment Entities: Applying the Consolidation Exception
- Amendments to IFRS 11 Accounting for Acquisitions of Interests in Joint Operations
- Amendments to IAS 1 Disclosure Initiative
- Amendments to IAS 16 and IAS 38 Clarification of Acceptable Methods of Depreciation and Amortisation
- Amendments to IAS 16 and IAS 41 Agriculture: Bearer Plants
- Amendments to IAS 27 Equity Method in Separate Financial Statements
- Amendments to IFRSs Annual Improvements to IFRSs 2012-2014 Cycle
- * IFRS 14 Regulatory Deferral Accounts is also effective for an entity's first IFRS financial statements for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2016; however, it is not applicable to International GAAP Holdings Limited as the Group is not a first-time adopter of IFRSs.

Amendments to IFRS 10, IFRS 12 and IAS 28 Investment Entities: Applying the Consolidation Exception (Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2016)

The amendments clarify that the exemption from preparing consolidated financial statements is available to a parent entity that is a subsidiary of an investment entity, even if the investment entity measures all its subsidiaries at fair value in accordance with IFRS 10. Consequential amendments have also been made to IAS 28 to clarify that the exemption from applying the equity method is also applicable to an investor in an associate or joint venture if that investor is a subsidiary of an investment entity that measures all its subsidiaries at fair value.

The amendments further clarify that the requirement for an investment entity to consolidate a subsidiary providing services related to the former's investment activities applies only to subsidiaries that are not investment entities themselves.

Moreover, the amendments clarify that in applying the equity method of accounting to an associate or a joint venture that is an investment entity, an investor may retain the fair value measurements that the associate or joint venture used for its subsidiaries.

1

International GAAP Holdings Limited

Lastly, clarification is also made that an investment entity that measures all its subsidiaries at fair value should provide the disclosures required by IFRS 12 *Disclosures of Interests in Other Entities*.

The amendments apply retrospectively.

Amendments to IFRS 11 Accounting for Acquisitions of Interests in Joint Operations (Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2016)

The amendments to IFRS 11 provide guidance on how to account for the acquisition of an interest in a joint operation in which the activities constitute a business as defined in IFRS 3 *Business Combinations*. Specifically, the amendments state that the relevant principles on accounting for business combinations in IFRS 3 and other standards (e.g. IAS 12 *Income Taxes* regarding recognition of deferred taxes at the time of acquisition and IAS 36 *Impairment of Assets* regarding impairment testing of a cash generating unit to which goodwill on acquisition of a joint operation has been allocated) should be applied. The same requirements should be applied to the formation of a joint operation if and only if an existing business is contributed to the joint operation by one of the parties that participate in the joint operation.

A joint operator is also required to disclose the relevant information required by IFRS 3 and other standards for business combinations.

The amendments apply prospectively to acquisitions of interests in joint operations (in which the activities of the joint operations constitute businesses as defined in IFRS 3) occurring from the beginning of annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2016.

Amendments to IAS 1 Disclosure Initiative (Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2016)

The amendments were a response to comments that there were difficulties in applying the concept of materiality in practice as the wording of some of the requirements in IAS 1 had in some cases been read to prevent the use of judgement. Certain key highlights in the amendments are as follows:

- An entity should not reduce the understandability of its financial statements by obscuring material information with immaterial information or by aggregating material items that have different natures or functions.
- An entity need not provide a specific disclosure required by an IFRS if the information resulting from that disclosure is not material.
- In the other comprehensive income section of a statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income, the amendments require separate disclosures for the following items:
 - the share of other comprehensive income of associates and joint ventures accounted for using the equity method that will not be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss; and
 - the share of other comprehensive income of associates and joint ventures accounted for using the equity method *that will* be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss.

Commentary:

As this is a set of illustrative financial statements which is not intended to cater for the specific operations and circumstances of all entities, no specific changes have been made to the grouping and/or ordering of the notes to take the above amendments into account. Furthermore, items that are immaterial or with nil amounts have continued to be disclosed solely for illustrative purposes. Nevertheless, entities should exercise judgement when considering how to apply the disclosure initiative amendments to IAS 1 in order to provide relevant information to users and to enhance the understandability and comparability of its financial statements, taking into account jurisdictional regulatory requirements where appropriate.

In addition, the IASB issued the exposure draft of IFRS Practice Statement: Application of Materiality to Financial Statements in October 2015 which is intended to provide additional guidance on the application of materiality to financial statements, and to aid entities exercise judgement in this regard. This final version of this non-authoritative guidance is not yet published at the time of writing.

Amendments to IAS 16 and IAS 38 Clarification of Acceptable Methods of Depreciation and Amortisation (Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2016)

The amendments to IAS 16 prohibit entities from using a revenue-based depreciation method for items of property, plant and equipment. The amendments to IAS 38 introduce a rebuttable presumption that revenue is not an appropriate basis for amortisation of an intangible asset. This presumption can only be rebutted in the following two limited circumstances:

a) when the intangible asset is expressed as a measure of revenue. For example, an entity could acquire a concession to explore and extract gold from a gold mine. The expiry of the contract might be based on a fixed amount of total revenue to be generated from the extraction (for example, a contract may allow the extraction of gold from the mine until total cumulative revenue from the sale of gold reaches CU2 billion) and not be based on time or on the amount of gold extracted. Provided that the contract specifies a fixed total amount of revenue to be generated on which amortisation is to be determined, the revenue that is to be generated might be an appropriate basis for amortising the intangible asset; or

b) when it can be demonstrated that revenue and the consumption of the economic benefits of the intangible asset are highly correlated.

The amendments apply prospectively.

Amendments to IAS 16 and IAS 41 Agriculture: Bearer Plants (Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2016)

The amendments to IAS 16 *Property, Plant and Equipment* and IAS 41 *Agriculture* define a bearer plant and require biological assets that meet the definition of a bearer plant to be accounted for as property, plant and equipment in accordance with IAS 16, instead of IAS 41. In terms of the amendments, bearer plants can be measured using either the cost model or the revaluation model set out in IAS 16.

The produce growing on bearer plants continues to be accounted for in accordance with IAS 41.

As a transition provision on initial application, entities need not disclose the quantitative information required by paragraph 28(f) of IAS 8 for the current period. However, quantitative information for each prior period presented is still required. Also, on the initial application of the amendments, entities are permitted to use the fair value of items of bearer plant as their deemed cost as at the beginning of the earliest period presented. Any difference between the previous carrying amount and fair value should be recognised in opening retained earnings at the beginning of the earliest period presented.

Amendments to IAS 27 Equity Method in Separate Financial Statements (Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2016)

The amendments focus on separate financial statements and allow the use of the equity method in such statements. Specifically, the amendments allow an entity to account for investments in subsidiaries, joint ventures and associates in its separate financial statements:

- at cost,
- in accordance with IFRS 9 (or IAS 39 for entities that have not yet adopted IFRS 9), or
- using the equity method as described in IAS 28 Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures.

The same accounting must be applied to each category of investments.

The amendments also clarify that when a parent ceases to be an investment entity, or becomes an investment entity, it should account for the change from the date when the change in status occurs.

Annual Improvements to IFRSs 2012 – 2014 Cycle (Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2016)

The Annual Improvements include amendments to a number of IFRSs, which have been summarised below.

Standard	Subject of amendment	Details
IFRS 5	Changes in methods of disposal	The amendments introduce specific guidance in IFRS 5 for when an
Non-current Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations		entity reclassifies an asset (or disposal group) from held for sale to held for distribution to owners (or vice versa), or when held for distribution accounting is discontinued.
IFRS 7	Servicing contracts	The amendments (i) provide additional guidance to clarify whether
Financial Instruments: Disclosures (with consequential amendments to IFRS 1)	Applicability of the amendments to IFRS 7 on offsetting disclosure to condensed interim financial statements	a servicing contract is continuing involvement in a transferred asset for the purpose of the disclosures required in relation to transferred assets; and (ii) clarify that the offsetting disclosures are not explicitly required for all interim periods. However, the disclosures may need to be included in the condensed interim financial statements to company with IAS 34 <i>Interim Financial Reporting</i> .
IAS 19	Discount rate: regional market	The amendments clarify that the high quality corporate bonds used
Employee Benefits	issue	to estimate the discount rate for post-employment benefits should be issued in the same currency as the benefits to be paid. These amendments would result in the depth of the market for high quality corporate bonds being assessed at currency level.
IAS 34	Disclosure of information included	The amendments clarify the requirements relating to information
Interim Financial Reporting	'elsewhere in the interim financial report'	required by IAS 34 that is presented elsewhere within the interim financial report but outside the interim financial statements. The amendments require that such information be incorporated by way of a cross-reference from the interim financial statements to the other part of the interim financial report that is available to users on the same terms and at the same time as the interim financial statements.

IFRS 14 Regulatory Deferral Accounts (Effective for first annual IFRS financial statements with annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2016)

IFRS 14 specifies the accounting for regulatory deferral account balances that arise from rate-regulated activities. The Standard is available only to first-time adopters of IFRSs who recognised regulatory deferral account balances under their previous GAAP. IFRS 14 permits eligible first-time adopters of IFRSs to continue their previous GAAP rate-regulated accounting policies, with limited changes, and requires separate presentation of regulatory deferral account balances in the statement of financial position and statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income. Disclosures are also required to identify the nature of, and risks associated with, the form of rate regulation that has given rise to the recognition of regulatory deferral account balances.

IFRS 14 is effective for an entity's first annual IFRS financial statements for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2016.

Section 1B: New and revised IFRSs that are not mandatorily effective (but allow early application) for the year ending 31 December 2016

Below is a list of new and revised IFRSs that are not yet mandatorily effective (but allow early application) for the year ending 31 December 2016:

- IFRS 9 Financial Instruments;
- IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers and the related Clarifications;
- IFRS 16 Leases;
- Amendments to IFRS 2 Classification and Measurement of Share-based Payment Transactions;
- Amendments to IFRS 10 and IAS 28 Sale or Contribution of Assets between an Investor and its Associate or Joint Venture;
- Amendments to IAS 7 Disclosure Initiative; and
- Amendments to IAS 12 Recognition of Deferred Tax Assets for Unrealised Losses.

IFRS 9 Financial Instruments (as revised in 2014) (Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2018)

In July 2014, the IASB finalised the reform of financial instruments accounting and issued IFRS 9 (as revised in 2014), which contains the requirements for a) the classification and measurement of financial assets and financial liabilities, b) impairment methodology, and c) general hedge accounting. IFRS 9 (as revised in 2014) will supersede IAS 39 *Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement* upon its effective date.

Phase 1: Classification and measurement of financial assets and financial liabilities

With respect to the classification and measurement, the number of categories of financial assets under IFRS 9 has been reduced; all recognised financial assets that are currently within the scope of IAS 39 will be subsequently measured at either amortised cost or fair value under IFRS 9. Specifically:

- a debt instrument that (i) is held within a business model whose objective is to collect the contractual cash flows and (ii) has contractual cash flows that are solely payments of principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding must be measured at amortised cost (net of any write down for impairment), unless the asset is designated at fair value through profit or loss (FVTPL) under the fair value option.
- a debt instrument that (i) is held within a business model whose objective is achieved both by collecting contractual cash flows and selling financial assets and (ii) has contractual terms that give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely payments of principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding, must be measured at FVTOCI, unless the asset is designated at FVTPL under the fair value option.
- all other debt instruments must be measured at FVTPL.
- all equity investments are to be measured in the statement of financial position at fair value, with gains and losses recognised in profit
 or loss except that if an equity investment is not held for trading, nor contingent consideration recognised by an acquirer in a business
 combination to which IFRS 3 applies, an irrevocable election can be made at initial recognition to measure the investment at FVTOCI,
 with dividend income recognised in profit or loss.

IFRS 9 also contains requirements for the classification and measurement of financial liabilities and derecognition requirements. One major change from IAS 39 relates to the presentation of changes in the fair value of a financial liability designated as at FVTPL attributable to changes in the credit risk of that liability. Under IFRS 9, such changes are presented in other comprehensive income, unless the presentation of the effect of the change in the liability's credit risk in other comprehensive income would create or enlarge an accounting mismatch in profit or loss. Changes in fair value attributable to a financial liability's credit risk are not subsequently reclassified to profit or loss. Under IAS 39, the entire amount of the change in the fair value of the financial liability designated as FVTPL is presented in profit or loss.

Phase 2: Impairment of financial assets

The impairment model under IFRS 9 reflects <u>expected</u> credit losses, as opposed to <u>incurred</u> credit losses under IAS 39. Under the impairment approach in IFRS 9, it is no longer necessary for a credit event to have occurred before credit losses are recognised. Instead, an entity always accounts for expected credit losses and changes in those expected credit losses. The amount of expected credit losses should be updated at each reporting date to reflect changes in credit risk since initial recognition.

Phase 3: Hedge accounting

The general hedge accounting requirements of IFRS 9 retain the three types of hedge accounting mechanisms in IAS 39. However, greater flexibility has been introduced to the types of transactions eligible for hedge accounting, specifically broadening the types of instruments that qualify as hedging instruments and the types of risk components of non-financial items that are eligible for hedge accounting. In addition, the effectiveness test has been overhauled and replaced with the principle of an 'economic relationship'. Retrospective assessment of hedge effectiveness is no longer required. Far more disclosure requirements about an entity's risk management activities have been introduced.

The work on macro hedging by the IASB is still at a preliminary stage – a discussion paper was issued in April 2014 to gather preliminary views and direction from constituents with a comment period which ended in October 2014. The project is still under analysis at the time of writing.

Transitional provisions

IFRS 9 (as revised in 2014) is effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2018 with earlier application permitted. If an entity elects to apply IFRS 9 early, it must apply all of the requirements in IFRS 9 at the same time, except for those relating to:

- 1. the presentation of fair value gains and losses attributable to changes in the credit risk of financial liabilities designated as at FVTPL, the requirements for which an entity may early apply without applying the other requirements in IFRS 9; and
- 2. hedge accounting, for which an entity may choose to continue to apply the hedge accounting requirements of IAS 39 instead of the requirements of IFRS 9.

IFRS 9 contains specific transitional provisions for i) classification and measurement of financial assets; ii) impairment of financial assets; and iii) hedge accounting. Please see IFRS 9 for details.

IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers (Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2018)

IFRS 15 establishes a single comprehensive model for entities to use in accounting for revenue arising from contracts with customers. It will supersede the following revenue Standards and Interpretations upon its effective date:

- IAS 18 Revenue;
- IAS 11 Construction Contracts;
- IFRIC 13 Customer Loyalty Programmes;
- IFRIC 15 Agreements for the Construction of Real Estate;
- IFRIC 18 Transfers of Assets from Customers; and
- SIC 31 Revenue-Barter Transactions Involving Advertising Services.

As suggested by the title of the new Revenue Standard, IFRS 15 will only cover revenue arising from contracts with customers. Under IFRS 15, a customer of an entity is a party that has contracted with the entity to obtain goods or services that are an output of the entity's ordinary activities in exchange for consideration. Unlike the scope of IAS 18, the recognition and measurement of interest income and dividend income from debt and equity investments are no longer within the scope of IFRS 15. Instead, they are within the scope of IAS 39 (or IFRS 9 if it is early adopted).

As mentioned above, the new Revenue Standard has a single model to deal with revenue from contracts with customers. Its core principle is that an entity should recognise revenue to depict the transfer of promised goods or services to customers in an amount that reflects the consideration to which the entity expects to be entitled in exchange for those goods or services.

The new Revenue Standard introduces a 5-step approach to revenue recognition and measurement:



Far more prescriptive guidance has been introduced by the new Revenue Standard:

- Whether or not a contract (or a combination of contracts) contains more than one promised good or service, and if so, when and how the promised goods or services should be unbundled.
- Whether the transaction price allocated to each performance obligation should be recognised as revenue over time or at a point in time. Under IFRS 15, an entity recognises revenue when a performance obligation is satisfied, which is when 'control' of the goods or services underlying the particular performance obligation is transferred to the customer. Unlike IAS 18, the new Standard does not include separate guidance for 'sales of goods' and 'provision of services'; rather, the new Standard requires entities to assess whether revenue should be recognised over time or a particular point in time regardless of whether revenue relates to 'sales of goods' or 'provision of services'.
- When the transaction price includes a variable consideration element, how it will affect the amount and timing of revenue to be recognised. The concept of variable consideration is broad; a transaction price is considered variable due to discounts, rebates, refunds, credits, price concessions, incentives, performance bonuses, penalties and contingency arrangements. The new Standard introduces a high hurdle for variable consideration to be recognised as revenue that is, only to the extent that it is highly probable that a significant reversal in the amount of cumulative revenue recognised will not occur when the uncertainty associated with the variable consideration is subsequently resolved.
- When costs incurred to obtain a contract and costs to fulfil a contract can be recognised as an asset.

Extensive disclosures are also required by the new Standard.

In April 2016, the IASB issued *Clarifications to IFRS 15* in response to feedback received by the IASB|FASB Joint Transition Resource Group for Revenue Recognition, which was formed to address potential issues associated with the implementation of IFRS 15 and the US GAAP equivalent, ASC topic 606. The *Clarifications to IFRS 15* clarified the following areas:

- Identifying performance obligations: by providing illustrative factors for consideration in assessing whether the promised goods or services are distinct;
- Principal versus agent considerations: by clarifying that an entity should assess whether it is a principal or agent for each distinct good or service promised to the customer, and by amending and reframing the indicators to assess whether an entity is a principal or agent; and
- Licensing application guidance: in determining whether the licence grants customers a right to use the underlying intellectual property ('IP') (which would result in point in time revenue recognition) or a right to access the IP (which would result in revenue recognition over time), an entity is required to determine whether (i) its ongoing activities are expected to significantly change the form or the functionality of the IP or (ii) the ability of the customer to obtain benefit from the IP is substantially derived from or dependent upon those activities.

Many entities across different industries will likely be affected by IFRS 15 (at least to a certain extent). In some cases, the changes may be substantial and may require changes to the existing IT systems and internal controls. Entities should consider the nature and extent of these changes.

International GAAP Holdings Limited

For additional information, please refer to the Deloitte publications *IFRS in Focus* and *IFRS Industry Insights* which highlight the practical implications of IFRS 15 to various industries. These publications can be downloaded at http://www.iasplus.com/en/tag-types/global. More information regarding the *Clarifications to IFRS 15* can be found in the Deloitte *IFRS in Focus* publication at http://www.iasplus.com/en/publications/global/ifrs-in-focus/2016/ifrs-15-clarifications.

IFRS 15, together with the clarifications thereto issued in April 2016, is effective for reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2018 with early application permitted. Entities can choose to apply the Standard retrospectively or to use a modified transition approach, which is to apply the Standard retrospectively only to contracts that are not completed contracts at the date of initial application (for example, 1 January 2018 for an entity with a 31 December year-end). The *Clarifications to IFRS 15* also introduces additional practical expedients for entities transitioning to IFRS 15 on (i) contract modifications that occurred prior to the beginning of the earliest period presented and (ii) contracts that were completed at the beginning of the earliest period presented.

IFRS 16 Leases

(Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2019)

IFRS 16 provides a comprehensive model for the identification of lease arrangements and their treatment in the financial statements of both lessees and lessors. It will supersede the following lease Standard and Interpretations upon its effective date:

- IAS 17 Leases;
- IFRIC 4 Determining whether an Arrangement contains a Lease;
- SIC-15 Operating Leases Incentives; and
- SIC-27 Evaluating the Substance of Transactions Involving the Legal Form of a Lease.

Identification of a lease

IFRS 16 applies a control model to the identification of leases, distinguishing between leases and service contracts on the basis of whether there is an identified asset controlled by the customer. Control is considered to exist if the customer has:

- a) the right to obtain substantially all of the economic benefits from the use of an identified asset; and
- b) the right to direct the use of that asset.

The Standard provides detailed guidance to determine whether those conditions are met, including instances where the supplier has substantive substitution rights, and where the relevant decisions about how and for what purpose the asset is used are predetermined.

Lessee accounting

IFRS 16 introduces significant changes to lessee accounting: it removes the distinction between operating and finance leases under IAS 17 and requires a lessee to recognise a right-of-use asset and a lease liability at lease commencement for all leases, except for short-term leases and leases of low value assets.

The right-of-use asset is initially measured at cost and subsequently measured at cost (subject to certain exceptions) less accumulated depreciation and impairment losses, adjusted for any remeasurement of the lease liability.

The lease liability is initially measured at the present value of the lease payments that are not paid at that date. Subsequently, the lease liability is adjusted for interest and lease payments, as well as the impact of lease modifications, amongst others.

If a lessee elects not to apply the general requirements of IFRS 16 to short-term leases (i.e. one that does not include a purchase option and has a lease term at commencement date of 12 months or less) and leases of low value assets, the lessee should recognise the lease payments associated with those leases as an expense on either a straight-line basis over the lease term or another systematic basis, similar to the current accounting for operating leases.

Lessor accounting

In contrast to lessee accounting, the IFRS 16 lessor accounting requirements remain largely unchanged from IAS 17, which continue to require a lessor to classify a lease either as an operating lease or a finance lease.

In addition, IFRS 16 also provides guidance on the accounting for sale and leaseback transactions. Extensive disclosures are also required by the new Standard.

Due to the prominence of leasing transactions in the economy, many entities across different industries will be affected by IFRS 16. In some cases, the changes may be substantial and may require changes to the existing IT systems and internal controls. Entities should consider the nature and extent of these changes.

For additional information, please refer to the Deloitte publications *IFRS in Focus* and *IFRS Industry Insights* which highlight the practical implications of IFRS 16 to various industries. These publications can be downloaded at http://www.iasplus.com/en/tag-types/global/newsletters/ifrs-industry-insights.

IFRS 16 is effective for reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2019 with early application permitted for entities that apply IFRS 15 at or before the date of initial application of IFRS 16. A lessee can apply IFRS 16 either by a full retrospective approach or a modified retrospective approach. If the latter approach is selected, an entity is not required to restate the comparative information and the cumulative effect of initially applying IFRS 16 must be presented as an adjustment to opening retained earnings (or other component of equity as appropriate).

Amendments to IFRS 2 Classification and Measurement of Share-based Payment Transactions (Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2018)

The amendments clarify the following:

- 1. In estimating the fair value of a cash-settled share-based payment, the accounting for the effects of vesting and non-vesting conditions should follow the same approach as for equity-settled share-based payments.
- 2. Where tax law or regulation requires an entity to withhold a specified number of equity instruments equal to the monetary value of the employee's tax obligation to meet the employee's tax liability which is then remitted to the tax authority (typically in cash), i.e. the share-based payment arrangement has a 'net settlement feature', such an arrangement should be classified as equity-settled in its entirety, provided that the share-based payment would have been classified as equity-settled had it not included the net settlement feature.
- 3. A modification of a share-based payment that changes the transaction from cash-settled to equity-settled should be accounted for as follows:
 - (i) the original liability is derecognised;
 - (ii) the equity-settled share-based payment is recognised at the modification date fair value of the equity instrument granted to the extent that services have been rendered up to the modification date; and
 - (iii) any difference between the carrying amount of the liability at the modification date and the amount recognised in equity should be recognised in profit or loss immediately.

The amendments are effective for annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2018 with earlier application permitted. Specific transition provisions apply.

Amendments to IFRS 10 and IAS 28 Sale or Contribution of Assets between an Investor and its Associate or Joint Venture (Effective for annual periods beginning on or after a date to be determined)

The amendments deal with situations where there is a sale or contribution of assets between an investor and its associate or joint venture. IAS 28 and IFRS 10 are amended, as follows:

IAS 28 has been amended to reflect the following:

- Gains and losses resulting from transactions involving assets that do not constitute a business between an investor and its associate or joint venture are recognised to the extent of unrelated investors' interests in the associate or joint venture.
- Gains or losses from downstream transactions involving assets that constitute a business between an investor and its associate or joint venture should be recognised in full in the investor's financial statements.

IFRS 10 has been amended to reflect the following:

• Gains or losses resulting from the loss of control of a subsidiary that does not contain a business in a transaction with an associate or a joint venture that is accounted for using the equity method, are recognised in the parent's profit or loss only to the extent of the unrelated investors' interests in that associate or joint venture. Similarly, gains and losses resulting from the remeasurement of investments retained in any former subsidiary (that has become an associate or a joint venture that is accounted for using the equity method) to fair value are recognised in the former parent's profit or loss only to the extent of the unrelated investors' interests in the new associate or joint venture.

In December 2015, the IASB postponed the effective date of this amendment indefinitely pending the outcome of its research project on the equity method of accounting. Earlier application of these amendments is still permitted.

Amendments to IAS 7 Disclosure Initiative (Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2017)

The amendments require an entity to provide disclosures that enable users of financial statements to evaluate changes in liabilities arising from financing activities, including both changes arising from cash flows and non-cash changes. The amendments do not prescribe a specific format to disclose financing activities; however, an entity may fulfil the disclosure objective by providing a reconciliation between the opening and closing balances in the statement of financial position for liabilities arising from financing activities.

The amendments apply prospectively for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2017 with earlier application permitted. Entities are not required to present comparative information for earlier periods.

Amendments to IAS 12 Recognition of Deferred Tax Assets for Unrealised Losses (Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2017)

The amendments clarify the following:

- 1. Decreases below cost in the carrying amount of a fixed-rate debt instrument measured at fair value for which the tax base remains at cost give rise to a deductible temporary difference, irrespective of whether the debt instrument's holder expects to recover the carrying amount of the debt instrument by sale or by use, or whether it is probable that the issuer will pay all the contractual cash flows;
- 2. When an entity assesses whether taxable profits will be available against which it can utilise a deductible temporary difference, and the tax law restricts the utilisation of losses to deduction against income of a specific type (e.g. capital losses can only be set off against capital gains), an entity assesses a deductible temporary difference in combination with other deductible temporary differences of that type, but separately from other types of deductible temporary differences;
- 3. The estimate of probable future taxable profit may include the recovery of some of an entity's assets for more than their carrying amount if there is sufficient evidence that it is probable that the entity will achieve this; and
- 4. In evaluating whether sufficient future taxable profits are available, an entity should compare the deductible temporary differences with future taxable profits excluding tax deductions resulting from the reversal of those deductible temporary differences.

The amendments apply retrospectively for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2017 with earlier application permitted.

Section 2 – Model financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2016

International GAAP Holdings Limited

The model financial statements of International GAAP Holdings Limited for the year ended 31 December 2016 are intended to illustrate the presentation and disclosure requirements of International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs). They also contain additional disclosures that are considered to be best practice, particularly where such disclosures are included in illustrative examples provided within a specific Standard.

International GAAP Holdings Limited is assumed to have presented financial statements in accordance with IFRSs for a number of years. Therefore, it is not a first-time adopter of IFRSs. Readers should refer to IFRS 1 *First-time Adoption of International Financial Reporting Standards* for specific requirements regarding an entity's first IFRS financial statements. It is further assumed that International GAAP Holdings Limited does not qualify as an investment entity as defined in IFRS 10.

The model financial statements illustrate the impact of the application of the amendments to IFRSs that were issued on or before 31 August 2016 and are mandatorily effective for the annual period beginning on 1 January 2016. Accordingly, the model financial statements do not illustrate the impact of the application of new and revised IFRSs that are not yet mandatorily effective on 1 January 2016.

The model financial statements do not include separate financial statements for the parent, which may be required by local laws or regulations, or may be prepared voluntarily. Where an entity presents separate financial statements that comply with IFRSs, the requirements of IAS 27 *Separate Financial Statements* (as revised in 2011) will apply. Separate statements of profit or loss and other comprehensive income, financial position, changes in equity and cash flows for the parent will generally be required, together with supporting notes. In addition, the model financial statements have been presented without regard to local laws or regulations. Preparers of financial statements will need to ensure that the options selected under IFRSs do not conflict with such sources of regulation (e.g. the revaluation of assets is not permitted under certain reporting regimes – but these financial statements illustrate the presentation and disclosures required when an entity adopts the revaluation model under IAS 16 *Property, Plant and Equipment*). In addition, local laws or securities regulations may specify disclosures in addition to those required by IFRSs (e.g. in relation to directors' remuneration). Preparers of financial statements will consequently need to adapt the model financial statements to comply with such additional local requirements.

Suggested disclosures are cross-referenced to the underlying requirements in the texts of the relevant Standards and Interpretations.

For the purposes of presenting the statements of profit or loss and other comprehensive income and cash flows, the alternatives allowed under IFRSs for those statements have been illustrated. Preparers should select the alternatives most appropriate to their circumstances and apply the chosen presentation method consistently.

Note that in these model financial statements, we have frequently included line items for which a nil amount is shown, so as to illustrate items that, although not applicable to International GAAP Holdings Limited, are commonly encountered in practice. This does not mean that we have illustrated all possible disclosures. Nor should it be taken to mean that entities are required to display line items for such 'nil' amounts in practice, especially in light of the amendments to IAS 1 *Disclosure Initiatives* which are effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2016.

Contents

	Page
Consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income	
Alt 1 – Single statement presentation, with expenses analysed by function	14
Alt 2 – Presentation as two statements, with expenses analysed by nature	18
Consolidated statement of financial position	22
Consolidated statement of changes in equity	26
Consolidated statement of cash flows	
Alt 1 – Direct method of reporting cash flows from operating activities	28
Alt 2 – Indirect method of reporting cash flows from operating activities	30
Notes to the consolidated financial statements	33
Auditor's report	179

Index	c to the notes to the consolidated financial statements	Page
1	General information	33
2	Application of new and revised International Financial Reporting Standards	33
3	Significant accounting policies	42
4	Critical accounting judgements and key sources of estimation uncertainty	63
5	Revenue	66
6	Segment information	66
7	Investment income	72
8	Other gains and losses	73
9	Finance costs	74
10	Income taxes relating to continuing operations	75
11	Discontinued operations	82
12	Assets classified as held for sale	84
13	Profit for the year from continuing operations	85
14	Earnings per share	87
15	Property, plant and equipment	90
16	Investment property	94
17	Goodwill	97
18	Other intangible assets	100
19	Subsidiaries	102
20	Associates	108
20A	Joint ventures	112
21	Joint operations	114
22	Other financial assets	115
23	Other assets	116
24	Inventories	116
25	Trade and other receivables	117
26	Finance lease receivables	119
27	Amounts due from (to) customers under construction contracts	120
28	Issued capital	121
29	Reserves (net of income tax)	123
30	Retained earnings and dividends on equity instruments	128
31	Non-controlling interests	129
32	Borrowings	129
33	Convertible notes	131
34	Other financial liabilities	132
35	Provisions	133
36	Other liabilities	134
37	Trade and other payables	134
38	Obligations under finance leases	135
39	Retirement benefit plans	136
40	Financial instruments	142
41	Deferred revenue	162
42	Share-based payments	163
43	Related party transactions	167
44	Business combinations	169
45	Disposal of a subsidiary	173
46	Cash and cash equivalents	175
47	Non-cash transactions	175
48	Operating lease arrangements	176
49	Continue and liabilities and continue and co	177
50	Contingent liabilities and contingent assets	178
51 52	Events after the reporting period	178
52	Approval of financial statements	178

Source	International GAAP Holdings Limited			
IAS 1.10(b), (ea), 51(b),(c)	Consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehe for the year ended 31 December 2016	ensive income		[Alt 1]
		Notes	Year ended 31/12/16	Year ended 31/12/15
IAS 1.51(d),(e)		-	CU'000	CU'000
	Continuing operations			
IAS 1.82(a)	Revenue	5	140,934	152,075
IAS 1.99	Cost of sales	24 -	(87,688)	(91,645)
IAS 1.85	Gross profit		53,246	60,430
IAS 1.85	Investment income	7	3,633	2,396
IAS 1.85	Other gains and losses	8	647	1,005
IAS 1.99	Distribution expenses		(5,118)	(4,640)
IAS 1.99	Marketing expenses		(3,278)	(2,234)
IAS 1.99	Administration expenses		(13,376)	(17,514)
	Other expenses		(2,801)	(2,612)
IAS 1.82(b)	Finance costs	9	(4,420)	(6,025)
IAS 1.82(c)	Share of profit of associates	20	866	1,209
IAS 1.82(c)	Share of profit of a joint venture	20A	337	242
IAS 1.85	Gain recognised on disposal of interest in former associate	20	581	-
IAS 1.85	Others [describe]	-		
IAS 1.85	Profit before tax		30,317	32,257
IAS 1.82(d)	Income tax expense	10	(11,485)	(11,668)
IAS 1.85	Profit for the year from continuing operations	13	18,832	20,589
	Discontinued operations			
IAS 1.82(ea) IFRS 5.33(a)	Profit for the year from discontinued operations	11 -	8,310	9,995
IAS 1.81A(a)	PROFIT FOR THE YEAR		27,142	30,584

	International GAAP Holdings Limited		
IAS 1.10(b), (ea),	Consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive incom	e	
51(b),(c)	for the year ended 31 December 2016		[Alt 1]
	Note	es Year ended 31/12/16	Year ended 31/12/15
IAS 1.91(a)	Other comprehensive income, net of income tax	9	
	Items that will not be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss:		
IAS 1.82A(a)(i)	Gain on revaluation of property	1,150	-
IAS 1.82A(b)(i)	Share of other comprehensive income of associates	-	-
IAS 1.82A(a)(i)	Remeasurement of defined benefit obligation	564	134
	Others (please specify)		
		1,714	134
IAC 1 02 A(=)(:)	Items that may be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss:	(20)	0.5
IAS 1.82A(a)(ii)	Exchange differences on translating foreign operations	(39)	85
IAS 1.82A(a)(ii)	Net fair value gain on available-for-sale financial assets	66	57 20
IAS 1.82A(a)(ii)	Net fair value gain on hedging instruments entered into for cash flow hedges	39	20
	Others (please specify)		
		66	162
			102
IAS 1.81A(b)	Other comprehensive income for the year, net of income tax	1,780	296
IAS 1.81A(c)	TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FOR THE YEAR	28,922	30,880
	Profit for the year attributable to:		
IAS 1.81B(a)(ii)	Owners of the Company	22,750	27,357
IAS 1.81B(a)(i)	Non-controlling interests	4,392	3,227
		27,142	30,584
	Total comprehensive income for the year attributable to:		
IAS 1.81B(b)(ii)	Owners of the Company	24,530	27,653
IAS 1.81B(b)(i)	Non-controlling interests	4,392	3,227
		28,922	30,880
	Earnings per share	4	
	From continuing and discontinued operations		
IAS 33.66	Basic (cents per share)	129.8	135.4
IAS 33.66	Diluted (cents per share)	113.4	129.0
	From continuing operations		
IAS 33.66	Basic (cents per share)	82.1	85.7
IAS 33.66	Diluted (cents per share)	71.9	81.7

Source International GAAP Holdings Limited

Consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income for the year ended 31 December 2016

[Alt 1]

Commentary:

One statement vs. two statements

IAS 1 permits an entity to present profit or loss and other comprehensive income (OCI) in either a single statement or in two separate but consecutive statements. Alt 1 above illustrates the presentation of profit or loss and OCI in one statement with expenses analysed by function. Alt 2 (see the following pages) illustrates the presentation of profit or loss and OCI in two separate but consecutive statements with expenses analysed by nature.

Whichever presentation approach is adopted, the distinction is retained between items recognised in profit or loss and items recognised in OCI. Under both approaches, profit or loss, total OCI, as well as comprehensive income for the period (being the total of profit or loss and OCI) should be presented. Under the two-statement approach, the separate statement of profit or loss ends at 'profit for the year', and this 'profit for the year' is then the starting point for the statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income, which is required to be presented immediately following the statement of profit or loss. In addition, the analysis of 'profit for the year' between the amount attributable to the owners of the Company and the amount attributable to non-controlling interests is presented as part of the separate statement of profit or loss.

OCI: items that may or may not be reclassified

Irrespective of whether the one-statement or the two-statement approach is followed, the items of OCI should be classified by nature and grouped into those that, in accordance with other IFRSs:

(a) will not be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss; and

(b) may be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss when specific conditions are met.

An entity should present its share of OCI of associates and joint ventures accounted for using the equity method separately from those arising from the Group.

Presentation options for reclassification adjustments

In addition, in accordance with paragraph 94 of IAS 1, an entity may present reclassification adjustments in the statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income or in the notes. In Alt 1 above, the reclassification adjustments have been presented in the notes. Alt 2 (see the following pages) illustrates the presentation of the reclassification adjustments in the statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income.

Presentation options for income tax relating to items of OCI

Furthermore, for items of OCI, additional presentation options are available as follows: the individual items of OCI may be presented net of tax in the statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income (as illustrated on the previous page), or they may be presented gross with a single line deduction for tax relating to those items by allocating the tax between the items that may be reclassified subsequently to the profit or loss section and those that will not be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss section (see Alt 2). Whichever option is selected, the income tax relating to each item of OCI must be disclosed, either in the statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income or in the notes (see Note 29).

Source International GAAP Holdings Limited

Consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income for the year ended 31 December 2016

[Alt 1]

Subtotals

When an entity presents subtotals, those subtotals should:

- a) be comprised of line items made up of amounts recognised and measured in accordance with IFRS;
- b) be presented and labelled in a manner that makes the line items that constitute the subtotal clear and understandable;
- c) be consistent from period to period; and
- d) not be displayed with more prominence than the subtotals and totals required in IFRS.

Immaterial items

An entity need not provide a specific disclosure required by an IFRS if the information resulting from that disclosure is not material. This is the case even if the IFRS contains a list of specific requirements or describes them as minimum requirements. However, for the purposes of these model financial statements, items that are immaterial or with nil amounts have still been disclosed <u>for illustrative purposes only</u>.

Source	International GAAP Holdings Limited			
IAS 1.10A, 10(ea),	Consolidated statement of profit or loss			
51(b),(c)	for the year ended 31 December 2016			[Alt 2]
IAS 1.113		Notes	Year ended 31/12/16	Year ended 31/12/15
IAS 1.51(d),(e)		_	CU'000	CU'000
	Continuing operations			
IAS 1.82(a)	Revenue	5	140,934	152,075
IAS 1.85	Investment income	7	3,633	2,396
IAS 1.85	Other gains and losses	8	647	1,005
IAS 1.99	Changes in inventories of finished goods and work in progress		7,674	2,968
IAS 1.99	Raw materials and consumables used		(84,990)	(86,068)
IAS 1.99	Depreciation and amortisation expenses	13	(12,224)	(13,569)
IAS 1.99	Employee benefits expense	13	(10,553)	(11,951)
IAS 1.82(b)	Finance costs	9	(4,420)	(6,025)
IAS 1.99	Consulting expense		(3,120)	(1,926)
	Other expenses		(9,048)	(8,099)
IAS 1.82(c)	Share of profit of associates	20	866	1,209
IAS 1.82(c)	Share of profit of a joint venture	20A	337	242
IAS 1.85	Gain recognised on disposal of interest in former associate	20	581	-
IAS 1.85	Others [describe]	_		
IAS 1.85	Profit before tax		30,317	32,257
IAS 1.82(d)	Income tax expense	10 _	(11,485)	(11,668)
IAS 1.85	Profit for the year from continuing operations	13	18,832	20,589
	Discontinued operations			
IAS 1.82(ea) IFRS 5.33A	Profit for the year from discontinued operations	11 -	8,310	9,995
IAS 1.81A(a)	PROFIT FOR THE YEAR	-	27,142	30,584

Source	International GAAP Holdings Limited			
IAS 1.10A, 10(ea), 51(b),(c)	Consolidated statement of profit or loss for the year ended 31 December 2016			[Alt 2]
IAS 1.113		Notes	Year ended 31/12/16	Year ended 31/12/15
	Attributable to:			
IAS 1.81B(a)(ii)	Owners of the Company		22,750	27,357
IAS 1.81B(a)(i)	Non-controlling interests	_	4,392	3,227
		-	27,142	30,584
	Earnings per share	14		
	From continuing and discontinued operations			
IAS 33.66, 67A	Basic (cents per share)		129.8	135.4
IAS 33.66, 67A	Diluted (cents per share)	-	113.4	129.0
	From continuing operations			
IAS 33.66, 67A	Basic (cents per share)		82.1	85.7
IAS 33.66, 67A	Diluted (cents per share)	-	71.9	81.7

Commentary:

The format outlined above aggregates expenses according to their nature.

See the previous page for a discussion of the format of the statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income. Note that where the two-statement approach is adopted (above and on the next page), as required by IAS 1.10A, the statement of profit or loss must be displayed immediately before the statement of comprehensive income.

Source	International GAAP Holdings Limited		
IAS 1.10A, 10(ea), 51(b),(c)	Consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income for the year ended 31 December 2016		[Alt 2]
	Note	Year ended 31/12/16	Year ended 31/12/15
IAS 1.51(d),(e)		CU'000	CU'000
IAS 1.10A	Profit for the year	27,142	30,584
	Other comprehensive income 29		
	Items that will not be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss:		
IAS 1.82A(a)(i)	Gain on revaluation of property	1,643	-
IAS 1.82A(b)(i)	Share of other comprehensive income of associates	_	-
IAS 1.82A(a)(i)	Remeasurement of defined benefit obligation	806	191
	Others (please specify)	-	-
IAS 1.91(b)	Income tax relating to items that will not be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss	(735)	(57)
		1,714	134
	Items that may be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss:		
IAS 1.82A(a)(ii)	Exchange differences on translating foreign operations		
	Exchange differences arising during the year	75	121
	Loss on hedging instruments designated in hedges of the net assets of foreign operations	(12)	-
	Reclassification adjustments relating to foreign operations disposed of in the year	(166)	-
	Reclassification adjustments relating to hedges of the net assets of foreign operations disposed of in the year	46	
		(57)	121

Source	International GAAP Holdings Limited			
IAS 1.10A, 10(ea), 51(b),(c)	Consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive in for the year ended 31 December 2016	come		[Alt 2]
		Note	Year ended 31/12/16	Year ended 31/12/15
IAS 1.82A(a)(ii)	Available-for-sale financial assets			
	Net fair value gain on available-for-sale financial assets during the year Reclassification adjustments relating to available-for-sale financial assets disposed of in the year		94	81 -
		-	94	81
IAS 1.82A(a)(ii)	Cash flow hedges			
	Fair value gains arising during the year		436	316
	Reclassification adjustments for amounts recognised in profit or loss		(123)	(86)
	Adjustments for amounts transferred to the initial carrying amounts of hedged items	-	(257)	(201)
			56	29
	Others (please specify)		_	_
IAS 1.91(b)	Income tax relating to items that may be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss		(27)	(69)
IAS 1.81A(b)	Other comprehensive income for the year, net of income tax	-	1,780	296
IAS 1.81A(c)	TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FOR THE YEAR		28,922	30,880
	Attributable to:			
IAS 1.81B(b)(ii)	Owners of the Company		24,530	27,653
IAS 1.81B(b)(i)	Non-controlling interests	-	4,392	3,227
			20.022	20.000
			28,922	30,880

Source	International GAAP Holdings Limited				
IAS 1.10(a),(ea), (f) 51(b),(c)	Consolidated statement of financial position at 31 December 2016				
IAS 1.113		Notes	31/12/16	31/12/15	01/01/15
IAS 1.51(d), (e)		_	CU'000	CU'000	CU'000
	Assets				
IAS 1.60	Non-current assets				
IAS 1.54(a)	Property, plant and equipment	15	105,215	130,541	157,212
IAS 1.54(b)	Investment property	16	4,968	4,941	4,500
IAS 1.55	Goodwill	17	20,485	24,260	24,120
IAS 1.54(c)	Other intangible assets	18	9,739	11,325	12,523
IAS 1.54(e)	Investments in associates	20	5,402	5,590	4,406
IAS 1.54(e)	Investment in a joint venture	20A	3,999	3,662	3,420
IAS 1.54(o)	Deferred tax assets	10	2,083	1,964	1,843
IAS 1.55	Finance lease receivables	26	830	717	739
IAS 1.54(d)	Other financial assets	22	10,771	9,655	7,850
IAS 1.55	Other assets	23 _			
	Total non-current assets	_	163,492	192,655	216,613
IAS 1.60	Current assets				
IAS 1.54(g)	Inventories	24	27,673	25,132	25,928
IAS 1.54(h)	Trade and other receivables	25	18,869	13,744	12,708
IAS 1.55	Finance lease receivables	26	198	188	182
IAS 1.55	Amounts due from customers under construction contracts	27	240	230	697
IAS 1.54(d)	Other financial assets	22	8,757	6,949	5,528
IAS 1.54(n)	Current tax assets	10	125	60	81
IAS 1.55	Other assets	23	-	-	-
IAS 1.54(i)	Cash and bank balances	46 _	24,096	20,278	8,052
			79,958	66,581	53,176
IAS 1.54(j)	Assets classified as held for sale	12 _	22,336		
	Total current assets	_	102,294	66,581	53,176
	Total assets	_	265,786	259,236	269,789

Source	International GAAP Holdings Limited				
	Consolidated statement of financial position at 31 December 2016 – continued				
		Notes	31/12/16	31/12/15	01/01/15
		_	CU'000	CU'000	CU'000
	Equity and liabilities				
	Capital and reserves				
IAS 1.55	Issued capital and share premium	28	32,439	48,672	48,672
IAS 1.55	Other reserves	29	4,237	2,226	1,726
IAS 1.55	Retained earnings	30 _	111,539	95,378	74,366
			148,215	146,276	124,764
IAS 1.55	Amounts recognised directly in equity relating to assets classified as held for sale	12	-	-	-
IAS 1.54(r)	Equity attributable to owners of the Company	=	148,215	146,276	124,764
IAS 1.54(q)	Non-controlling interests	31 -	26,761	22,058	18,831
	Total equity	-	174,976	168,334	143,595
IAS 1.60	Non-current liabilities				
IAS 1.55	Borrowings	32	13,560	25,886	22,072
IAS 1.54(m)	Other financial liabilities	34	15,001	_	-
IAS 1.55	Retirement benefit obligation	39	1,954	1,482	2,194
IAS 1.54(o)	Deferred tax liabilities	10	6,782	5,224	4,677
IAS 1.54(I)	Provisions	35	2,294	2,231	4,102
IAS 1.55	Deferred revenue	41	59	165	41
IAS 1.55	Other liabilities	36 _	180	270	
	Total non-current liabilities	_	39,830	35,258	33,086

Source	International GAAP Holdings Limited				
	Consolidated statement of financial position at 31 December 2016 – continued				
		Notes	31/12/16	31/12/15	01/01/15
IAS 1.60	Current liabilities				
IAS 1.54(k)	Trade and other payables	37	15,659	20,422	51,957
IAS 1.55	Amounts due to customers under construction contracts	27	36	15	245
IAS 1.55	Borrowings	32	22,446	25,600	33,618
IAS 1.54(m)	Other financial liabilities	34	116	18	-
IAS 1.54(n)	Current tax liabilities	10	5,328	5,927	4,990
IAS 1.54(I)	Provisions	35	3,356	3,195	2,235
IAS 1.55	Deferred revenue	41	265	372	63
IAS 1.55	Other liabilities	36	90	95	
			47,296	55,644	93,108
IAS 1.54(p)	Liabilities directly associated with assets classified as held for sale	12	3,684		_
	Total current liabilities		50,980	55,644	93,108
	Total liabilities		90,810	90,902	126,194
	Total equity and liabilities		265,786	259,236	269,789

Source International GAAP Holdings Limited

IAS 1.10(a),(ea), (f) 51(b),(c) Consolidated statement of financial position at 31 December 2016 – continued

Commentary:

IAS 1.40A requires an entity to present a statement of financial position as at the beginning of the preceding period (third statement of financial position) if:

- a) it applies an accounting policy retrospectively, makes a retrospective restatement of items in its financial statements or reclassifies items in its financial statements; and
- b) the retrospective application, retrospective restatement or the reclassification has a <u>material</u> effect on the information in the third statement of financial position.

Other than disclosures of certain specified information as required by IAS 1.41-44 and IAS 8 Accounting Policies, Changes in Accounting Estimates and Errors, the related notes to the third statement of financial position are not required to be disclosed.

In this model, despite the fact that the application of the amendments to IFRSs has not resulted in any retrospective restatement or reclassification of items in the Group's consolidated financial statements (see note 2), a third statement of financial position has been presented for <u>illustrative purposes only</u>.

Source	International GAAP Holdings Limited							
IAS 1.10(c), (ea), 51(b),(c) IAS 1.106	Consolidated statement of changes in equity for the year ended 31 December 2016							
		Share capital	Share premium	General reserve	Properties revaluation reserve	Investments revaluation reserve		
IAS 1.51(d),(e)		CU'000	CU'000	CU'000	CU'000	CU'000		
	Balance at 1 January 2015 (as previously reported)	23,005	25,667	807	51	470		
	Adjustments (see note 2.1)				_			
	Balance at 1 January 2015	23,005	25,667	807	51	470		
	Profit for the year Other comprehensive income for the year, net of income tax	-	- -	-	- -	- 57		
	Total comprehensive income for the year					57		
	Recognition of share-based payments Payment of dividends	_ 	- - -	- -				
	Balance at 31 December 2015	23,005	25,667	807	51	527		
	Profit for the year	_	_	_	_	_		
	Other comprehensive income for the year, net of income tax				1,150	66		
	Total comprehensive income for the year				1,150	66		
	Payment of dividends	_	_	_	_	_		
	Additional non-controlling interests arising on the acquisition of Subsix Limited (note 44)	-	_	-	-	-		
	Additional non-controlling interests relating to outstanding share-based payment transactions of Subsix Limited (note 44)	-	-	-	-	-		
	Disposal of partial interest in Subone Limited (note 19)	-	_	-	-	-		
	Recognition of share-based payments	_	_	_	_	_		
	Issue of ordinary shares under employee share option plan	314	-	-	-	-		
	Issue of ordinary shares for consulting services performed (note 28.1)	3	5	-	-	-		
	Issue of convertible non-participating preference shares	100	-	-	-	-		
	Issue of convertible notes	-	-	-	-	-		
	Share issue costs	-	(6)	-	-	-		
	Buy-back of ordinary shares	(5,603)	(10,853)	-	-	-		
	Share buy-back costs	_	(277)	_	_	-		
	Transfer to retained earnings	-	-	-	(3)	-		
	Income tax relating to transactions with owners		84		_			

Equity-settled employee benefits reserve	Cash flow hedging reserve	Foreign currency translation reserve	Option premium on convertible notes	Retained earnings	Attributable to owners of the parent	Non- controlling interests	Total
CU'000	CU'000	CU'000	CU'000	CU'000	CU'000	CU'000	CU'000
-	258	140	-	74,366	124,764	18,831	143,595
_	-	-	_	-	_	_	-
	258	140		74,366	124,764	18,831	143,595
_	_	_	_	27,357	27,357	3,227	30,584
-	20	85	-	134	296	-	296
	20	85		27,491	27,653	3,227	30,880
222					222		222
338	_	_	_	- (6,479)	338 (6,479)	_	338 (6,479)
				(0,773)	(0,473)		(0,+73)
338	278	225		95,378	146,276	22,058	168,334
-	_	-	-	22,750	22,750	4,392	27,142
-	39	(39)	-	564	1,780	-	1,780
	39	(39)		23,314	24,530	4,392	28,922
							<u> </u>
-	-	-	_	(6,635)	(6,635)	-	(6,635)
_	-	_	_	_	_	127	127
-	-	-	-	-		5	5
-	_	-	-	34	34	179	213
206					206		206
_	_	_	_	_	314	_	314
_	_	_	_	_	8	_	8
-	-	-	-	_	100	-	100
_	_	_	834	_	834	_	834
_	-	-	-	-	(6)	-	(6)
-	-	-	-	(555)	(17,011)	-	(17,011)
_	-	_	-	- 3	(277)	-	(277)
-	-	-	(242)	- -	(158)	-	(158)
544	317	186	592	111,539	148,215	26,761	174,976

Source	International GAAP Holdings Limited			
IAS 1.10(d), (ea),	Consolidated statement of cash flows			_
51(b),(c)	for the year ended 31 December 2016			[Alt 1]
IAS 1.113		Notes	Year ended 31/12/16	Year ended 31/12/15
IAS 1.51(d),(e)			CU'000	CU'000
IAS 7.10	Cash flows from operating activities			
IAS 7.18(a)	Receipts from customers		210,789	214,691
	Payments to suppliers and employees		(166,504)	(184,208)
	Cash generated from operations		44,285	30,483
IAS 7.31	Interest paid		(4,493)	(6,106)
IAS 7.35	Income taxes paid		(10,910)	(10,426)
	Net cash generated by operating activities		28,882	13,951
IAS 7.10	Cash flows from investing activities			
	Payments to acquire financial assets		(1,890)	-
	Proceeds on sale of financial assets		-	51
IAS 7.31	Interest received		2,315	1,054
	Royalties and other investment income received		1,162	1,188
IAS 24.19(d)	Dividends received from associates		30	25
IAS 7.31	Other dividends received		156	154
	Amounts advanced to related parties		(738)	(4,311)
	Repayments by related parties		189	1,578
	Payments for property, plant and equipment		(21,473)	(11,862)
	Proceeds from disposal of property, plant and equipment		11,462	21,245
	Payments for investment property		(10)	(202)
	Proceeds from disposal of investment property		-	58
	Payments for intangible assets		(6)	(358)
IAS 7.39	Net cash outflow on acquisition of subsidiaries	44	(477)	_
IAS 7.39	Net cash inflow on disposal of subsidiary	45	7,566	_
	Net cash inflow on disposal of associate			120
	Net cash (used in)/generated by investing activities		(1,714)	8,740

Source	International GAAP Holdings Limited			
IAS 1.10(d), (ea), 51(b),(c)	Consolidated statement of cash flows for the year ended 31 December 2016 – continued			[Alt 1]
		Notes	Year ended 31/12/16	Year ended 31/12/15
IAS 7.10	Cash flows from financing activities			
	Proceeds from issue of equity instruments of the Company		414	_
	Proceeds from issue of convertible notes		4,950	-
	Payment for share issue costs		(6)	-
	Payment for buy-back of shares		(17,011)	-
	Payment for share buy-back costs		(277)	-
	Proceeds from issue of redeemable preference shares		15,000	-
	Proceeds from issue of perpetual notes		2,500	-
	Payment for debt issue costs		(595)	-
	Proceeds from borrowings		16,953	24,798
	Repayment of borrowings		(38,148)	(23,417)
	Proceeds from government loans		-	3,000
IAS 7.42A	Proceeds on disposal of partial interest in a subsidiary that does not involve loss of control		213	-
IAS 7.31	Dividends paid on redeemable preference shares		(613)	-
IAS 7.31	Dividends paid to owners of the Company		(6,635)	(6,479)
	Net cash used in financing activities		(23,255)	(2,098)
	Net increase in cash and cash equivalents		3,913	20,593
	Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year		19,900	(469)
IAS 7.28	Effects of exchange rate changes on the balance of cash held in foreign currencies		(80)	(224)
	Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year	46	23,733	19,900
	Commentary:			

The above illustrates the direct method of reporting cash flows from operating activities.

Source	International GAAP Holdings Limited		
IAS 1.10(d), (ea), 51(b),(c)	Consolidated statement of cash flows for the year ended 31 December 2016		[Alt 2]
IAS 1.113		Year ended 31/12/16	Year ended 31/12/15
IAS 1.51(d),(e)		CU'000	CU'000
IAS 7.10	Cash flows from operating activities		
IAS 7.18(b)	Profit for the year	27,142	30,584
	Adjustments for:		
	Income tax expense recognised in profit or loss	14,645	14,666
	Share of profit of associates	(866)	(1,209)
	Share of profit of a joint venture	(337)	(242)
	Finance costs recognised in profit or loss	4,420	6,025
	Investment income recognised in profit or loss	(3,633)	(2,396)
	Gain on disposal of property, plant and equipment	(6)	(67)
	Gain arising on changes in fair value of investment property	(30)	(297)
	Gain on disposal of a subsidiary	(1,940)	-
	Gain on disposal of interest in former associate	(581)	-
	Net (gain)/loss arising on financial liabilities designated as at fair value through profit or loss	(125)	-
	Net (gain)/loss arising on financial assets classified as held for trading	(156)	(72)
	Net loss/(gain) arising on financial liabilities classified as held for trading	51	
	Hedge ineffectiveness on cash flow hedges	(89)	(68)
	Net (gain)/loss on disposal of available-for-sale financial assets	_	-
	Impairment loss recognised on trade receivables	63	430
	Reversal of impairment loss on trade receivables	(103)	-
	Depreciation and amortisation of non-current assets	15,210	17,041
	Impairment of non-current assets	1,439	-
	Net foreign exchange (gain)/loss	(819)	(474)
	Expense recognised in respect of equity-settled share-based payments	206	338
	Expense recognised in respect of shares issued in exchange for consulting services	8	-
	Amortisation of financial guarantee contracts	6	18
	Gain arising on effective settlement of legal claim against Subseven Limited	(40)	
		54,465	64,277

Source	International GAAP Holdings Limited		
IAS 1.10(d), (ea), 51(b),(c)	Consolidated statement of cash flows for the year ended 31 December 2016 – continued		[Alt 2]
IAS 1.113		Year ended 31/12/16	Year ended 31/12/15
	Movements in working capital:		
	Increase in trade and other receivables	(3113)	(2,520)
	(Increase)/decrease in amounts due from customers under construction contracts	(10)	467
	(Increase)/decrease in inventories	(2,231)	204
	(Increase)/decrease in other assets	-	-
	Decrease in trade and other payables	(4,763)	(31,182)
	Increase/(decrease) in amounts due to customers under construction		
	contracts	21	(230)
	Increase/(decrease) in provisions	224	(941)
	(Decrease)/increase in deferred revenue	(213)	43
	(Decrease)/increase in other liabilities	(95)	365
	Cash generated from operations	44,285	30,483
IAS 7.31	Interest paid	(4,493)	(6,106)
IAS 7.35	Income taxes paid	(10,910)	(10,426)
	Net cash generated by operating activities	28,882	13,951

Consolidated statement of cash flows for the year ended 31 December 2016 - continued Cash flows from investing activities Payments to acquire financial assets	Notes	Year ended 31/12/16	[Alt 2] Year ended
Cash flows from investing activities Payments to acquire financial assets	Notes .	31/12/16	Year ended
Payments to acquire financial assets	Notes .	31/12/16	
Payments to acquire financial assets			31/12/15
Payments to acquire financial assets		CU'000	CU'000
		(1,890)	-
Proceeds on sale of financial assets		_	51
Interest received		2,315	1,054
Royalties and other investment income received		1,162	1,188
Dividends received from associates		30	25
Other dividends received		156	154
Amounts advanced to related parties		(738)	(4,311)
Repayments by related parties		189	1,578
Payments for property, plant and equipment		(21,473)	(11,862)
Proceeds from disposal of property, plant and equipment		11,462	21,245
Payments for investment property		(10)	(202)
Proceeds from disposal of investment property		_	58
Payments for intangible assets		(6)	(358)
Net cash outflow on acquisition of subsidiaries	44	(477)	-
	45	7,566	_
•			120
Net cash (used in)/generated by investing activities		(1,714)	8,740
Cash flows from financing activities			
_		414	_
		4,950	_
			_
			_
			-
Proceeds from issue of redeemable preference shares		15,000	_
·		2,500	_
Payment for debt issue costs			_
Proceeds from borrowings		16,953	24,798
Repayment of borrowings		(38,148)	(23,417)
Proceeds from government loans		_	3,000
Proceeds on disposal of partial interest in a subsidiary that does not involve loss of control		213	_
Dividends paid on redeemable cumulative preference shares		(613)	-
Dividends paid to owners of the Company		(6,635)	(6,479)
Net cash used in financing activities		(23,255)	(2,098)
Net increase in cash and cash equivalents		3,913	20,593
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year		19,900	(469)
Effects of exchange rate changes on the balance of cash held in foreign		(80)	(224)
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year	46	23,733	19,900
Commentary:			
	Dividends received from associates Other dividends received Amounts advanced to related parties Repayments by related parties Payments for property, plant and equipment Proceeds from disposal of property, plant and equipment Payments for investment property Proceeds from disposal of investment property Payments for intangible assets Net cash outflow on acquisition of subsidiaries Net cash inflow on disposal of subsidiary Net cash inflow on disposal of associate Net cash (used in)/generated by investing activities Cash flows from financing activities Proceeds from issue of equity instruments of the Company Proceeds from issue of convertible notes Payment for share issue costs Payment for share buy-back costs Proceeds from issue of redeemable preference shares Proceeds from issue of perpetual notes Payment for debt issue costs Proceeds from borrowings Repayment of borrowings Repayment of borrowings Proceeds from government loans Proceeds on disposal of partial interest in a subsidiary that does not involve loss of control Dividends paid on redeemable cumulative preference shares Dividends paid to owners of the Company Net cash used in financing activities Net increase in cash and cash equivalents Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year Effects of exchange rate changes on the balance of cash held in foreign currencies Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year	Dividends received from associates Other dividends received Amounts advanced to related parties Repayments by related parties Payments for property, plant and equipment Proceeds from disposal of property, plant and equipment Payments for investment property Proceeds from disposal of investment property Payments for intangible assets Net cash outflow on acquisition of subsidiaries Net cash inflow on disposal of subsidiary Net cash inflow on disposal of subsidiary Net cash (used in)/generated by investing activities Cash flows from financing activities Proceeds from issue of equity instruments of the Company Proceeds from issue of convertible notes Payment for share issue costs Payment for buy-back of shares Payment for buy-back of shares Payment for share buy-back costs Proceeds from issue of perpetual notes Payment for debt issue costs Proceeds from borrowings Repayment of borrowings Repayment of borrowings Proceeds from government loans Proceeds on disposal of partial interest in a subsidiary that does not involve loss of control Dividends paid on redeemable cumulative preference shares Dividends paid to owners of the Company Net cash used in financing activities Net increase in cash and cash equivalents Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year Effects of exchange rate changes on the balance of cash held in foreign currencies Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year Commentary:	Dividends received from associates 30 Other dividends received 156 Amounts advanced to related parties (738) Repayments by related parties 189 Payments for property, plant and equipment (21,473) Proceeds from disposal of property, plant and equipment 11,462 Payments for investment property (10) Proceeds from disposal of investment property - Proceeds from disposal of investment property - Proceeds from disposal of subsidiary 45 7,566 Net cash outflow on acquisition of subsidiary 45 7,566 Net cash inflow on disposal of associate - - Net cash (used in)/generated by investing activities (1,714) Cash flows from financing activities 41 477 Proceeds from issue of equity instruments of the Company 41 4950 Proceeds from issue of equity instruments of the Company 41 4950 Payment for share buy-back of shares (6) 4950 Payment for share buy-back costs (277) Proceeds from issue of redeemable preference shares 15,000

International GAAP Holdings Limited

IAS 1.10(e), (ea), 51(b),(c)

Notes to the consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2016

IAS 1.138(a), (c)

IAS 24.13

1. General information

International GAAP Holdings Limited (the Company) is a limited company incorporated in A Land. Its parent and ultimate holding company is International Group Holdings Limited. Its ultimate controlling party is Mr. John Banks. The addresses of its registered office and principal place of business are disclosed in the introduction to the annual report. The principal activities of the Company and its subsidiaries (the Group) are described in note 6.

2. Application of new and revised International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs)

2.1 Amendments to IFRSs that are mandatorily effective for the current year

In the current year, the Group has applied a number of amendments to IFRSs issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (IASB) that are mandatorily effective for an accounting period that begins on or after 1 January 2016.

Amendments to IFRS 10, IFRS 12 and IAS 28 Investment Entities: Applying the Consolidation Exception

The Group has applied these amendments for the first time in the current year. The amendments clarify that the exemption from preparing consolidated financial statements is available to a parent entity that is a subsidiary of an investment entity, even if the investment entity measures all its subsidiaries at fair value in accordance with IFRS 10. The amendments also clarify that the requirement for an investment entity to consolidate a subsidiary providing services related to the former's investment activities applies only to subsidiaries that are not investment entities themselves.

The application of these amendments has had no impact on the Group's consolidated financial statements as the Group is not an investment entity and does not have any holding company, subsidiary, associate or joint venture that qualifies as an investment entity.

IAS 8.28(a)

IAS 8.28(b),(c) & (d)

Amendments to IFRS 11 Accounting for Acquisitions of Interests in Joint Operations

The Group has applied these amendments for the first time in the current year. The amendments provide guidance on how to account for the acquisition of a joint operation that constitutes a business as defined in IFRS 3 *Business Combinations*. Specifically, the amendments state that the relevant principles on accounting for business combinations in IFRS 3 and other standards should be applied. The same requirements should be applied to the formation of a joint operation if and only if an existing business is contributed to the joint operation by one of the parties that participate in the joint operation.

A joint operator is also required to disclose the relevant information required by IFRS 3 and other standards for business combinations.

The application of these amendments has had no impact on the Group's consolidated financial statements as the Group did not have any such transactions in the current year.

IAS 1.30A, 31, 55, 55A, 85, 85A, 85B

Amendments to IAS 1 Disclosure Initiative

The Group has applied these amendments for the first time in the current year. The amendments clarify that an entity need not provide a specific disclosure required by an IFRS if the information resulting from that disclosure is not material, and give guidance on the bases of aggregating and disaggregating information for disclosure purposes. However, the amendments reiterate that an entity should consider providing additional disclosures when compliance with the specific requirements in IFRS is insufficient to enable users of financial statements to understand the impact of particular transactions, events and conditions on the entity's financial position and financial performance.

IAS 1.82A(a), (b)

In addition, the amendments clarify that an entity's share of the other comprehensive income of associates and joint ventures accounted for using the equity method should be presented separately from those arising from the Group, and should be separated into the share of items that, in accordance with other IFRSs: (i) will not be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss; and (ii) will be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss when specific conditions are met.

IAS 1.114

As regards the structure of the financial statements, the amendments provide examples of systematic ordering or grouping of the notes.

The application of these amendments has not resulted in any impact on the financial performance or financial position of the Group.

International GAAP Holdings Limited

IAS 1.10(e), (ea), 51(b),(c)

Notes to the consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2016

Commentary:

IAS 1.114 provides the following examples of systematic ordering or grouping of the notes:

- a) giving prominence to the areas of its activities that the entity considers to be most relevant to an understanding of its financial performance and financial position, such as grouping together information about particular operating activities;
- b) grouping together information about items measured similarly such as assets measured at fair value; or
- c) following the order of the line items in the statement(s) of profit or loss and other comprehensive income and the statement of financial position.

As this is a set of illustrative financial statements which is not intended to cater for the specific operations and circumstances of all entities, no specific changes have been made to the grouping and/or ordering of the notes to take the above amendments into account. Furthermore, items that are immaterial or with nil amounts have still been disclosed solely for illustrative purposes. Nevertheless, entities should exercise judgement when considering how to apply the disclosure initiative amendments to IAS 1 in order to provide relevant information to users and to enhance the understandability and comparability of its financial statements, taking into account jurisdictional regulatory requirements where appropriate.

Amendments to IAS 16 and IAS 38 Clarification of Acceptable Methods of Depreciation and Amortisation

The Group has applied these amendments for the first time in the current year. The amendments to IAS 16 prohibit entities from using a revenue-based depreciation method for items of property, plant and equipment. The amendments to IAS 38 introduce a rebuttable presumption that revenue is not an appropriate basis for amortisation of an intangible asset. This presumption can only be rebutted in the following two limited circumstances:

- a) when the intangible asset is expressed as a measure of revenue; or
- b) when it can be demonstrated that revenue and consumption of the economic benefits of the intangible asset are highly correlated.

As the Group already uses the straight-line method for depreciation and amortisation for its property, plant and equipment, and intangible assets respectively, the application of these amendments has had no impact on the Group's consolidated financial statements.

Amendments to IAS 16 and IAS 41 Agriculture: Bearer Plants

The Group has applied these amendments for the first time in the current year. The amendments define a bearer plant and require biological assets that meet the definition of a bearer plant to be accounted for as property, plant and equipment in accordance with IAS 16, instead of IAS 41. The produce growing on bearer plants continues to be accounted for in accordance with IAS 41.

The application of these amendments has had no impact on the Group's consolidated financial statements as the Group is not engaged in agricultural activities.

International GAAP Holdings Limited

IAS 1.10(e), (ea), 51(b),(c)

Notes to the consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2016

Annual Improvements to IFRSs 2012-2014 Cycle

The Group has applied these amendments for the first time in the current year. The *Annual Improvements to IFRSs 2012-2014 Cycle* include a number of amendments to various IFRSs, which are summarised below.

The amendments to IFRS 5 introduce specific guidance in IFRS 5 for when an entity reclassifies an asset (or disposal group) from held for sale to held for distribution to owners (or vice versa). The amendments clarify that such a change should be considered as a continuation of the original plan of disposal and hence requirements set out in IFRS 5 regarding the change of sale plan do not apply. The amendments also clarifies the guidance for when held-for-distribution accounting is discontinued.

The amendments to IFRS 7 provide additional guidance to clarify whether a servicing contract is continuing involvement in a transferred asset for the purpose of the disclosures required in relation to transferred assets.

The amendments to IAS 19 clarify that the rate used to discount post-employment benefit obligations should be determined by reference to market yields at the end of the reporting period on high quality corporate bonds. The assessment of the depth of a market for high quality corporate bonds should be at the currency level (i.e. the same currency as the benefits are to be paid). For currencies for which there is no deep market in such high quality corporate bonds, the market yields at the end of the reporting period on government bonds denominated in that currency should be used instead.

The application of these amendments has had no effect on the Group's consolidated financial statements.

International GAAP Holdings Limited

Notes to the consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2016 – continued 2.2 New and revised IFRSs in issue but not yet effective

Commentary:

Entities are required to disclose in their financial statements the potential impact of new and revised IFRSs that have been issued but are not yet effective. The disclosures below reflect a cut-off date of 31 August 2016. The potential impact of the application of any new and revised IFRSs issued by the IASB after 31 August 2016 but before the financial statements are issued should also be considered and disclosed.

The impact of the application of the new and revised IFRSs (see below) is for illustrative purposes only. Entities should analyse the impact based on their specific facts and circumstances.

IAS 8.30

The Group has not applied the following new and revised IFRSs that have been issued but are not yet effective:

IAS 8.31

IFRS 9 Financial Instruments²

IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers (and the related Clarifications)²

IFRS 16 Leases³

Amendments to IFRS 2 Classification and Measurement of Share-based Payment Transactions²

Amendments to IFRS 10 and IAS 28 Sale or Contribution of Assets between an Investor and its

Associate or Joint Venture⁴

Amendments to IAS 7 Disclosure Initiative¹

Amendments to IAS 12 Recognition of Deferred Tax Assets for Unrealised Losses¹

- ¹ Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2017, with earlier application permitted.
- ² Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2018, with earlier application permitted.
- ³ Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2019, with earlier application permitted.
- ⁴ Effective for annual periods beginning on or after a date to be determined.

IFRS 9 *Financial Instruments*

IFRS 9 issued in November 2009 introduced new requirements for the classification and measurement of financial assets. IFRS 9 was subsequently amended in October 2010 to include requirements for the classification and measurement of financial liabilities and for derecognition, and in November 2013 to include the new requirements for general hedge accounting. Another revised version of IFRS 9 was issued in July 2014 mainly to include a) impairment requirements for financial assets and b) limited amendments to the classification and measurement requirements by introducing a 'fair value through other comprehensive income' (FVTOCI) measurement category for certain simple debt instruments.

Key requirements of IFRS 9:

• all recognised financial assets that are within the scope of IFRS 9 are required to be subsequently measured at amortised cost or fair value. Specifically, debt investments that are held within a business model whose objective is to collect the contractual cash flows, and that have contractual cash flows that are solely payments of principal and interest on the principal outstanding are generally measured at amortised cost at the end of subsequent accounting periods. Debt instruments that are held within a business model whose objective is achieved both by collecting contractual cash flows and selling financial assets, and that have contractual terms that give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely payments of principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding, are generally measured at FVTOCI. All other debt investments and equity investments are measured at their fair value at the end of subsequent accounting periods. In addition, under IFRS 9, entities may make an irrevocable election to present subsequent changes in the fair value of an equity investment (that is not held for trading nor contingent consideration recognised by an acquirer in a business combination to which IFRS 3 applies) in other comprehensive income, with only dividend income generally recognised in profit or loss.

International GAAP Holdings Limited

Notes to the consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2016 - continued

- with regard to the measurement of financial liabilities designated as at fair value through profit or loss, IFRS 9 requires that the amount of change in the fair value of a financial liability that is attributable to changes in the credit risk of that liability is presented in other comprehensive income, unless the recognition of such changes in other comprehensive income would create or enlarge an accounting mismatch in profit or loss. Changes in fair value attributable to a financial liability's credit risk are not subsequently reclassified to profit or loss. Under IAS 39, the entire amount of the change in the fair value of the financial liability designated as fair value through profit or loss is presented in profit or loss.
- in relation to the impairment of financial assets, IFRS 9 requires an expected credit loss model, as opposed to an incurred credit loss model under IAS 39. The expected credit loss model requires an entity to account for expected credit losses and changes in those expected credit losses at each reporting date to reflect changes in credit risk since initial recognition. In other words, it is no longer necessary for a credit event to have occurred before credit losses are recognised.
- the new general hedge accounting requirements retain the three types of hedge accounting mechanisms currently available in IAS 39. Under IFRS 9, greater flexibility has been introduced to the types of transactions eligible for hedge accounting, specifically broadening the types of instruments that qualify for hedging instruments and the types of risk components of non-financial items that are eligible for hedge accounting. In addition, the effectiveness test has been overhauled and replaced with the principle of an 'economic relationship'. Retrospective assessment of hedge effectiveness is also no longer required. Enhanced disclosure requirements about an entity's risk management activities have also been introduced.

Based on an analysis of the Group's financial assets and financial liabilities as at 31 December 2016 on the basis of the facts and circumstances that exist at that date, the directors of the Company have performed a preliminary assessment of the impact of IFRS 9 to the Group's consolidated financial statements as follows:

Classification and measurement

- Bills of exchange and debentures classified as held-to-maturity investments and loans carried at amortised cost as disclosed in note 22: these are held within a business model whose objective is to collect the contractual cash flows that are solely payments of principal and interest on the principal outstanding. Accordingly, these financial assets will continue to be subsequently measured at amortised cost upon the application of IFRS 9;
- Listed redeemable notes classified as available-for-sale investments carried at fair value as disclosed in note 22: these are held within a business model whose objective is achieved both by collecting contractual cash flows and selling the notes in the open market, and the notes' contractual terms give rise to cash flows on specified dates that are solely payments of principal and interest on the principal outstanding. Accordingly, the listed redeemable notes will continue to be subsequently measured at FVTOCI upon the application of IFRS 9, and the fair value gains or losses accumulated in the investment revaluation reserve will continue to be subsequently reclassified to profit or loss when the listed redeemable notes are derecognised or reclassified;
- Unlisted shares classified as available-for-sale investments carried at fair value as disclosed in note 22: these shares qualify for designation as measured at FVTOCI under IFRS 9; however, the fair value gains or losses accumulated in the investment revaluation reserve will no longer be subsequently reclassified to profit or loss under IFRS 9, which is different from the current treatment. This will affect the amounts recognised in the Group's profit or loss and other comprehensive income but will not affect total comprehensive income;
- Redeemable cumulative preference shares issued by the Group designated as at FVTPL as disclosed in note 34: these financial liabilities qualify for designation as measured at FVTPL under IFRS 9; however, the amount of change in the fair value of the financial liability that is attributable to changes in the credit risk of that liability will be recognised in other comprehensive income with the remaining fair value change recognised in profit or loss. This is different from the current accounting treatment in terms of which the entire change in fair value of the financial liability is recognised in profit or loss. The change in fair value attributed to a change in credit risk of these financial liabilities amounting to approximately CU20,000 during the current year (2015: CU nil) would be recognised in other comprehensive income under IFRS 9;
- All other financial assets and financial liabilities will continue to be measured on the same bases as is currently adopted under IAS 39.

International GAAP Holdings Limited

Notes to the consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2016 – continued

Impairment

Financial assets measured at amortised cost, listed redeemable notes that will be carried at FVTOCI under IFRS 9 (note 22) (see classification and measurement section above), finance lease receivables (note 26), amounts due from customer under construction contracts (note 27), and financial guarantee contracts (note 34) will be subject to the impairment provisions of IFRS 9.

The Group expects to apply the simplified approach to recognise lifetime expected credit losses for its trade receivables, finance lease receivables and amounts due from customer under construction contracts as required or permitted by IFRS 15. As regards the listed redeemable notes, bills of exchange and debentures as disclosed in note 22, the directors of the Company consider that they have low credit risk given their strong external credit rating and hence expect to recognise 12-month expected credit losses for these items. In relation to the loans to related parties (note 22) and financial guarantee contracts, whether lifetime or 12-month expected credit losses should be recognised would depend on whether there has been a significant increase in credit risk of these items from initial recognition to the date of initial application of IFRS 9. The directors are currently assessing the extent of this impact.

In general, the directors anticipate that the application of the expected credit loss model of IFRS 9 will result in earlier recognition of credit losses for the respective items and are currently assessing the potential impact.

Hedge accounting

As the new hedge accounting requirements will align more closely with the Group's risk management policies, with generally more qualifying hedging instruments and hedged items, a preliminary assessment of the Group's current hedging relationships indicate that they will qualify as continuing hedging relationships upon application of IFRS 9. Similar to the Group's current hedge accounting policy, the directors do not intend to exclude the forward element of foreign currency forward contracts from designated hedging relationships. Moreover, the Group has already elected to basis adjust non-financial hedged items with gains/losses arising from effective cash flow hedges under IAS 39, which is mandatory under IFRS 9.

Nevertheless, under IFRS 9, basis adjustments are not considered a reclassification adjustment and therefore they would not affect other comprehensive income. Currently, gains/losses arising from effective cash flow hedges that are subject to basis adjustments are presented in other comprehensive income as amounts that may be subsequently reclassified to profit or loss. The corresponding amount in the current year of CU49,000 (CU70,000 net of tax of CU21,000) (see note 40.6.2) will be presented as 'will not be subsequently reclassified to profit or loss' upon the application of IFRS 9, which has no overall impact on the Group's profit or loss, other comprehensive income or total comprehensive income. However, in respect of the actual basis adjustment of CU180,000 (CU257,000 net of tax of CU77,000) in the current year (see note 29.5) which affected other comprehensive income, such basis adjustment will no longer affect other comprehensive income upon the application of IFRS 9, resulting in an increase in other comprehensive income and total comprehensive income of the same amount.

Apart from the above, the directors do not anticipate that the application of the IFRS 9 hedge accounting requirements will have a material impact on the Group's consolidated financial statements.

It should be noted that the above assessments were made based on an analysis of the Group's financial assets and financial liabilities as at 31 December 2016 on the basis of the facts and circumstances that existed at that date. As facts and circumstances may change during the period leading up to the initial date of application of IFRS 9, which is expected to be 1 January 2018 as the Group does not intend to early apply the standard, the assessment of the potential impact is subject to change.

Commentary:

IAS 8.30 requires entities to give known or reasonably estimable information relevant to assessing the possible impact that application of any new or revised IFRS will have on the entity's financial statements in the period of initial application. The regulatory requirements in the various jurisdictions may differ as to how detailed the disclosures need to be; some regulators may require both qualitative and quantitative information to be disclosed whereas others may consider that qualitative information (e.g. key areas that may be affected by the new or revised IFRS) suffices in many circumstances. For this reason, relevant regulatory guidance should also be taken into account in preparing the disclosure.

This applies to all new or revised IFRSs that have been issued but are not yet effective.

International GAAP Holdings Limited

Notes to the consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2016 – continued IFRS 15 *Revenue from Contracts with Customers*

IFRS 15 establishes a single comprehensive model for entities to use in accounting for revenue arising from contracts with customers. IFRS 15 will supersede the current revenue recognition guidance including IAS 18 *Revenue*, IAS 11 *Construction Contracts* and the related Interpretations when it becomes effective.

The core principle of IFRS 15 is that an entity should recognise revenue to depict the transfer of promised goods or services to customers in an amount that reflects the consideration to which the entity expects to be entitled in exchange for those goods or services. Specifically, the Standard introduces a 5-step approach to revenue recognition:

- Step 1: Identify the contract(s) with a customer
- Step 2: Identify the performance obligations in the contract
- Step 3: Determine the transaction price
- Step 4: Allocate the transaction price to the performance obligations in the contract
- Step 5: Recognise revenue when (or as) the entity satisfies a performance obligation

Under IFRS 15, an entity recognises revenue when (or as) a performance obligation is satisfied, i.e. when 'control' of the goods or services underlying the particular performance obligation is transferred to the customer.

Far more prescriptive guidance has been added in IFRS 15 to deal with specific scenarios. Furthermore, extensive disclosures are required by IFRS 15.

In April 2016, the IASB issued *Clarifications to IFRS 15* in relation to the identification of performance obligations, principal versus agent considerations, as well as licensing application guidance.

The Group recognises revenue from the following major sources:

- Sale of leisure goods and electronic equipment, including the related loyalty programme 'Maxi-Points Scheme' as disclosed in note 41, servicing fees included in the price of products sold, as well as warranties granted under local legislation as disclosed in note 35;
- Installation of computer software for specialised business applications; and
- Construction of residential properties.

The directors of the Company have preliminarily assessed that the Maxi-Points Scheme and the after-sale services represent two separate performance obligations from the sale of the leisure goods and electronic equipment and accordingly, revenue will be recognised for each of these performance obligations when control over the corresponding goods and services is transferred to the customer. This is similar to the current identification of separate revenue components under IAS 18. Furthermore, even though IFRS 15 requires the transaction price to be allocated to the different performance obligations on a relative stand-alone selling price basis, the directors do not expect that the allocation of revenue to the Maxi-Points, the after-sale services and the leisure goods and electronic equipment sold will be significantly different from that currently determined. The timing of revenue recognition of each of these three performance obligations (i.e. upon redemption of the Maxi-Points taking breakage into account, at a point in time for sale of goods when the goods are delivered to the customer, and over the period the after-sale services are performed) are also expected to be consistent with current practice.

The sales-related warranties cannot be purchased separately and they serve as an assurance that the products sold comply with agreed-upon specifications. Accordingly, the Group will continue to account for the warranty in accordance with IAS 37 *Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets* consistent with its current accounting treatment.

As regards the construction of residential properties, the directors have specifically considered IFRS 15's guidance on contract combinations, contract modifications arising from variation orders, variable consideration, and the assessment of whether there is a significant financing component in the contracts, particularly taking into account the reason for the difference in timing between the transfer of control of goods and services to the customer and the timing of the related payments. The directors have preliminarily assessed that revenue from these construction contracts should be recognised over time as the customer controls the properties during the course of construction by the Group. Furthermore, the directors consider that the input method currently used to measure the progress towards complete satisfaction of these performance obligations will continue to be appropriate under IFRS 15.

International GAAP Holdings Limited

Notes to the consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2016 - continued

As regards the installation of software services, the directors have preliminarily assessed that these performance obligations are satisfied over time and that the method currently used to measure the progress towards complete satisfaction of these performance obligations will continue to be appropriate under IFRS 15.

The directors are still in the process of assessing the full impact of the application of IFRS 15 on the Group's financial statements and it is not practicable to provide a reasonable financial estimate of the effect until the directors complete the detailed review. As a result, the above preliminary assessment is subject to change. The directors do not intend to early apply the standard and intend to use the full retrospective method upon adoption.

IFRS 16 Leases

IFRS 16 introduces a comprehensive model for the identification of lease arrangements and accounting treatments for both lessors and lessees. IFRS 16 will supersede the current lease guidance including IAS 17 Leases and the related interpretations when it becomes effective.

IFRS 16 distinguishes leases and service contracts on the basis of whether an identified asset is controlled by a customer. Distinctions of operating leases (off balance sheet) and finance leases (on balance sheet) are removed for lessee accounting, and is replaced by a model where a right-of-use asset and a corresponding liability have to be recognised for all leases by lessees (i.e. all on balance sheet) except for short-term leases and leases of low value assets.

The right-of-use asset is initially measured at cost and subsequently measured at cost (subject to certain exceptions) less accumulated depreciation and impairment losses, adjusted for any remeasurement of the lease liability. The lease liability is initially measured at the present value of the lease payments that are not paid at that date. Subsequently, the lease liability is adjusted for interest and lease payments, as well as the impact of lease modifications, amongst others. Furthermore, the classification of cash flows will also be affected as operating lease payments under IAS 17 are presented as operating cash flows; whereas under the IFRS 16 model, the lease payments will be split into a principal and an interest portion which will be presented as financing and operating cash flows respectively.

In contrast to lessee accounting, IFRS 16 substantially carries forward the lessor accounting requirements in IAS 17, and continues to require a lessor to classify a lease either as an operating lease or a finance lease.

Furthermore, extensive disclosures are required by IFRS 16.

As at 31 December 2016, the Group has non-cancellable operating lease commitments of CU9.92 million. IAS 17 does not require the recognition of any right-of-use asset or liability for future payments for these leases; instead, certain information is disclosed as operating lease commitments in note 48. A preliminary assessment indicates that these arrangements will meet the definition of a lease under IFRS 16, and hence the Group will recognise a right-of-use asset and a corresponding liability in respect of all these leases unless they qualify for low value or short-term leases upon the application of IFRS 16. The new requirement to recognise a right-of-use asset and a related lease liability is expected to have a significant impact on the amounts recognised in the Group's consolidated financial statements and the directors are currently assessing its potential impact. It is not practicable to provide a reasonable estimate of the financial effect until the directors complete the review.

In contrast, for finance leases where the Group is a lessee, as the Group has already recognised an asset and a related finance lease liability for the lease arrangement, and in cases where the Group is a lessor (for both operating and finance leases), the directors of the Company do not anticipate that the application of IFRS 16 will have a significant impact on the amounts recognised in the Group's consolidated financial statements.

Source International GAAP Holdings Limited

Notes to the consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2016 – continued Amendments to IFRS 2 *Classification and Measurement of Share-based Payment Transactions*

The amendments clarify the following:

- 1. In estimating the fair value of a cash-settled share-based payment, the accounting for the effects of vesting and non-vesting conditions should follow the same approach as for equity-settled share-based payments.
- 2. Where tax law or regulation requires an entity to withhold a specified number of equity instruments equal to the monetary value of the employee's tax obligation to meet the employee's tax liability which is then remitted to the tax authority, i.e. the share-based payment arrangement has a 'net settlement feature', such an arrangement should be classified as equity-settled in its entirety, provided that the share-based payment would have been classified as equity-settled had it not included the net settlement feature.
- 3. A modification of a share-based payment that changes the transaction from cash-settled to equity-settled should be accounted for as follows:
 - i) the original liability is derecognised;
 - ii) the equity-settled share-based payment is recognised at the modification date fair value of the equity instrument granted to the extent that services have been rendered up to the modification date; and
 - iii) any difference between the carrying amount of the liability at the modification date and the amount recognised in equity should be recognised in profit or loss immediately.

The amendments are effective for annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2018 with earlier application permitted. Specific transition provisions apply. The directors of the Company do not anticipate that the application of the amendments in the future will have a significant impact on the Group's consolidated financial statements as the Group does not have any cash-settled share-based payment arrangements or any withholding tax arrangements with tax authorities in relation to share-based payments.

Amendments to IFRS 10 and IAS 28 Sale or Contribution of Assets between an Investor and its Associate or Joint Venture

The amendments to IFRS 10 and IAS 28 deal with situations where there is a sale or contribution of assets between an investor and its associate or joint venture. Specifically, the amendments state that gains or losses resulting from the loss of control of a subsidiary that does not contain a business in a transaction with an associate or a joint venture that is accounted for using the equity method, are recognised in the parent's profit or loss only to the extent of the unrelated investors' interests in that associate or joint venture. Similarly, gains and losses resulting from the remeasurement of investments retained in any former subsidiary (that has become an associate or a joint venture that is accounted for using the equity method) to fair value are recognised in the former parent's profit or loss only to the extent of the unrelated investors' interests in the new associate or joint venture.

The effective date of the amendments has yet to be set by the IASB; however, earlier application of the amendments is permitted. The directors of the Company anticipate that the application of these amendments may have an impact on the Group's consolidated financial statements in future periods should such transactions arise.

Amendments to IAS 7 Disclosure Initiative

The amendments require an entity to provide disclosures that enable users of financial statements to evaluate changes in liabilities arising from financing activities.

The amendments apply prospectively for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2017 with earlier application permitted. The directors of the Company do not anticipate that the application of these amendments will have a material impact on the Group's consolidated financial statements.

Source International GAAP Holdings Limited

Notes to the consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2016 – continued Amendments to IAS 12 *Recognition of Deferred Tax Assets for Unrealised Losses*

The amendments clarify the following:

- 1. Decreases below cost in the carrying amount of a fixed-rate debt instrument measured at fair value for which the tax base remains at cost give rise to a deductible temporary difference, irrespective of whether the debt instrument's holder expects to recover the carrying amount of the debt instrument by sale or by use, or whether it is probable that the issuer will pay all the contractual cash flows;
- 2. When an entity assesses whether taxable profits will be available against which it can utilise a deductible temporary difference, and the tax law restricts the utilisation of losses to deduction against income of a specific type (e.g. capital losses can only be set off against capital gains), an entity assesses a deductible temporary difference in combination with other deductible temporary differences of that type, but separately from other types of deductible temporary differences;
- 3. The estimate of probable future taxable profit may include the recovery of some of an entity's assets for more than their carrying amount if there is sufficient evidence that it is probable that the entity will achieve this; and
- 4. In evaluating whether sufficient future taxable profits are available, an entity should compare the deductible temporary differences with future taxable profits excluding tax deductions resulting from the reversal of those deductible temporary differences.

The amendments apply retrospectively for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2017 with earlier application permitted. The directors of the Company do not anticipate that the application of these amendments will have a material impact on the Group's consolidated financial statements.

Commentary:

It has been assumed for the purposes of these illustrative financial statements that the application of many of the above new or revised IFRSs, and amendments to IFRSs, will not have a material impact to the amounts recognised or disclosures in these illustrative financial statements. Entities should analyse the impact of these new or revised IFRSs on their financial statements based on their specific facts and circumstances and make appropriate disclosures.

International GAAP Holdings Limited

IAS 1.112(a), 117, 119-121

Notes to the consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2016 – continued 3. Significant accounting policies

Commentary:

The following are <u>examples</u> of the types of accounting policies that might be disclosed in this entity's financial statements. Entities are required to disclose in the summary of significant accounting policies the measurement basis (or bases) used in preparing the financial statements and the other accounting policies used that are relevant to an understanding of the financial statements. An accounting policy may be significant because of the nature of the entity's operations even if amounts for the current and prior periods are not material.

In deciding whether a particular accounting policy should be disclosed, management considers whether disclosure would assist users in understanding how transactions, other events and conditions are reflected in the reported financial performance and financial position. Disclosure of particular accounting policies is especially useful to users when those policies are selected from alternatives allowed in Standards and Interpretations.

Each entity considers the nature of its operations and the policies that users of its financial statements would expect to be disclosed for that type of entity. It is also appropriate to disclose each significant accounting policy that is not specifically required by IFRSs, but that is selected and applied in accordance with IAS 8 Accounting Policies, Changes in Accounting Estimates and Errors.

For completeness, in these model financial statements, accounting policies have been provided for some immaterial items, although this is not required under IFRSs.

3.1 Statement of compliance

IAS 1.16

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards.

IAS 1.17(b), 112(a), 117(a)

3.2 Basis of preparation

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on the historical cost basis except for certain properties and financial instruments that are measured at revalued amounts or fair values at the end of each reporting period, as explained in the accounting policies below.

Historical cost is generally based on the fair value of the consideration given in exchange for goods and services.

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement date, regardless of whether that price is directly observable or estimated using another valuation technique. In estimating the fair value of an asset or a liability, the Group takes into account the characteristics of the asset or liability if market participants would take those characteristics into account when pricing the asset or liability at the measurement date. Fair value for measurement and/or disclosure purposes in these consolidated financial statements is determined on such a basis, except for share-based payment transactions that are within the scope of IAS 17, and measurements that have some similarities to fair value but are not fair value, such as net realisable value in IAS 2 or value in UAS 36.

In addition, for financial reporting purposes, fair value measurements are categorised into Level 1, 2 or 3 based on the degree to which the inputs to the fair value measurements are observable and the significance of the inputs to the fair value measurement in its entirety, which are described as follows:

- Level 1 inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities that the entity can access at the measurement date;
- Level 2 inputs are inputs, other than quoted prices included within Level 1, that are observable for the asset or liability, either directly or indirectly; and
- Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for the asset or liability.

International GAAP Holdings Limited

Notes to the consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2016 – continued

IAS 1.17(b), 112(a), 117(a)

The principal accounting policies are set out below.

3.3 Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial statements of the Company and entities (including structured entities) controlled by the Company and its subsidiaries. Control is achieved when the Company:

- has power over the investee;
- is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the investee; and
- has the ability to use its power to affect its returns.

The Company reassesses whether or not it controls an investee if facts and circumstances indicate that there are changes to one or more of the three elements of control listed above.

When the Company has less than a majority of the voting rights of an investee, it has power over the investee when the voting rights are sufficient to give it the practical ability to direct the relevant activities of the investee unilaterally. The Company considers all relevant facts and circumstances in assessing whether or not the Company's voting rights in an investee are sufficient to give it power, including:

- the size of the Company's holding of voting rights relative to the size and dispersion of holdings of the other vote holders;
- potential voting rights held by the Company, other vote holders or other parties;
- rights arising from other contractual arrangements; and
- any additional facts and circumstances that indicate that the Company has, or does not have, the current ability to direct the relevant activities at the time that decisions need to be made, including voting patterns at previous shareholders' meetings.

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Company obtains control over the subsidiary and ceases when the Company loses control of the subsidiary. Specifically, income and expenses of a subsidiary acquired or disposed of during the year are included in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income from the date the Company gains control until the date when the Company ceases to control the subsidiary.

Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive income are attributed to the owners of the Company and to the non-controlling interests. Total comprehensive income of subsidiaries is attributed to the owners of the Company and to the non-controlling interests even if this results in the non-controlling interests having a deficit balance.

When necessary, adjustments are made to the financial statements of subsidiaries to bring their accounting policies into line with the Group's accounting policies.

All intragroup assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses and cash flows relating to transactions between members of the Group are eliminated in full on consolidation.

3.3.1 Changes in the Group's ownership interests in existing subsidiaries

Changes in the Group's ownership interests in subsidiaries that do not result in the Group losing control over the subsidiaries are accounted for as equity transactions. The carrying amounts of the Group's interests and the non-controlling interests are adjusted to reflect the changes in their relative interests in the subsidiaries. Any difference between the amount by which the non-controlling interests are adjusted and the fair value of the consideration paid or received is recognised directly in equity and attributed to owners of the Company.

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, a gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss and is calculated as the difference between (i) the aggregate of the fair value of the consideration received and the fair value of any retained interest and (ii) the previous carrying amount of the assets (including goodwill), and liabilities of the subsidiary and any non-controlling interests. All amounts previously recognised in other comprehensive income in relation to that subsidiary are accounted for as if the Group had directly disposed of the related assets or liabilities of the subsidiary (i.e. reclassified to profit or loss or transferred to another category of equity as specified/permitted by applicable IFRSs). The fair value of any investment retained in the former subsidiary at the date when control is lost is regarded as the fair value on initial recognition for subsequent accounting under IAS 39, when applicable, the cost on initial recognition of an investment in an associate or a joint venture.

International GAAP Holdings Limited

Notes to the consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2016 – continued 3.4 Business combinations

Acquisitions of businesses are accounted for using the acquisition method. The consideration transferred in a business combination is measured at fair value, which is calculated as the sum of the acquisition-date fair values of the assets transferred by the Group, liabilities incurred by the Group to the former owners of the acquiree and the equity interests issued by the Group in exchange for control of the acquiree. Acquisition-related costs are generally recognised in profit or loss as incurred.

At the acquisition date, the identifiable assets acquired and the liabilities assumed are recognised at their fair value, except that:

- deferred tax assets or liabilities, and assets or liabilities related to employee benefit arrangements are recognised and measured in accordance with IAS 12 Income Taxes and IAS 19 respectively;
- liabilities or equity instruments related to share-based payment arrangements of the acquiree or share-based payment arrangements of the Group entered into to replace share-based payment arrangements of the acquiree are measured in accordance with IFRS 2 at the acquisition date (see note 3.16.2); and
- assets (or disposal groups) that are classified as held for sale in accordance with IFRS 5 Non-current Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations are measured in accordance with that Standard.

Goodwill is measured as the excess of the sum of the consideration transferred, the amount of any non-controlling interests in the acquiree, and the fair value of the acquirer's previously held equity interest in the acquiree (if any) over the net of the acquisition-date amounts of the identifiable assets acquired and the liabilities assumed. If, after reassessment, the net of the acquisition-date amounts of the identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed exceeds the sum of the consideration transferred, the amount of any non-controlling interests in the acquiree and the fair value of the acquirer's previously held interest in the acquiree (if any), the excess is recognised immediately in profit or loss as a bargain purchase gain.

Non-controlling interests that are present ownership interests and entitle their holders to a proportionate share of the entity's net assets in the event of liquidation may be initially measured either at fair value or at the non-controlling interests' proportionate share of the recognised amounts of the acquiree's identifiable net assets. The choice of measurement basis is made on a transaction-by-transaction basis. Other types of non-controlling interests are measured at fair value or, when applicable, on the basis specified in another IFRS.

When the consideration transferred by the Group in a business combination includes assets or liabilities resulting from a contingent consideration arrangement, the contingent consideration is measured at its acquisition-date fair value and included as part of the consideration transferred in a business combination. Changes in the fair value of the contingent consideration that qualify as measurement period adjustments are adjusted retrospectively, with corresponding adjustments against goodwill. Measurement period adjustments are adjustments that arise from additional information obtained during the 'measurement period' (which cannot exceed one year from the acquisition date) about facts and circumstances that existed at the acquisition date.

The subsequent accounting for changes in the fair value of the contingent consideration that do not qualify as measurement period adjustments depends on how the contingent consideration is classified. Contingent consideration that is classified as equity is not remeasured at subsequent reporting dates and its subsequent settlement is accounted for within equity. Contingent consideration that is classified as an asset or a liability is remeasured at subsequent reporting dates in accordance with IAS 39, or IAS 37 *Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets*, as appropriate, with the corresponding gain or loss being recognised in profit or loss.

When a business combination is achieved in stages, the Group's previously held equity interest in the acquiree is remeasured to its acquisition-date fair value and the resulting gain or loss, if any, is recognised in profit or loss. Amounts arising from interests in the acquiree prior to the acquisition date that have previously been recognised in other comprehensive income are reclassified to profit or loss where such treatment would be appropriate if that interest were disposed of.

If the initial accounting for a business combination is incomplete by the end of the reporting period in which the combination occurs, the Group reports provisional amounts for the items for which the accounting is incomplete. Those provisional amounts are adjusted during the measurement period (see above), or additional assets or liabilities are recognised, to reflect new information obtained about facts and circumstances that existed at the acquisition date that, if known, would have affected the amounts recognised at that date.

International GAAP Holdings Limited

Notes to the consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2016 – continued 3.5 Goodwill

Goodwill arising on an acquisition of a business is carried at cost as established at the date of acquisition of the business (see note 3.4 above) less accumulated impairment losses, if any.

For the purposes of impairment testing, goodwill is allocated to each of the Group's cash-generating units (or groups of cash-generating units) that is expected to benefit from the synergies of the combination.

A cash-generating unit to which goodwill has been allocated is tested for impairment annually, or more frequently when there is an indication that the unit may be impaired. If the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit is less than its carrying amount, the impairment loss is allocated first to reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill allocated to the unit and then to the other assets of the unit pro rata based on the carrying amount of each asset in the unit. Any impairment loss for goodwill is recognised directly in profit or loss. An impairment loss recognised for goodwill is not reversed in subsequent periods.

On disposal of the relevant cash-generating unit, the attributable amount of goodwill is included in the determination of the profit or loss on disposal.

The Group's policy for goodwill arising on the acquisition of an associate and a joint venture is described at note 3.6 below.

3.6 Investments in associates and joint ventures

An associate is an entity over which the Group has significant influence. Significant influence is the power to participate in the financial and operating policy decisions of the investee but is not control or joint control over those policies.

A joint venture is a joint arrangement whereby the parties that have joint control of the arrangement have rights to the net assets of the joint arrangement. Joint control is the contractually agreed sharing of control of an arrangement, which exists only when decisions about the relevant activities require unanimous consent of the parties sharing control.

The results and assets and liabilities of associates or joint ventures are incorporated in these consolidated financial statements using the equity method of accounting, except when the investment, or a portion thereof, is classified as held for sale, in which case it is accounted for in accordance with IFRS 5. Under the equity method, an investment in an associate or a joint venture is initially recognised in the consolidated statement of financial position at cost and adjusted thereafter to recognise the Group's share of the profit or loss and other comprehensive income of the associate or joint venture. When the Group's share of losses of an associate or a joint venture exceeds the Group's interest in that associate or joint venture (which includes any long-term interests that, in substance, form part of the Group's net investment in the associate or joint venture), the Group discontinues recognising its share of further losses. Additional losses are recognised only to the extent that the Group has incurred legal or constructive obligations or made payments on behalf of the associate or joint venture.

An investment in an associate or a joint venture is accounted for using the equity method from the date on which the investee becomes an associate or a joint venture. On acquisition of the investment in an associate or a joint venture, any excess of the cost of the investment over the Group's share of the net fair value of the identifiable assets and liabilities of the investee is recognised as goodwill, which is included within the carrying amount of the investment. Any excess of the Group's share of the net fair value of the identifiable assets and liabilities over the cost of the investment, after reassessment, is recognised immediately in profit or loss in the period in which the investment is acquired.

The requirements of IAS 39 are applied to determine whether it is necessary to recognise any impairment loss with respect to the Group's investment in an associate or a joint venture. When necessary, the entire carrying amount of the investment (including goodwill) is tested for impairment in accordance with IAS 36 Impairment of Assets as a single asset by comparing its recoverable amount (higher of value in use and fair value less costs of disposal) with its carrying amount, Any impairment loss recognised forms part of the carrying amount of the investment. Any reversal of that impairment loss is recognised in accordance with IAS 36 to the extent that the recoverable amount of the investment subsequently increases.

International GAAP Holdings Limited

Notes to the consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2016 - continued

The Group discontinues the use of the equity method from the date when the investment ceases to be an associate or a joint venture, or when the investment is classified as held for sale. When the Group retains an interest in the former associate or joint venture and the retained interest is a financial asset, the Group measures the retained interest at fair value at that date and the fair value is regarded as its fair value on initial recognition in accordance with IAS 39. The difference between the carrying amount of the associate or joint venture at the date the equity method was discontinued, and the fair value of any retained interest and any proceeds from disposing of a part interest in the associate or joint venture is included in the determination of the gain or loss on disposal of the associate or joint venture. In addition, the Group accounts for all amounts previously recognised in other comprehensive income in relation to that associate or joint venture on the same basis as would be required if that associate or joint venture had directly disposed of the related assets or liabilities. Therefore, if a gain or loss previously recognised in other comprehensive income by that associate or joint venture would be reclassified to profit or loss on the disposal of the related assets or liabilities, the Group reclassifies the gain or loss from equity to profit or loss (as a reclassification adjustment) when the equity method is discontinued.

The Group continues to use the equity method when an investment in an associate becomes an investment in a joint venture or an investment in a joint venture becomes an investment in an associate. There is no remeasurement to fair value upon such changes in ownership interests.

When the Group reduces its ownership interest in an associate or a joint venture but the Group continues to use the equity method, the Group reclassifies to profit or loss the proportion of the gain or loss that had previously been recognised in other comprehensive income relating to that reduction in ownership interest if that gain or loss would be reclassified to profit or loss on the disposal of the related assets or liabilities.

When a group entity transacts with an associate or a joint venture of the Group, profits and losses resulting from the transactions with the associate or joint venture are recognised in the Group's consolidated financial statements only to the extent of interests in the associate or joint venture that are not related to the Group.

3.7 Interests in joint operations

A joint operation is a joint arrangement whereby the parties that have joint control of the arrangement have rights to the assets, and obligations for the liabilities, relating to the arrangement. Joint control is the contractually agreed sharing of control of an arrangement, which exists only when decisions about the relevant activities require unanimous consent of the parties sharing control.

When a group entity undertakes its activities under joint operations, the Group as a joint operator recognises in relation to its interest in a joint operation:

- its assets, including its share of any assets held jointly;
- its liabilities, including its share of any liabilities incurred jointly;
- its revenue from the sale of its share of the output arising from the joint operation;
- its share of the revenue from the sale of the output by the joint operation; and
- $\bullet\,$ its expenses, including its share of any expenses incurred jointly.

The Group accounts for the assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses relating to its interest in a joint operation in accordance with the IFRSs applicable to the particular assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses.

When a group entity transacts with a joint operation in which a group entity is a joint operator (such as a sale or contribution of assets), the Group is considered to be conducting the transaction with the other parties to the joint operation, and gains and losses resulting from the transactions are recognised in the Group's consolidated financial statements only to the extent of other parties' interests in the joint operation.

When a group entity transacts with a joint operation in which a group entity is a joint operator (such as a purchase of assets), the Group does not recognise its share of the gains and losses until it resells those assets to a third party.

International GAAP Holdings Limited

Notes to the consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2016 – continued 3.8 Non-current assets held for sale

Non-current assets and disposal groups are classified as held for sale if their carrying amount will be recovered principally through a sale transaction rather than through continuing use. This condition is regarded as met only when the asset (or disposal group) is available for immediate sale in its present condition subject only to terms that are usual and customary for sales of such asset (or disposal group) and its sale is highly probable. Management must be committed to the sale, which should be expected to qualify for recognition as a completed sale within one year from the date of classification.

When the Group is committed to a sale plan involving loss of control of a subsidiary, all of the assets and liabilities of that subsidiary are classified as held for sale when the criteria described above are met, regardless of whether the Group will retain a non-controlling interest in its former subsidiary after the sale.

When the Group is committed to a sale plan involving disposal of an investment, or a portion of an investment, in an associate or joint venture, the investment or the portion of the investment that will be disposed of is classified as held for sale when the criteria described above are met, and the Group discontinues the use of the equity method in relation to the portion that is classified a held for sale. Any retained portion of an investment in an associate or a joint venture that has not been classified as held for sale continues to be accounted for using the equity method. The Group discontinues the use of the equity method at the time of disposal when the disposal results in the Group losing significant influence over the associate or joint venture.

After the disposal takes place, the Group accounts for any retained interest in the associate or joint venture in accordance with IAS 39 unless the retained interest continues to be an associate or a joint venture, in which case the Group uses the equity method (see the accounting policy regarding investments in associates or joint ventures above).

Non-current assets (and disposal groups) classified as held for sale are measured at the lower of their carrying amount and fair value less costs to sell.

IAS 18.35(a)

3.9 Revenue recognition

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration received or receivable. Revenue is reduced for estimated customer returns, rebates and other similar allowances.

3.9.1 Sale of goods

Revenue from the sale of goods is recognised when the goods are delivered and titles have passed, at which time all the following conditions are satisfied:

- the Group has transferred to the buyer the significant risks and rewards of ownership of the goods;
- the Group retains neither continuing managerial involvement to the degree usually associated with ownership nor effective control over the goods sold;
- the amount of revenue can be measured reliably;
- it is probable that the economic benefits associated with the transaction will flow to the Group; and
- the costs incurred or to be incurred in respect of the transaction can be measured reliably.

Sales of goods that result in award credits for customers, under the Group's Maxi-Points Scheme, are accounted for as multiple element revenue transactions and the fair value of the consideration received or receivable is allocated between the goods supplied and the award credits granted. The consideration allocated to the award credits is measured by reference to their fair value – the amount for which the award credits could be sold separately. Such consideration is not recognised as revenue at the time of the initial sale transaction – but is deferred and recognised as revenue when the award credits are redeemed and the Group's obligations have been fulfilled.

International GAAP Holdings Limited

Notes to the consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2016 - continued

3.9.2 Rendering of services

Revenue from a contract to provide services is recognised by reference to the stage of completion of the contract. The stage of completion of the contract is determined as follows:

- installation fees are recognised by reference to the stage of completion of the installation, determined as the proportion of the total time expected to install that has elapsed at the end of the reporting period;
- servicing fees included in the price of products sold are recognised by reference to the proportion of the total cost of providing the servicing for the product sold; and
- revenue from time and material contracts is recognised at the contractual rates as labour hours and direct expenses are incurred.

The Group's policy for recognition of revenue from construction contracts is described in note 3.10 below.

3.9.3 Royalties

Royalty revenue is recognised on an accrual basis in accordance with the substance of the relevant agreement (provided that it is probable that the economic benefits will flow to the Group and the amount of revenue can be measured reliably). Royalties determined on a time basis are recognised on a straight-line basis over the period of the agreement. Royalty arrangements that are based on production, sales and other measures are recognised by reference to the underlying arrangement.

3.9.4 Dividend and interest income

Dividend income from investments is recognised when the shareholder's right to receive payment has been established (provided that it is probable that the economic benefits will flow to the Group and the amount of income can be measured reliably).

Interest income from a financial asset is recognised when it is probable that the economic benefits will flow to the Group and the amount of income can be measured reliably. Interest income is accrued on a time basis, by reference to the principal outstanding and at the effective interest rate applicable, which is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts through the expected life of the financial asset to that asset's net carrying amount on initial recognition.

3.9.5 Rental income

The Group's policy for recognition of revenue from operating leases is described in note 3.11.1 below.

IAS 11.39(b),(c)

3.10 Construction contracts

When the outcome of a construction contract can be estimated reliably, revenue and costs are recognised by reference to the stage of completion of the contract activity at the end of the reporting period, measured based on the proportion of contract costs incurred for work performed to date relative to the estimated total contract costs, except where this would not be representative of the stage of completion. Variations in contract work, claims and incentive payments are included to the extent that the amount can be measured reliably and its receipt is considered probable.

When the outcome of a construction contract cannot be estimated reliably, contract revenue is recognised to the extent of contract costs incurred that it is probable will be recoverable. Contract costs are recognised as expenses in the period in which they are incurred.

When it is probable that total contract costs will exceed total contract revenue, the expected loss is recognised as an expense immediately.

When contract costs incurred to date plus recognised profits less recognised losses exceed progress billings, the surplus is shown as amounts due from customers for contract work. For contracts where progress billings exceed contract costs incurred to date plus recognised profits less recognised losses, the surplus is shown as the amounts due to customers for contract work. Amounts received before the related work is performed are included in the consolidated statement of financial position, as a liability, as advances received. Amounts billed for work performed but not yet paid by the customer are included in the consolidated statement of financial position under trade and other receivables.

International GAAP Holdings Limited

Notes to the consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2016 – continued $\,$

3.11 Leasing

Leases are classified as finance leases whenever the terms of the lease transfer substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership to the lessee. All other leases are classified as operating leases.

3.11.1 The Group as lessor

Amounts due from lessees under finance leases are recognised as receivables at the amount of the Group's net investment in the leases. Finance lease income is allocated to accounting periods so as to reflect a constant periodic rate of return on the Group's net investment outstanding in respect of the leases.

Rental income from operating leases is recognised on a straight-line basis over the term of the relevant lease. Initial direct costs incurred in negotiating and arranging an operating lease are added to the carrying amount of the leased asset and recognised on a straight-line basis over the lease term.

3.11.2 The Group as lessee

Assets held under finance leases are initially recognised as assets of the Group at their fair value at the inception of the lease or, if lower, at the present value of the minimum lease payments. The corresponding liability to the lessor is included in the consolidated statement of financial position as a finance lease obligation.

Lease payments are apportioned between finance expenses and reduction of the lease obligation so as to achieve a constant rate of interest on the remaining balance of the liability. Finance expenses are recognised immediately in profit or loss, unless they are directly attributable to qualifying assets, in which case they are capitalised in accordance with the Group's general policy on borrowing costs (see note 3.13 below). Contingent rentals are recognised as expenses in the periods in which they are incurred.

Operating lease payments are recognised as an expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term, except where another systematic basis is more representative of the time pattern in which economic benefits from the leased asset are consumed. Contingent rentals arising under operating leases are recognised as an expense in the period in which they are incurred.

In the event that lease incentives are received to enter into operating leases, such incentives are recognised as a liability. The aggregate benefit of incentives is recognised as a reduction of rental expense on a straight-line basis, except where another systematic basis is more representative of the time pattern in which economic benefits from the leased asset are consumed.

3.12 Foreign currencies

In preparing the financial statements of each individual group entity, transactions in currencies other than the entity's functional currency (foreign currencies) are recognised at the rates of exchange prevailing at the dates of the transactions. At the end of each reporting period, monetary items denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at the rates prevailing at that date. Non-monetary items carried at fair value that are denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at the rates prevailing at the date when the fair value was determined. Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are not retranslated.

Exchange differences on monetary items are recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they arise except for:

- exchange differences on foreign currency borrowings relating to assets under construction for future productive use, which are included in the cost of those assets when they are regarded as an adjustment to interest costs on those foreign currency borrowings;
- exchange differences on transactions entered into in order to hedge certain foreign currency risks (see 3.28 below for hedging accounting policies); and
- exchange differences on monetary items receivable from or payable to a foreign operation for which settlement is neither planned nor likely to occur (therefore forming part of the net investment in the foreign operation), which are recognised initially in other comprehensive income and reclassified from equity to profit or loss on repayment of the monetary items.

International GAAP Holdings Limited

Notes to the consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2016 - continued

For the purposes of presenting these consolidated financial statements, the assets and liabilities of the Group's foreign operations are translated into Currency Units using exchange rates prevailing at the end of each reporting period. Income and expense items are translated at the average exchange rates for the period, unless exchange rates fluctuate significantly during that period, in which case the exchange rates at the dates of the transactions are used. Exchange differences arising, if any, are recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated in equity (and attributed to non-controlling interests as appropriate).

On the disposal of a foreign operation (i.e. a disposal of the Group's entire interest in a foreign operation, a disposal involving loss of control over a subsidiary that includes a foreign operation, or a partial disposal of an interest in a joint arrangement or an associate that includes a foreign operation of which the retained interest becomes a financial asset), all of the exchange differences accumulated in equity in respect of that operation attributable to the owners of the Company are reclassified to profit or loss.

In addition, in relation to a partial disposal of a subsidiary that includes a foreign operation that does not result in the Group losing control over the subsidiary, the proportionate share of accumulated exchange differences are re-attributed to non-controlling interests and are not recognised in profit or loss. For all other partial disposals (i.e. partial disposals of associates or joint arrangements that do not result in the Group losing significant influence or joint control), the proportionate share of the accumulated exchange differences is reclassified to profit or loss.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments to identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed through acquisition of a foreign operation are treated as assets and liabilities of the foreign operation and translated at the rate of exchange prevailing at the end of each reporting period. Exchange differences arising are recognised in other comprehensive income.

3.13 Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of qualifying assets, which are assets that necessarily take a substantial period of time to get ready for their intended use or sale, are added to the cost of those assets, until such time as the assets are substantially ready for their intended use or sale.

Investment income earned on the temporary investment of specific borrowings pending their expenditure on qualifying assets is deducted from the borrowing costs eligible for capitalisation.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they are incurred.

IAS 20.39(a)

3.14 Government grants

Government grants are not recognised until there is reasonable assurance that the Group will comply with the conditions attaching to them and that the grants will be received.

Government grants are recognised in profit or loss on a systematic basis over the periods in which the Group recognises as expenses the related costs for which the grants are intended to compensate. Specifically, government grants whose primary condition is that the Group should purchase, construct or otherwise acquire non-current assets are recognised as deferred revenue in the consolidated statement of financial position and transferred to profit or loss on a systematic and rational basis over the useful lives of the related assets.

Government grants that are receivable as compensation for expenses or losses already incurred or for the purpose of giving immediate financial support to the Group with no future related costs are recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they become receivable.

The benefit of a government loan at a below-market rate of interest is treated as a government grant, measured as the difference between proceeds received and the fair value of the loan based on prevailing market interest rates.

International GAAP Holdings Limited

Notes to the consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2016 – continued 3.15 Employee benefits

3.15.1 Retirement benefit costs and termination benefits

Payments to defined contribution retirement benefit plans are recognised as an expense when employees have rendered service entitling them to the contributions.

For defined benefit retirement benefit plans, the cost of providing benefits is determined using the projected unit credit method, with actuarial valuations being carried out at the end of each annual reporting period. Remeasurement, comprising actuarial gains and losses, the effect of the changes to the asset ceiling (if applicable) and the return on plan assets (excluding interest), is reflected immediately in the statement of financial position with a charge or credit recognised in other comprehensive income in the period in which they occur. Remeasurement recognised in other comprehensive income is reflected immediately in retained earnings and will not be reclassified to profit or loss. Past service cost is recognised in profit or loss in the period of a plan amendment. Net interest is calculated by applying the discount rate at the beginning of the period to the net defined benefit liability or asset. Defined benefit costs are categorised as follows:

- service cost (including current service cost, past service cost, as well as gains and losses on curtailments and settlements);
- net interest expense or income; and
- · remeasurement.

The Group presents the first two components of defined benefit costs in profit or loss in the line item ['employee benefits expense'/others (please specify)]. Curtailment gains and losses are accounted for as past service costs.

The retirement benefit obligation recognised in the consolidated statement of financial position represents the actual deficit or surplus in the Group's defined benefit plans. Any surplus resulting from this calculation is limited to the present value of any economic benefits available in the form of refunds from the plans or reductions in future contributions to the plans.

A liability for a termination benefit is recognised at the earlier of when the entity can no longer withdraw the offer of the termination benefit and when the entity recognises any related restructuring costs.

3.15.2 Short-term and other long-term employee benefits

A liability is recognised for benefits accruing to employees in respect of wages and salaries, annual leave and sick leave in the period the related service is rendered at the undiscounted amount of the benefits expected to be paid in exchange for that service.

Liabilities recognised in respect of short-term employee benefits are measured at the undiscounted amount of the benefits expected to be paid in exchange for the related service.

Liabilities recognised in respect of other long-term employee benefits are measured at the present value of the estimated future cash outflows expected to be made by the Group in respect of services provided by employees up to the reporting date.

3.15.3 Contributions from employees or third parties to defined benefit plans

Discretionary contributions made by employees or third parties reduce service cost upon payment of these contributions to the plan.

When the formal terms of the plans specify that there will be contributions from employees or third parties, the accounting depends on whether the contributions are linked to service, as follows:

- If the contributions are not linked to services (e.g. contributions are required to reduce a deficit arising from losses on plan assets or from actuarial losses), they are reflected in the remeasurement of the net defined benefit liability (asset).
- If contributions are linked to services, they reduce service costs. For the amount of contribution that is dependent
 on the number of years of service, the entity reduces service cost by attributing the contributions to periods of
 service using the attribution method required by IAS 19 paragraph 70 for the gross benefits. For the amount of
 contribution that is independent of the number of years of service, the entity [reduces service cost in the period
 in which the related service is rendered/reduces service cost by attributing contributions to the employees' periods
 of service in accordance with IAS 19 paragraph 70.]

International GAAP Holdings Limited

Notes to the consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2016 – continued 3.16 Share-based payment arrangements

3.16.1 Share-based payment transactions of the Company

Equity-settled share-based payments to employees and others providing similar services are measured at the fair value of the equity instruments at the grant date. Details regarding the determination of the fair value of equity-settled share-based transactions are set out in note 42.

The fair value determined at the grant date of the equity-settled share-based payments is expensed on a straight-line basis over the vesting period, based on the Group's estimate of equity instruments that will eventually vest, with a corresponding increase in equity. At the end of each reporting period, the Group revises its estimate of the number of equity instruments expected to vest. The impact of the revision of the original estimates, if any, is recognised in profit or loss such that the cumulative expense reflects the revised estimate, with a corresponding adjustment to the equity-settled employee benefits reserve.

Equity-settled share-based payment transactions with parties other than employees are measured at the fair value of the goods or services received, except where that fair value cannot be estimated reliably, in which case they are measured at the fair value of the equity instruments granted, measured at the date the entity obtains the goods or the counterparty renders the service.

For cash-settled share-based payments, a liability is recognised for the goods or services acquired, measured initially at the fair value of the liability. At the end of each reporting period until the liability is settled, and at the date of settlement, the fair value of the liability is remeasured, with any changes in fair value recognised in profit or loss for the year.

3.16.2 Share-based payment transactions of the acquiree in a business combination

When the share-based payment awards held by the employees of an acquiree (acquiree awards) are replaced by the Group's share-based payment awards (replacement awards), both the acquiree awards and the replacement awards are measured in accordance with IFRS 2 ("market-based measure") at the acquisition date. The portion of the replacement awards that is included in measuring the consideration transferred in a business combination equals the market-based measure of the acquiree awards multiplied by the ratio of the portion of the vesting period completed to the greater of the total vesting period or the original vesting period of the acquiree award. The excess of the market-based measure of the replacement awards over the market-based measure of the acquiree awards included in measuring the consideration transferred is recognised as remuneration cost for post-combination service.

However, when the acquiree awards expire as a consequence of a business combination and the Group replaces those awards when it does not have an obligation to do so, the replacement awards are measured at their market-based measure in accordance with IFRS 2. All of the market-based measure of the replacement awards is recognised as remuneration cost for post-combination service.

At the acquisition date, when the outstanding equity-settled share-based payment transactions held by the employees of an acquiree are not exchanged by the Group for its share-based payment transactions, the acquiree share-based payment transactions are measured at their market-based measure at the acquisition date. If the share-based payment transactions have vested by the acquisition date, they are included as part of the non-controlling interest in the acquiree. However, if the share-based payment transactions have not vested by the acquisition date, the market-based measure of the unvested share-based payment transactions is allocated to the non-controlling interest in the acquiree based on the ratio of the portion of the vesting period completed to the greater of the total vesting period or the original vesting period of the share-based payment transaction. The balance is recognised as remuneration cost for post-combination service.

3.17 Taxation

Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently payable and deferred tax.

3.17.1 Current tax

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the year. Taxable profit differs from 'profit before tax' as reported in the consolidated [statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income/statement of profit or loss] because of items of income or expense that are taxable or deductible in other years and items that are never taxable or deductible. The Group's current tax is calculated using tax rates that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.

International GAAP Holdings Limited

Notes to the consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2016 - continued

3.17.2 Deferred tax

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the consolidated financial statements and the corresponding tax bases used in the computation of taxable profit. Deferred tax liabilities are generally recognised for all taxable temporary differences. Deferred tax assets are generally recognised for all deductible temporary differences to the extent that it is probable that taxable profits will be available against which those deductible temporary differences can be utilised. Such deferred tax assets and liabilities are not recognised if the temporary difference arises from the initial recognition (other than in a business combination) of assets and liabilities in a transaction that affects neither the taxable profit nor the accounting profit. In addition, deferred tax liabilities are not recognised if the temporary difference arises from the initial recognition of goodwill.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary differences associated with investments in subsidiaries and associates, and interests in joint ventures, except where the Group is able to control the reversal of the temporary difference and it is probable that the temporary difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future. Deferred tax assets arising from deductible temporary differences associated with such investments and interests are only recognised to the extent that it is probable that there will be sufficient taxable profits against which to utilise the benefits of the temporary differences and they are expected to reverse in the foreseeable future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the end of each reporting period and reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be available to allow all or part of the asset to be recovered

Deferred tax liabilities and assets are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply in the period in which the liability is settled or the asset realised, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.

The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets reflects the tax consequences that would follow from the manner in which the Group expects, at the end of the reporting period, to recover or settle the carrying amount of its assets and liabilities.

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax liabilities and deferred tax assets for investment properties that are measured using the fair value model, the carrying amounts of such properties are presumed to be recovered entirely through sale, unless the presumption is rebutted. The presumption is rebutted when the investment property is depreciable and is held within a business model whose objective is to consume substantially all of the economic benefits embodied in the investment property over time, rather than through sale. The directors of the Company reviewed the Group's investment property portfolios and concluded that none of the Group's investment properties are held under a business model whose objective is to consume substantially all of the economic benefits embodied in the investment properties over time, rather than through sale. Therefore, the directors have determined that the 'sale' presumption set out in the amendments to IAS 12 is not rebutted. As a result, the Group has not recognised any deferred taxes on changes in fair value of the investment properties as the Group is not subject to any income taxes on the fair value changes of the investment properties on disposal.

3.17.3 Current and deferred tax for the year

Current and deferred tax are recognised in profit or loss, except when they relate to items that are recognised in other comprehensive income or directly in equity, in which case, the current and deferred tax are also recognised in other comprehensive income or directly in equity respectively. Where current tax or deferred tax arises from the initial accounting for a business combination, the tax effect is included in the accounting for the business combination.

IAS 16.73(a),(b)

3.18 Property, plant and equipment

Land and buildings held for use in the production or supply of goods or services, or for administrative purposes, are stated in the consolidated statement of financial position at their revalued amounts, being the fair value at the date of revaluation, less any subsequent accumulated depreciation and subsequent accumulated impairment losses. Revaluations are performed with sufficient regularity such that the carrying amounts do not differ materially from those that would be determined using fair values at the end of each reporting period.

International GAAP Holdings Limited

Notes to the consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2016 - continued

Any revaluation increase arising on the revaluation of such land and buildings is recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated in equity, except to the extent that it reverses a revaluation decrease for the same asset previously recognised in profit or loss, in which case the increase is credited to profit or loss to the extent of the decrease previously expensed. A decrease in the carrying amount arising on the revaluation of such land and buildings is recognised in profit or loss to the extent that it exceeds the balance, if any, held in the properties revaluation reserve relating to a previous revaluation of that asset.

Properties in the course of construction for production, supply or administrative purposes are carried at cost, less any recognised impairment loss. Cost includes professional fees and, for qualifying assets, borrowing costs capitalised in accordance with the Group's accounting policy. Such properties are classified to the appropriate categories of property, plant and equipment when completed and ready for intended use. Depreciation of these assets, on the same basis as other property assets, commences when the assets are ready for their intended use.

Depreciation on revalued buildings is recognised in profit or loss. On the subsequent sale or retirement of a revalued property, the attributable revaluation surplus remaining in the properties revaluation reserve is transferred directly to retained earnings.

Freehold land is not depreciated.

Fixtures and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment losses.

Depreciation is recognised so as to write off the cost or valuation of assets (other than freehold land and properties under construction) less their residual values over their useful lives, using the straight-line method. The estimated useful lives, residual values and depreciation method are reviewed at the end of each reporting period, with the effect of any changes in estimate accounted for on a prospective basis.

Assets held under finance leases are depreciated over their expected useful lives on the same basis as owned assets. However, when there is no reasonable certainty that ownership will be obtained by the end of the lease term, assets are depreciated over the shorter of the lease term and their useful lives.

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised upon disposal or when no future economic benefits are expected to arise from the continued use of the asset. Any gain or loss arising on the disposal or retirement of an item of property, plant and equipment is determined as the difference between the sales proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset and is recognised in profit or loss.

IAS 40.75(a)

3.19 Investment property

Investment properties are properties held to earn rentals and/or for capital appreciation (including property under construction for such purposes). Investment properties are measured initially at cost, including transaction costs. Subsequent to initial recognition, investment properties are measured at fair value. All of the Group's property interests held under operating leases to earn rentals or for capital appreciation purposes are accounted for as investment properties and are measured using the fair value model. Gains and losses arising from changes in the fair value of investment properties are included in profit or loss in the period in which they arise.

An investment property is derecognised upon disposal or when the investment property is permanently withdrawn from use and no future economic benefits are expected from the disposal. Any gain or loss arising on derecognition of the property (calculated as the difference between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset) is included in profit or loss in the period in which the property is derecognised.

3.20 Intangible assets

3.20.1 Intangible assets acquired separately

IAS 38.118(b)

Intangible assets with finite useful lives that are acquired separately are carried at cost less accumulated amortisation and accumulated impairment losses. Amortisation is recognised on a straight-line basis over their estimated useful lives. The estimated useful life and amortisation method are reviewed at the end of each reporting period, with the effect of any changes in estimate being accounted for on a prospective basis. Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives that are acquired separately are carried at cost less accumulated impairment losses.

International GAAP Holdings Limited

Notes to the consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2016 - continued

3.20.2 Internally-generated intangible assets – research and development expenditure

Expenditure on research activities is recognised as an expense in the period in which it is incurred.

An internally-generated intangible asset arising from development (or from the development phase of an internal project) is recognised if, and only if, all of the following have been demonstrated:

- the technical feasibility of completing the intangible asset so that it will be available for use or sale;
- the intention to complete the intangible asset and use or sell it;
- the ability to use or sell the intangible asset;
- how the intangible asset will generate probable future economic benefits;
- the availability of adequate technical, financial and other resources to complete the development and to use or sell the intangible asset; and
- the ability to measure reliably the expenditure attributable to the intangible asset during its development.

The amount initially recognised for internally-generated intangible assets is the sum of the expenditure incurred from the date when the intangible asset first meets the recognition criteria listed above. Where no internally-generated intangible asset can be recognised, development expenditure is recognised in profit or loss in the period in which it is incurred.

IAS 38.118(b)

Subsequent to initial recognition, internally-generated intangible assets are reported at cost less accumulated amortisation and accumulated impairment losses, on the same basis as intangible assets that are acquired separately.

3.20.3 Intangible assets acquired in a business combination

Intangible assets acquired in a business combination and recognised separately from goodwill are initially recognised at their fair value at the acquisition date (which is regarded as their cost).

IAS 38.118(b)

Subsequent to initial recognition, intangible assets acquired in a business combination are reported at cost less accumulated amortisation and accumulated impairment losses, on the same basis as intangible assets that are acquired separately.

3.20.4 <u>Derecognition of intangible assets</u>

An intangible asset is derecognised on disposal, or when no future economic benefits are expected from use or disposal. Gains or losses arising from derecognition of an intangible asset, measured as the difference between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset, are recognised in profit or loss when the asset is derecognised.

3.21 Impairment of tangible and intangible assets other than goodwill

At the end of each reporting period, the Group reviews the carrying amounts of its tangible and intangible assets to determine whether there is any indication that those assets have suffered an impairment loss. If any such indication exists, the recoverable amount of the asset is estimated in order to determine the extent of the impairment loss (if any). When it is not possible to estimate the recoverable amount of an individual asset, the Group estimates the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs. When a reasonable and consistent basis of allocation can be identified, corporate assets are also allocated to individual cash-generating units, or otherwise they are allocated to the smallest group of cash-generating units for which a reasonable and consistent allocation basis can be identified.

Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives and intangible assets not yet available for use are tested for impairment at least annually, and whenever there is an indication that the asset may be impaired.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs of disposal and value in use. In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset for which the estimates of future cash flows have not been adjusted.

International GAAP Holdings Limited

Notes to the consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2016 - continued

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or cash-generating unit) is estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the carrying amount of the asset (or cash-generating unit) is reduced to its recoverable amount. An impairment loss is recognised immediately in profit or loss, unless the relevant asset is carried at a revalued amount, in which case the impairment loss is treated as a revaluation decrease (see note 3.18 above).

When an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying amount of the asset (or a cash-generating unit) is increased to the revised estimate of its recoverable amount, but so that the increased carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined had no impairment loss been recognised for the asset (or cash-generating unit) in prior years. A reversal of an impairment loss is recognised immediately in profit or loss, unless the relevant asset is carried at a revalued amount, in which case the reversal of the impairment loss is treated as a revaluation increase (see note 3.18 above).

IAS 2.36(a)

3.22 Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Costs of inventories are determined on a first-in-first-out basis. Net realisable value represents the estimated selling price for inventories less all estimated costs of completion and costs necessary to make the sale.

3.23 Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of a past event, it is probable that the Group will be required to settle the obligation, and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation.

The amount recognised as a provision is the best estimate of the consideration required to settle the present obligation at the end of the reporting period, taking into account the risks and uncertainties surrounding the obligation. When a provision is measured using the cash flows estimated to settle the present obligation, its carrying amount is the present value of those cash flows (when the effect of the time value of money is material).

When some or all of the economic benefits required to settle a provision are expected to be recovered from a third party, a receivable is recognised as an asset if it is virtually certain that reimbursement will be received and the amount of the receivable can be measured reliably.

3.23.1 Onerous contracts

Present obligations arising under onerous contracts are recognised and measured as provisions. An onerous contract is considered to exist where the Group has a contract under which the unavoidable costs of meeting the obligations under the contract exceed the economic benefits expected to be received from the contract.

3.23.2 Restructurings

A restructuring provision is recognised when the Group has developed a detailed formal plan for the restructuring and has raised a valid expectation in those affected that it will carry out the restructuring by starting to implement the plan or announcing its main features to those affected by it. The measurement of a restructuring provision includes only the direct expenditures arising from the restructuring, which are those amounts that are both necessarily entailed by the restructuring and not associated with the ongoing activities of the entity.

3.23.3 Warranties

Provisions for the expected cost of warranty obligations under local sale of goods legislation are recognised at the date of sale of the relevant products, at the directors' best estimate of the expenditure required to settle the Group's obligation.

3.23.4 Contingent liabilities acquired in a business combination

Contingent liabilities acquired in a business combination are initially measured at fair value at the acquisition date. At the end of subsequent reporting periods, such contingent liabilities are measured at the higher of the amount that would be recognised in accordance with IAS 37 and the amount initially recognised less cumulative amortisation recognised in accordance with IAS 18 *Revenue*.

Source International GAAP Holdings Limited

Notes to the consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2016 - continued

IFRS 7.21 **3.24 Financial instruments**

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised when a group entity becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instruments.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured at fair value. Transaction costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition or issue of financial assets and financial liabilities (other than financial assets and financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss) are added to or deducted from the fair value of the financial assets or financial liabilities, as appropriate, on initial recognition. Transaction costs directly attributable to the acquisition of financial assets or financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss are recognised immediately in profit or loss.

IFRS 7.21 **3.25 Financial assets**

Financial assets are classified into the following specified categories: financial assets 'at fair value through profit or loss' (FVTPL), 'held-to-maturity' investments, 'available-for-sale' (AFS) financial assets and 'loans and receivables'. The classification depends on the nature and purpose of the financial assets and is determined at the time of initial recognition. All regular way purchases or sales of financial assets are recognised and derecognised on a trade date basis. Regular way purchases or sales are purchases or sales of financial assets that require delivery of assets within the time frame established by regulation or convention in the marketplace.

3.25.1 Effective interest method

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortised cost of a debt instrument and of allocating interest income over the relevant period. The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts (including all fees and points paid or received that form an integral part of the effective interest rate, transaction costs and other premiums or discounts) through the expected life of the debt instrument, or, where appropriate, a shorter period, to the net carrying amount on initial recognition.

IFRS 7.B5(e)

Income is recognised on an effective interest basis for debt instruments other than those financial assets classified as at FVTPL.

3.25.2 Financial assets at FVTPL

Financial assets are classified as at FVTPL when the financial asset is (i) contingent consideration that may be paid by an acquirer as part of a business combination to which IFRS 3 applies, (ii) held for trading, or (iii) it is designated as at FVTPL.

A financial asset is classified as held for trading if:

- it has been acquired principally for the purpose of selling it in the near term; or
- on initial recognition it is part of a portfolio of identified financial instruments that the Group manages together and has a recent actual pattern of short-term profit-taking; or
- it is a derivative that is not designated and effective as a hedging instrument.

A financial asset other than a financial asset held for trading or contingent consideration that may be paid by an acquirer as part of a business combination may be designated as at FVTPL upon initial recognition if:

- such designation eliminates or significantly reduces a measurement or recognition inconsistency that would otherwise arise; or
- the financial asset forms part of a group of financial assets or financial liabilities or both, which is managed and its performance is evaluated on a fair value basis, in accordance with the Group's documented risk management or investment strategy, and information about the grouping is provided internally on that basis; or
- it forms part of a contract containing one or more embedded derivatives, and IAS 39 permits the entire combined contract to be designated as at FVTPL.

IFRS 7.B5(e)

Financial assets at FVTPL are stated at fair value, with any gains or losses arising on remeasurement recognised in profit or loss. The net gain or loss recognised in profit or loss incorporates any dividend or interest earned on the financial asset and is included in the 'other gains and losses' line item. Fair value is determined in the manner described in note 40.

International GAAP Holdings Limited

Notes to the consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2016 - continued

3.25.3 <u>Held-to-maturity investments</u>

Held-to-maturity investments are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments and fixed maturity dates that the Group has the positive intent and ability to hold to maturity. Subsequent to initial recognition, held-to-maturity investments are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method less any impairment.

3.25.4 Loans and receivables

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in an active market. Loans and receivables (including trade and other receivables, bank balances and cash, and others [describe]) are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method, less any impairment.

Interest income is recognised by applying the effective interest rate, except for short-term receivables when the effect of discounting is immaterial.

3.25.5 Available-for-sale financial assets (AFS financial assets)

AFS financial assets are non-derivatives that are either designated as AFS or are not classified as (a) loans and receivables, (b) held-to-maturity investments or (c) financial assets at fair value through profit or loss.

Listed redeemable notes held by the Group that are traded in an active market are classified as AFS and are stated at fair value at the end of each reporting period. The Group also has investments in unlisted shares that are not traded in an active market but that are also classified as AFS financial assets and stated at fair value at the end of each reporting period (because the directors consider that fair value can be reliably measured). Fair value is determined in the manner described in note 40. Changes in the carrying amount of AFS monetary financial assets relating to changes in foreign currency rates (see below), interest income calculated using the effective interest method and dividends on AFS equity investments are recognised in profit or loss. Other changes in the carrying amount of available-for-sale financial assets are recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated under the heading of investments revaluation reserve. When the investment is disposed of or is determined to be impaired, the cumulative gain or loss previously accumulated in the investments revaluation reserve is reclassified to profit or loss.

Dividends on AFS equity instruments are recognised in profit or loss when the Group's right to receive the dividends is established.

The fair value of AFS monetary financial assets denominated in a foreign currency is determined in that foreign currency and translated at the spot rate prevailing at the end of the reporting period. The foreign exchange gains and losses that are recognised in profit or loss are determined based on the amortised cost of the monetary asset. Other foreign exchange gains and losses are recognised in other comprehensive income.

AFS equity investments that do not have a quoted market price in an active market and whose fair value cannot be reliably measured and derivatives that are linked to and must be settled by delivery of such unquoted equity investments are measured at cost less any identified impairment losses at the end of each reporting period.

3.25.6 Impairment of financial assets

Financial assets, other than those at FVTPL, are assessed for indicators of impairment at the end of each reporting period. Financial assets are considered to be impaired when there is objective evidence that, as a result of one or more events that occurred after the initial recognition of the financial asset, the estimated future cash flows of the investment have been affected.

IFRS 7.B5(f), 37(b)

For AFS equity investments, a significant or prolonged decline in the fair value of the security below its cost is considered to be objective evidence of impairment.

For all other financial assets, objective evidence of impairment could include:

- significant financial difficulty of the issuer or counterparty; or
- breach of contract, such as a default or delinquency in interest or principal payments; or
- it becoming probable that the borrower will enter bankruptcy or financial re-organisation; or
- the disappearance of an active market for that financial asset because of financial difficulties.

International GAAP Holdings Limited

Notes to the consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2016 - continued

For certain categories of financial assets, such as trade receivables, assets are assessed for impairment on a collective basis even if they were assessed not to be impaired individually. Objective evidence of impairment for a portfolio of receivables could include the Group's past experience of collecting payments, an increase in the number of delayed payments in the portfolio past the average credit period of 60 days, as well as observable changes in national or local economic conditions that correlate with default on receivables.

For financial assets carried at amortised cost, the amount of the impairment loss recognised is the difference between the asset's carrying amount and the present value of estimated future cash flows, discounted at the financial asset's original effective interest rate.

For financial assets that are carried at cost, the amount of the impairment loss is measured as the difference between the asset's carrying amount and the present value of the estimated future cash flows discounted at the current market rate of return for a similar financial asset. Such impairment loss will not be reversed in subsequent periods.

The carrying amount of the financial asset is reduced by the impairment loss directly for all financial assets with the exception of trade receivables, where the carrying amount is reduced through the use of an allowance account. When a trade receivable is considered uncollectible, it is written off against the allowance account. Subsequent recoveries of amounts previously written off are credited against the allowance account. Changes in the carrying amount of the allowance account are recognised in profit or loss.

When an AFS financial asset is considered to be impaired, cumulative gains or losses previously recognised in other comprehensive income are reclassified to profit or loss in the period.

For financial assets measured at amortised cost, if, in a subsequent period, the amount of the impairment loss decreases and the decrease can be related objectively to an event occurring after the impairment was recognised, the previously recognised impairment loss is reversed through profit or loss to the extent that the carrying amount of the investment at the date the impairment is reversed does not exceed what the amortised cost would have been had the impairment not been recognised.

In respect of AFS equity securities, impairment losses previously recognised in profit or loss are not reversed through profit or loss. Any increase in fair value subsequent to an impairment loss is recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated under the heading of investments revaluation reserve. In respect of AFS debt securities, impairment losses are subsequently reversed through profit or loss if an increase in the fair value of the investment can be objectively related to an event occurring after the recognition of the impairment loss.

3.25.7 Derecognition of financial assets

The Group derecognises a financial asset when the contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset expire, or when it transfers the financial asset and substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of the asset to another party. If the Group neither transfers nor retains substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership and continues to control the transferred asset, the Group recognises its retained interest in the asset and an associated liability for amounts it may have to pay. If the Group retains substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of a transferred financial asset, the Group continues to recognise the financial asset and also recognises a collateralised borrowing for the proceeds received.

On derecognition of a financial asset in its entirety, the difference between the asset's carrying amount and the sum of the consideration received and receivable and the cumulative gain or loss that had been recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated in equity is recognised in profit or loss.

On derecognition of a financial asset other than in its entirety (e.g. when the Group retains an option to repurchase part of a transferred asset), the Group allocates the previous carrying amount of the financial asset between the part it continues to recognise under continuing involvement, and the part it no longer recognises on the basis of the relative fair values of those parts on the date of the transfer. The difference between the carrying amount allocated to the part that is no longer recognised and the sum of the consideration received for the part no longer recognised and any cumulative gain or loss allocated to it that had been recognised in other comprehensive income is recognised in profit or loss. A cumulative gain or loss that had been recognised in other comprehensive income is allocated between the part that continues to be recognised and the part that is no longer recognised on the basis of the relative fair values of those parts.

Source International GAAP Holdings Limited

IFRS 7.21

Notes to the consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2016 – continued 3.26 Financial liabilities and equity instruments

3.26.1 Classification as debt or equity

Debt and equity instruments issued by a group entity are classified as either financial liabilities or as equity in accordance with the substance of the contractual arrangements and the definitions of a financial liability and an equity instrument.

3.26.2 Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual interest in the assets of an entity after deducting all of its liabilities. Equity instruments issued by a group entity are recognised at the proceeds received, net of direct issue costs.

Repurchase of the Company's own equity instruments is recognised and deducted directly in equity. No gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss on the purchase, sale, issue or cancellation of the Company's own equity instruments.

3.26.3 Compound instruments

The component parts of compound instruments (convertible notes) issued by the Company are classified separately as financial liabilities and equity in accordance with the substance of the contractual arrangements and the definitions of a financial liability and an equity instrument. Conversion option that will be settled by the exchange of a fixed amount of cash or another financial asset for a fixed number of the Company's own equity instruments is an equity instrument.

At the date of issue, the fair value of the liability component is estimated using the prevailing market interest rate for similar non-convertible instruments. This amount is recorded as a liability on an amortised cost basis using the effective interest method until extinguished upon conversion or at the instrument's maturity date.

The conversion option classified as equity is determined by deducting the amount of the liability component from the fair value of the compound instrument as a whole. This is recognised and included in equity, net of income tax effects, and is not subsequently remeasured. In addition, the conversion option classified as equity will remain in equity until the conversion option is exercised, in which case, the balance recognised in equity will be transferred to [share premium/other equity [describe]]. When the conversion option remains unexercised at the maturity date of the convertible note, the balance recognised in equity will be transferred to [retained profits/other equity [describe]]. No gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss upon conversion or expiration of the conversion option.

Transaction costs that relate to the issue of the convertible notes are allocated to the liability and equity components in proportion to the allocation of the gross proceeds. Transaction costs relating to the equity component are recognised directly in equity. Transaction costs relating to the liability component are included in the carrying amount of the liability component and are amortised over the lives of the convertible notes using the effective interest method.

3.26.4 Financial liabilities

Financial liabilities are classified as either financial liabilities 'at FVTPL' or 'other financial liabilities'.

3.26.4.1 Financial liabilities at FVTPL

Financial liabilities are classified as at FVTPL when the financial liability is (i) contingent consideration that may be paid by an acquirer as part of a business combination to which IFRS 3 applies, (ii) held for trading, or (iii) it is designated as at FVTPL.

A financial liability is classified as held for trading if:

- it has been incurred principally for the purpose of repurchasing it in the near term; or
- on initial recognition it is part of a portfolio of identified financial instruments that the Group manages together and has a recent actual pattern of short-term profit-taking; or
- it is a derivative that is not designated and effective as a hedging instrument.

International GAAP Holdings Limited

Notes to the consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2016 – continued

A financial liability other than a financial liability held for trading or contingent consideration that may be paid by an acquirer as part of a business combination may be designated as at FVTPL upon initial recognition if:

- such designation eliminates or significantly reduces a measurement or recognition inconsistency that would otherwise arise; or
- the financial liability forms part of a group of financial assets or financial liabilities or both, which is managed and its performance is evaluated on a fair value basis, in accordance with the Group's documented risk management or investment strategy, and information about the grouping is provided internally on that basis; or
- it forms part of a contract containing one or more embedded derivatives, and IAS 39 permits the entire combined contract to be designated as at FVTPL.

IFRS 7.B5(e)

Financial liabilities at FVTPL are stated at fair value, with any gains or losses arising on remeasurement recognised in profit or loss. The net gain or loss recognised in profit or loss incorporates any interest paid on the financial liability and is included in the 'other gains and losses' line item. Fair value is determined in the manner described in note 40.

3.26.4.2 Other financial liabilities

Other financial liabilities (including borrowings and trade and other payables) are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method.

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortised cost of a financial liability and of allocating interest expense over the relevant period. The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash payments (including all fees and points paid or received that form an integral part of the effective interest rate, transaction costs and other premiums or discounts) through the expected life of the financial liability, or (where appropriate) a shorter period, to the net carrying amount on initial recognition.

3.26.4.3 Financial guarantee contracts

A financial guarantee contract is a contract that requires the issuer to make specified payments to reimburse the holder for a loss it incurs because a specified debtor fails to make payments when due in accordance with the terms of a debt instrument

Financial guarantee contracts issued by a group entity are initially measured at their fair values and, if not designated as at FVTPL, are subsequently measured at the higher of:

- the amount of the obligation under the contract, as determined in accordance with IAS 37; and
- the amount initially recognised less, where appropriate, cumulative amortisation recognised in accordance with the revenue recognition policies.

3.26.4.4 Derecognition of financial liabilities

The Group derecognises financial liabilities when, and only when, the Group's obligations are discharged, cancelled or have expired. The difference between the carrying amount of the financial liability derecognised and the consideration paid and payable is recognised in profit or loss.

IFRS 7.21

3.27 Derivative financial instruments

The Group enters into a variety of derivative financial instruments to manage its exposure to interest rate and foreign exchange rate risks, including foreign exchange forward contracts, interest rate swaps and cross currency swaps. Further details of derivative financial instruments are disclosed in note 40.

Derivatives are initially recognised at fair value at the date the derivative contracts are entered into and are subsequently remeasured to their fair value at the end of each reporting period. The resulting gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss immediately unless the derivative is designated and effective as a hedging instrument, in which event the timing of the recognition in profit or loss depends on the nature of the hedge relationship.

3.27.1 Embedded derivatives

Derivatives embedded in non-derivative host contracts are treated as separate derivatives when they meet the definition of a derivative, their risks and characteristics are not closely related to those of the host contracts and the contracts are not measured at FVTPL.

Source International GAAP Holdings Limited

Notes to the consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2016 - continued

IFRS 7.21 **3.28 Hedge accounting**

The Group designates certain hedging instruments, which include derivatives, embedded derivatives and non-derivatives in respect of foreign currency risk, as either fair value hedges, cash flow hedges, or hedges of net investments in foreign operations. Hedges of foreign exchange risk on firm commitments are accounted for as cash flow hedges.

At the inception of the hedge relationship, the entity documents the relationship between the hedging instrument and the hedged item, along with its risk management objectives and its strategy for undertaking various hedge transactions. Furthermore, at the inception of the hedge and on an ongoing basis, the Group documents whether the hedging instrument is highly effective in offsetting changes in fair values or cash flows of the hedged item attributable to the hedged risk.

Note 40 sets out details of the fair values of the derivative instruments used for hedging purposes.

3.28.1 Fair value hedges

Changes in the fair value of derivatives that are designated and qualify as fair value hedges are recognised in profit or loss immediately, together with any changes in the fair value of the hedged asset or liability that are attributable to the hedged risk. The change in the fair value of the hedging instrument and the change in the hedged item attributable to the hedged risk are recognised in profit or loss in the line item relating to the hedged item.

Hedge accounting is discontinued when the Group revokes the hedging relationship, when the hedging instrument expires or is sold, terminated, or exercised, or when it no longer qualifies for hedge accounting. The fair value adjustment to the carrying amount of the hedged item arising from the hedged risk is amortised to profit or loss from that date

3.28.2 Cash flow hedges

The effective portion of changes in the fair value of derivatives that are designated and qualify as cash flow hedges is recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated under the heading of cash flow hedging reserve. The gain or loss relating to the ineffective portion is recognised immediately in profit or loss, and is included in the 'other gains and losses' line item.

Amounts previously recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated in equity are reclassified to profit or loss in the periods when the hedged item affects profit or loss, in the same line as the recognised hedged item. However, when the hedged forecast transaction results in the recognition of a non-financial asset or a non-financial liability, the gains and losses previously recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated in equity are transferred from equity and included in the initial measurement of the cost of the non-financial asset or non-financial liability.

Hedge accounting is discontinued when the Group revokes the hedging relationship, when the hedging instrument expires or is sold, terminated, or exercised, or when it no longer qualifies for hedge accounting. Any gain or loss recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated in equity at that time remains in equity and is recognised when the forecast transaction is ultimately recognised in profit or loss. When a forecast transaction is no longer expected to occur, the gain or loss accumulated in equity is recognised immediately in profit or loss.

3.28.3 Hedges of net investments in foreign operations

Hedges of net investments in foreign operations are accounted for similarly to cash flow hedges. Any gain or loss on the hedging instrument relating to the effective portion of the hedge is recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated under the heading of foreign currency translation reserve. The gain or loss relating to the ineffective portion is recognised immediately in profit or loss, and is included in the 'other gains and losses' line item.

Gains and losses on the hedging instrument relating to the effective portion of the hedge accumulated in the foreign currency translation reserve are reclassified to profit or loss on the disposal of the foreign operation.

International GAAP Holdings Limited

Notes to the consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2016 – continued 4. Critical accounting judgements and key sources of estimation uncertainty

Commentary:

The following are examples of the types of disclosures that might be required in this area. The matters disclosed will be dictated by the circumstances of the individual entity, and by the significance of judgements and estimates made to the performance and financial position of the entity. Instead of disclosing this information in a separate note, it may be more appropriate to include such disclosures in the relevant asset and liability notes, or as part of the relevant accounting policy disclosures.

IFRS 12.7 requires entities to disclose information about significant judgements and assumptions they have made in determining (i) whether they have control of another entity, (ii) whether they have joint control of an arrangement or significant influence over another entity, and (iii) the type of joint arrangement when the arrangement has been structured through a separate vehicle.

In the application of the Group's accounting policies, which are described in note 3, the directors of the Company are required to make judgements, estimates and assumptions about the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources. The estimates and associated assumptions are based on historical experience and other factors that are considered to be relevant. Actual results may differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only that period, or in the period of the revision and future periods if the revision affects both current and future periods.

IAS 1.122

4.1 Critical judgements in applying accounting policies

The following are the critical judgements, apart from those involving estimations (see note 4.2 below), that the directors have made in the process of applying the Group's accounting policies and that have the most significant effect on the amounts recognised in the consolidated financial statements.

4.1.1 Revenue recognition

Note 13.6 describes the expenditure required in the year for rectification work carried out on goods supplied to one of the Group's major customers. These goods were delivered to the customer in the months of January to July 2016, and shortly thereafter the defects were identified by the customer. Following negotiations, a schedule of works was agreed, which will involve expenditure by the Group until 2017. In the light of the problems identified, the directors were required to consider whether it was appropriate to recognise the revenue from these transactions of CU19 million in the current year, in line with the Group's general policy of recognising revenue when goods are delivered, or whether it was more appropriate to defer recognition until the rectification work was complete.

In making their judgement, the directors considered the detailed criteria for the recognition of revenue from the sale of goods set out in IAS 18 and, in particular, whether the Group had transferred to the buyer the significant risks and rewards of ownership of the goods. Following the detailed quantification of the Group's liability in respect of rectification work, and the agreed limitation on the customer's ability to require further work or to require replacement of the goods, the directors are satisfied that the significant risks and rewards have been transferred and that recognition of the revenue in the current year is appropriate, in conjunction with the recognition of an appropriate provision for the rectification costs.

4.1.2 Held-to-maturity financial assets

The directors have reviewed the Group's held-to-maturity financial assets in the light of its capital maintenance and liquidity requirements and have confirmed the Group's positive intention and ability to hold those assets to maturity. The carrying amount of the held-to-maturity financial assets is CU5.905 million (31 December 2015: CU4.015 million). Details of these assets are set out in note 22.

International GAAP Holdings Limited

Notes to the consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2016 - continued

4.1.3 Deferred taxation on investment properties

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax liabilities or deferred tax assets arising from investment properties that are measured using the fair value model, the directors have reviewed the Group's investment property portfolios and concluded that the Group's investment properties are not held under a business model whose objective is to consume substantially all of the economic benefits embodied in the investment properties over time, rather than through sale. Therefore, in determining the Group's deferred taxation on investment properties, the directors have determined that the presumption that the carrying amounts of investment properties measured using the fair value model are recovered entirely through sale is not rebutted. As a result, the Group has not recognised any deferred taxes on changes in fair value of investment properties as the Group is not subject to any income taxes on the fair value changes of the investment properties on disposal.

IFRS 12.7(a)

4.1.4 Control over C Plus Limited

IFRS 12.9(b)

Note 19 describes that C Plus Limited is a subsidiary of the Group even though the Group has only a 45% ownership interest and has only 45% of the voting rights in C Plus Limited. C Plus Limited is listed on the stock exchange of A Land. The Group has held its 45% ownership since June 2013 and the remaining 55% of the ownership interests are held by thousands of shareholders that are unrelated to the Group.

The directors of the Company assessed whether or not the Group has control over C Plus Limited based on whether the Group has the practical ability to direct the relevant activities of C Plus Limited unilaterally. In making their judgement, the directors considered the Group's absolute size of holding in C Plus Limited and the relative size of and dispersion of the shareholdings owned by the other shareholders. After assessment, the directors concluded that the Group has a sufficiently dominant voting interest to direct the relevant activities of C Plus Limited and therefore the Group has control over C Plus Limited.

IFRS 12.7(a)

4.1.5 Control over Subtwo Limited

IFRS 12.9(b)

Note 19 describes that Subtwo Limited is a subsidiary of the Group although the Group only owns a 45% ownership interest in Subtwo Limited. Based on the contractual arrangements between the Group and other investors, the Group has the power to appoint and remove the majority of the board of directors of Subtwo Limited that has the power to direct the relevant activities of Subtwo Limited. Therefore, the directors of the Company concluded that the Group has the practical ability to direct the relevant activities of Subtwo Limited unilaterally and hence the Group has control over Subtwo Limited.

IFRS 12.7(b)

4.1.6 Significant influence over B Plus Limited

IFRS 12.9(e)

Note 20 describes that B Plus Limited is an associate of the Group although the Group only owns a 17% ownership interest in B Plus Limited. The Group has significant influence over B Plus Limited by virtue of its contractual right to appoint two out of seven directors to the board of directors of that company.

IFRS 12.7(b), (c)

4.1.7 <u>Classification of JV Electronics Limited as a joint venture</u>

JV Electronics Limited is a limited liability company whose legal form confers separation between the parties to the joint arrangement and the company itself. Furthermore, there is no contractual arrangement or any other facts and circumstances that indicate that the parties to the joint arrangement have rights to the assets and obligations for the liabilities of the joint arrangement. Accordingly, JV Electronics Limited is classified as a joint venture of the Group. See note 20A for details.

4.1.8 Discount rate used to determine the carrying amount of the Group's defined benefit obligation

The Group's defined benefit obligation is discounted at a rate set by reference to market yields at the end of the reporting period on high quality corporate bonds. Significant judgement is required when setting the criteria for bonds to be included in the population from which the yield curve is derived. The most significant criteria considered for the selection of bonds include the issue size of the corporate bonds, quality of the bonds and the identification of outliers which are excluded.

International GAAP Holdings Limited

IAS 1.125, 129

Notes to the consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2016 – continued 4.2 Key sources of estimation uncertainty

The following are the key assumptions concerning the future, and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of the reporting period that may have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year.

4.2.1 Recoverability of internally generated intangible asset

During the year, the directors considered the recoverability of the Group's internally generated intangible asset arising from its e-business development, which is included in the consolidated statement of financial position at 31 December 2016 with a carrying amount of CU0.5 million (31 December 2015: CU0.5 million).

The project continues to progress in a satisfactory manner, and customer reaction has reconfirmed the directors' previous estimates of anticipated revenues from the project. However, increased competitor activity has caused the directors to reconsider their assumptions and anticipated margins on these products. Detailed sensitivity analysis has been carried out and the directors are confident that the carrying amount of the asset will be recovered in full, even if returns are reduced. This situation will be closely monitored, and adjustments made in future periods if future market activity indicates that such adjustments are appropriate.

4.2.2 Impairment of goodwill

Determining whether goodwill is impaired requires an estimation of the value in use of the cash-generating units to which goodwill has been allocated. The value in use calculation requires the directors to estimate the future cash flows expected to arise from the cash-generating unit and a suitable discount rate in order to calculate present value. Where the actual future cash flows are less than expected, a material impairment loss may arise.

The carrying amount of goodwill at 31 December 2016 was CU20.5 million (31 December 2015: CU24.3 million) after an impairment loss of CU235,000 was recognised during 2016 (2015: nil). Details of the impairment loss calculation are set out in note 17.

4.2.3 Useful lives of property, plant and equipment

As described at 3.18 above, the Group reviews the estimated useful lives of property, plant and equipment at the end of each reporting period. During the current year, the directors determined that the useful lives of certain items of equipment should be shortened, due to developments in technology.

The financial effect of this reassessment, assuming the assets are held until the end of their estimated useful lives, is to increase the depreciation expense in the current financial year and for the next 3 years, by the following amounts:

	CU'000
2016	879
2017	607
2018	144
2019	102

4.2.4 Fair value measurements and valuation processes

Some of the Group's assets and liabilities are measured at fair value for financial reporting purposes. The board of directors of the Company has set up a valuation committee, which is headed up by the Chief Financial Officer of the Company, to determine the appropriate valuation techniques and inputs for fair value measurements.

IFRS 13.93(g), IFRS 13.IE65 In estimating the fair value of an asset or a liability, the Group uses market-observable data to the extent it is available. Where Level 1 inputs are not available, the Group engages third party qualified valuers to perform the valuation. The valuation committee works closely with the qualified external valuers to establish the appropriate valuation techniques and inputs to the model. The Chief Financial Officer reports the valuation committee's findings to the board of directors of the Company every quarter to explain the cause of fluctuations in the fair value of the assets and liabilities.

Information about the valuation techniques and inputs used in determining the fair value of various assets and liabilities are disclosed in notes 15, 16 and 40.

Source	International GAAP Holdings Limited		
	Notes to the consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2016 – continued		
	5. Revenue		
IAS 18.35(b)	The following is an analysis of the Group's revenue for the year from continuing operations (excluding investment income – see note 7).		
		Year ended	Year ended
		31/12/16	31/12/15
		CU'000	CU'000
IAS 18.35(b)	Revenue from the sale of goods	119,248	129,087
IAS 18.35(b)	Revenue from the rendering of services	16,388	18,215
IAS 11.39(a)	Construction contract revenue	5,298	4,773
		140,934	152,075

6. Segment information

Commentary:

When are entities required to present segment information?

The following segment information is required by IFRS 8 Operating Segments to be presented in the consolidated financial statements of a group with a parent (and in the separate or individual financial statements of an entity):

- whose debt or equity instruments are traded in a public market (a domestic or foreign stock exchange or an over-the-counter market, including local and regional markets); or
- that files, or is in the process of filing, its (consolidated) financial statements with a securities commission or other regulatory organisation for the purpose of issuing any class of instruments in a public market.

What needs to be disclosed when entities aggregate operating segments into a single operating segment?

IFRS 8.22 requires entities to give a brief description of the operating segments that have been aggregated and the economic indicators that have been assessed in determining the aggregated operating segments share similar economic characteristics.

According to IFRS 8.12, two or more operating segments may be aggregated into a single operating segment if the segments have similar economic characteristics and the segments are similar in each of the following respects:

- the nature of the products and services;
- the nature of the production processes;
- the type or class of customer for their products and services;
- the methods used to distribute their products or provide their services; and
- if applicable, the nature of the regulatory environment, for example, banking, insurance or public utilities.

Source International GAAP Holdings Limited

Notes to the consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2016 – continued 6.1 Products and services from which reportable segments derive their revenues

IFRS 8.22

Information reported to the chief operating decision maker (CODM) for the purposes of resource allocation and assessment of segment performance focuses on the types of goods or services delivered or provided, and in respect of the 'electronic equipment' and 'leisure goods' operations, the information is further analysed based on the different classes of customers. The directors of the Company have chosen to organise the Group around differences in products and services. No operating segments have been aggregated in arriving at the reportable segments of the Group.

Specifically, the Group's reportable segments under IFRS 8 are as follows:

Electronic equipmentLeisure goods – direct sales

wholesalersinternet sales

Leisure goods – wholesalers

- retail outlets

Computer software – Installation of computer software for specialised business applications

Construction - Construction of residential properties.

The leisure goods segments supply sports shoes and equipment, as well as outdoor play equipment.

IFRS 8.22(aa)

The electronic equipment (direct sales) segment includes a number of direct sales operations in various cities within Country A each of which is considered as a separate operating segment by the CODM. For financial statements presentation purposes, these individual operating segments have been aggregated into a single operating segment taking into account the following factors:

- these operating segments have similar long-term gross profit margins;
- the nature of the products and production processes are similar; and
- the methods used to distribute the products to the customers are the same.
- [Other factors, please specify]

Two operations (the manufacture and sale of toys and bicycles) were discontinued in the current year. The segment information reported on the next pages does not include any amounts for these discontinued operations, which are described in more detail in note 11.

Source	International GAAP Ho	oldings Limited				
	Notes to the consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2016 – continued					
	6.2 Segment revenues a	nd results				
IFRS 8.23, 23(a)	The following is an analys	sis of the Group's revenu	e and results from	continuing opera	tions by reportab	le segment.
			Seg	gment revenue	0	Segment profit
			Year ended 31/12/16	Year ended 31/12/15	Year ended 31/12/16	Year endec 31/12/15
			CU'000	CU'000	CU'000	CU'000
	Electronic equipment	– direct sales	37,525	39,876	6,621	9,333
		– wholesalers	20,194	22,534	6,618	5,954
		– internet sales	27,563	29,699	6,604	5,567
	Leisure goods	– wholesalers	13,514	18,332	3,252	4,110
		– retail outlets	20,452	18,646	4,921	4,372
	Computer software		16,388	18,215	3,201	5,260
	Construction		5,298	4,773	389	1,500
IFRS 8.28(a)	Total for continuing opera	ations	140,934	152,075	31,606	36,096
	Share of profit of associa	tes			866	1,209
	Share of profit of a joint v	enture			337	242
	Gain recognised on dispo in former associate	osal of interest			581	-
	Investment income				3,633	2,396
	Other gains and losses				647	1,005
	Central administration co	osts and directors'			(2,933)	(2,666)
	Finance costs			-	(4,420)	(6,025
IFRS 8.28(b)	Profit before tax (continu	ing operations)			30,317	32,257
IFRS 8.23(b)	Segment revenue reporte segment sales in the curr		enue generated fro	m external custo	mers. There were	no inter-
IFRS 8.27	The accounting policies of in note 3. Segment profit administration costs and recognised on disposal of finance costs. This is the allocation and assessments	represents the profit be directors' salaries, share f interest in former assoc measure reported to the	fore tax earned by e of profit of associa ciate, investment in e chief operating de	each segment wi ates, share of pro come, other gain	thout allocation o fit of a joint ventu s and losses, as w	f central re, gain rell as

Source	International GAAP Ho	ldings Limited			
	Notes to the consolidat	ted financial statements for the year ended 31 D	ecember 2016 – contin	ued	
	6.3 Segment assets and	liabilities			
			31/12/16	31/12/15	
			CU'000	CU'000	
IFRS 8.23, 28(c)	Segment assets				
	Electronic equipment	– direct sales	48,800	45,078	
		– wholesalers	46,258	33,760	
		– internet sales	42,648	32,817	
	Leisure goods	– wholesalers	29,851	33,942	
		– retail outlets	16,300	18,749	
	Computer software		16,732	14,873	
	Construction		11,724	15,610	
	Total segment assets		212,313	194,829	
	Assets relating to toy and	bicycle operations (now discontinued)	22,336	36,527	
	Unallocated		31,137	27,880	
	Consolidated total assets		265,786	259,236	
	consolidated total assets		203,700	233,230	
IFRS 8.23, 28(d)	Segment liabilities				
	Electronic equipment	– direct sales	7,046	6,819	
		– wholesalers	4,935	3,422	
		– internet sales	3,783	3,784	
	Leisure goods	– wholesalers	3,152	3,262	
		– retail outlets	2,278	2,581	
	Computer software		1,266	1,565	
	Construction		1,433	1,832	
	Total segment liabilities		23,893	23,265	
	Liabilities relating to toy a	nd bicycle operations (now discontinued)	3,684	4,982	
	Unallocated		63,233	62,655	
	Consolidated total liabiliti	es	90,810	90,902	
IFRS 8.27	For the purposes of monitoring segment performance and allocating resources between segments:				
	'other financial assets', a	to reportable segments other than interests in associa and current and deferred tax assets. Goodwill is allocat Assets used jointly by reportable segments are allocat portable segments; and	ated to reportable segme	nts as	
		d to reportable segments other than borrowings, 'oth es. Liabilities for which reportable segments are jointl assets.		rent	

Source	International GAAP Ho	idings Limited				
	Notes to the consolidat	ted financial statemer	nts for the year e	nded 31 Deceml	ber 2016 – conti	nued
	6.4 Other segment infor	mation				
FRS 8.23(e), 24(b)			De	preciation and amortisation	non-	Additions to current assets
			Year ended 31/12/16	Year ended 31/12/15	Year ended 31/12/16	Year ended 31/12/15
			CU'000	CU'000	CU'000	CU'000
	Electronic equipment	– direct sales	2,597	2,039	4,695	2,682
		- wholesalers	2,607	2,466	1,770	1,023
		- internet sales	2,067	2,329	3,205	2,024
	Leisure goods	- wholesalers	2,014	2,108	5,880	1,547
		– retail outlets	1,889	3,240	4,234	2,901
	Computer software		756	1,017	2,195	1,901
	Construction		294	370	500	384
			12,224	13,569	22,479	12,462
5DC 0.00(I)					6.61.14.00.4	(0045 11)
	I la addition to the decree:	ation and amortication r	anortad shova imr	nairment Insses d	of CU1.204 million	(2015: nil) and
FRS 8.23(i) AS 36.129	In addition to the deprecial CU235,000 (2015: nil) wer impairment losses were a	e recognised in respect	of property, plant a	nd equipment ar		
	CU235,000 (2015: nil) wer	e recognised in respect	of property, plant a	nd equipment ar		
	CU235,000 (2015: nil) wer	e recognised in respect ttributable to the follow	of property, plant a ing reportable segr	nd equipment ar nents.	nd goodwill, respe	ctively. These
	CU235,000 (2015: nil) wer impairment losses were a	e recognised in respect ttributable to the follow gnised for the year in re – direct sales	of property, plant a ing reportable segr	nd equipment ar nents.	nd goodwill, respe	ctively. These
	CU235,000 (2015: nil) wer impairment losses were a	e recognised in respect ttributable to the follow	of property, plant a ing reportable segr	nd equipment ar nents.	nd goodwill, respe	CU'000 529 285
	CU235,000 (2015: nil) wer impairment losses were a	e recognised in respect ttributable to the follow gnised for the year in re – direct sales	of property, plant a ing reportable segr	nd equipment ar nents.	nd goodwill, respe	ctively. These CU'000
	CU235,000 (2015: nil) wer impairment losses were a	e recognised in respect ttributable to the follow gnised for the year in re – direct sales – wholesalers	of property, plant a ing reportable segr	nd equipment ar nents.	nd goodwill, respe	CU'000 529 285
	CU235,000 (2015: nil) wer impairment losses were a Impairment losses recog Electronic equipment	e recognised in respect ttributable to the follow gnised for the year in re - direct sales - wholesalers - internet sales	of property, plant a ing reportable segr	nd equipment ar nents.	nd goodwill, respe	CU'000 529 285 390
	CU235,000 (2015: nil) wer impairment losses were a	e recognised in respect ttributable to the follow gnised for the year in re - direct sales - wholesalers - internet sales	of property, plant a ing reportable segr	nd equipment ar nents.	nd goodwill, respe	CU'000 529 285 390
	CU235,000 (2015: nil) wer impairment losses were a	e recognised in respect ttributable to the follow gnised for the year in re – direct sales – wholesalers	of property, plant a ing reportable segr	nd equipment ar nents.	nd goodwill, respe	

Notes to the consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2016 – continued 6.5 Revenue from major products and services

IFRS 8.32

The following is an analysis of the Group's revenue from continuing operations from its major products and services.

	0 1	, i	
		Year ended 31/12/16	Year ended 31/12/15
		CU'000	CU'000
Electronic equipment		85,282	92,109
Sports shoes		11,057	11,850
Sports equipment		9,946	11,000
Outdoor play equipment		12,963	14,128
Installation of computer software		16,388	18,215
Construction		5,298	4,773
		140,934	152,075

6.6 Geographical information

IFRS 8.33(a),(b)

The Group operates in three principal geographical areas – A Land (country of domicile), B Land and C Land.

The Group's revenue from continuing operations from external customers by location of operations and information about its non-current assets* by location of assets are detailed below.

	exter	Revenue from external customers		rrent assets*
	Year ended 31/12/16	Year ended 31/12/15	31/12/16	31/12/15
	CU'000	CU'000	CU'000	CU'000
A Land	84,202	73,971	94,085	84,675
B Land	25,898	43,562	21,411	25,745
C Land	25,485	25,687	19,085	22,341
Other	5,349	8,855	5,826	8,809
	140,934	152,075	140,407	141,570

^{*} Non-current assets exclude those relating to toy and bicycle operations and non-current assets classified as held for sale, and exclude financial instruments, deferred tax assets, post-employment benefit assets, and assets arising from insurance contracts.

6.7 Information about major customers

IFRS 8.34

Included in revenues arising from direct sales of electronic equipment of CU37.5 million (2015: CU39.9 million) (see note 6.2 above) are revenues of approximately CU25.6 million (2015: CU19.8 million) which arose from sales to the Group's largest customer. No other single customers contributed 10% or more to the Group's revenue for both 2016 and 2015.

dings Limited	
ed financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2016 – co	ontinued
Year ende 31/12/	
CU'00	00 CU'000
t rental income	
ncome:	
	18 14
ome	
	18 14
1,65	50 541
ments 15	54 98
bles	56 5
ments 44	410
	<u>-</u>
2,3	1,054
	79 28
estments 15	56 154
aterial items) 1,00	55 1,146
3,63	_
s of investment income by category of asset.	
Year ende	ed Year ended
31/12/	
CU'00	OO CU'000
assets 15	54 98
luding cash and bank balances) 1,7	16 546
ents 44	45 410
- /3	15 1,054
on available-for-sale financial assets	56 154
	_
	ed on financial assets that are not designated profit or loss an available-for-sale financial assets d on non-financial assets 1,16 3,63 Il assets classified as at fair value through profit or loss is included in 'other

Source	International GAAP Holdings Limited					
	Notes to the consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2016 – continued					
	8. Other gains and losses					
		Year ended 31/12/16	Year ended 31/12/15			
		CU'000	CU'000			
	Continuing operations					
IAS 1.98(c)	Gain/(loss) on disposal of property, plant and equipment	6	67			
IAS 1.98(d)	Gain/(loss) on disposal of available-for-sale investments	-	-			
IFRS 7.20(a)	Cumulative gain/(loss) reclassified from equity on disposal of available-for-sale investments	-	-			
IFRS 7.20(a)	Cumulative loss reclassified from equity on impairment of available-for-sale investments	-	-			
IAS 21.52(a)	Net foreign exchange gains/(losses)	819	474			
	Gain arising on effective settlement of legal claim against Subseven Limited (note 44)	40	-			
IFRS 7.20(a)	Net gain/(loss) arising on financial assets designated as at FVTPL	_	-			
IFRS 7.20(a)	Net gain/(loss) arising on financial liabilities designated as at FVTPL (i)	(488)	-			
IFRS 7.20(a)	Net gain/(loss) arising on financial assets classified as held for trading (ii)	202	99			
IFRS 7.20(a)	Net gain/(loss) arising on financial liabilities classified as held for trading (iii)	(51)	-			
IAS 40.76(d)	Gain/(loss) arising on changes in fair value of investment property	30	297			
IFRS 7.24(b)	Hedge ineffectiveness on cash flow hedges	89	68			
IFRS 7.24(c)	Hedge ineffectiveness on net investment hedges					
	_	647	1,005			

- (i) The net loss on these financial liabilities designated as at FVTPL includes a gain of CU125,000 resulting from the decrease in fair value of the liabilities, offset by dividends of CU613,000 paid during the year.
- (ii) The amount represents a net gain on non-derivative held for trading financial assets (see note 22) and comprises an increase in fair value of CU202,000 (2015: CU99,000), including interest of CU46,000 received during the year (2015: CU27,000).
- (iii) The amount represents a net loss arising on an interest rate swap that economically hedges the fair value of the redeemable cumulative preference shares, but for which hedge accounting is not applied (see note 34). The net loss on the interest rate swap comprises an increase in fair value of CU51,000 of the swap, including interest of CU3,000 paid during the year.

No other gains or losses have been recognised in respect of loans and receivables or held-to-maturity investments, other than as disclosed in notes 7 and 9 and impairment losses recognised/reversed in respect of trade receivables (see notes 13 and 25).

Source	International GAAP Holdings Limited		
	Notes to the consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December 1	oer 2016 – conti	nued
	9. Finance costs		
		Year ended 31/12/16	Year ended 31/12/15
		CU'000	CU'000
	Continuing operations		
	Interest on bank overdrafts and loans (other than those from related parties)	3,058	3,533
	Interest on loans from related parties	1,018	2,52
	Interest on obligations under finance leases	75	54
	Interest on convertible notes	110	-
	Interest on perpetual notes	52	-
	Interest on interest-free government loans	188	_
	Other interest expense	25	
EDC 7.20/b)	Tabel interest average for financial link liting not along find an at EVTDI	4.526	C 100
FRS 7.20(b)	Total interest expense for financial liabilities not classified as at FVTPL	4,526	6,108
AS 23.26(a)	Less: amounts included in the cost of qualifying assets	(11)	(27)
	_	4,515	6,081
FRS 7.24(a)	Loss/(gain) arising on derivatives as designated hedging instruments in fair value hedges	5	_
FRS 7.24(a)	(Gain)/loss arising on adjustment for hedged item attributable to the hedged risk in a designated fair value hedge accounting relationship	(5)	-
	_		_
FRS 7.23(d)	(Gain)/loss arising on interest rate swaps as designated hedging instruments in cash flow hedges of floating rate debt reclassified from equity to profit or loss	(123)	(86)
	Unwinding of discounts on provisions	28	30
FRS 5.17	Unwinding of discount on costs to sell non-current assets classified as held for sale	_	_
. 113 3.17	Other finance costs		
		4,420	6,025
IAS 23.26(b)	The weighted average capitalisation rate on funds borrowed generally is 8.0% per ann	um (2015: 7.8% p	per annum).
	Finance costs relating to financial liabilities classified as at fair value through profit or k	oss are included i	in other gains
	and losses' in note 8.	J33 are included	in other gains

Source	International GAAP Holdings Limited		
	Notes to the consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 Decemb	er 2016 – conti	nued
	10. Income taxes relating to continuing operations		
	10.1 Income tax recognised in profit or loss		
		Year ended	Year ended
		31/12/16	31/12/15
		CU'000	CU'000
IAS 12.79	Current tax		
	In respect of the current year	10,241	11,454
	In respect of prior years	_	_
	Others [describe]	_	_
	_	10,241	11,454
IAS 12.80	Deferred tax		
	In respect of the current year	1,394	300
	Deferred tax reclassified from equity to profit or loss	(150)	(86)
	Adjustments to deferred tax attributable to changes in tax rates and laws	_	-
	Write-downs (reversals of previous write-downs) of deferred tax assets	_	-
	Others [describe]	-	-
	_	1,244	214
	Total income tax expense recognised in the current year relating to continuing operations	11,485	11,668
IAS 12.81(c)	The income tax expense for the year can be reconciled to the accounting profit as follo		
		Year ended 31/12/16	Year ended 31/12/15
	_	CU'000	CU'000
	Profit before tax from continuing operations	30,317	32,257
	Income tax expense calculated at 30% (2015: 30%)	9,095	9,677
	Effect of income that is exempt from taxation	(39)	(90)
	Effect of expenses that are not deductible in determining taxable profit	2,488	2,142
	Effect of concessions (research and development and other allowances)	(75)	(66)
	Impairment losses on goodwill that are not deductible	5	-
	Effect of unused tax losses and tax offsets not recognised as deferred tax assets	-	-
	Effect of previously unrecognised and unused tax losses and deductible temporary differences now recognised as deferred tax assets	-	_
	Effect of different tax rates of subsidiaries operating in other jurisdictions	11	5
IAS 12.81(d)	Effect on deferred tax balances due to the change in income tax rate from xx% to xx% (effective [insert date])	-	-
	Others [describe]	_	_
		11,485	11,668
	Adjustments recognised in the current year in relation to the current tax of prior years	-	-
	Income tax expense recognised in profit or loss (relating to continuing operations)	11,485	11,668
IAS 12.81(c)	The tax rate used for the 2016 and 2015 reconciliations above is the corporate tax rate entities in A Land on taxable profits under tax law in that jurisdiction.	of 30% payable	by corporate

Source	International GAAP Holdings Limited				
	Notes to the consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2016 – continued				
IAS 12.81(a)	10.2 Income tax recognised directly in equity				
		Year ended 31/12/16	Year ended 31/12/15		
		CU'000	CU'000		
	Current tax				
	Share issue costs	(1)	-		
	Share buy-back costs	(8)	-		
	Others [describe]				
		(9)	_		
	Deferred tax				
	Arising on transactions with owners:				
	Initial recognition of the equity component of convertible notes	242	-		
	Share issue and buy-back expenses deductible over 5 years	(75)	-		
	Excess tax deductions related to share-based payments	-	-		
	Others [describe]				
		167			
	Total income tax recognised directly in equity	158	_		

Source	International GAAP Holdings Limited					
	Notes to the consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2016 – continued					
IAS 12.81(ab)	10.3 Income tax recognised in other comprehensive income					
		Year ended 31/12/16	Year ended 31/12/15			
		CU'000	CU'000			
	Current tax					
	Others [describe]					
	Deferred tax					
	Arising on income and expenses recognised in other comprehensive income:					
	Translation of foreign operations	22	36			
	Fair value remeasurement of hedging instruments entered into for a hedge of a net investment in a foreign operation	(4)	-			
	Fair value remeasurement of available-for-sale financial assets	28	24			
	Fair value remeasurement of hedging instruments entered into for cash flow hedges	131	95			
	Property revaluations	493	-			
	Remeasurement of defined benefit obligation	242	57			
	Others [describe]					
		912	212			
	Arising on income and expenses reclassified from equity to profit or loss:					
	Relating to cash flow hedges	(37)	(26)			
	Relating to available-for-sale financial assets	_	_			
	On disposal of a foreign operation	(36)				
		(73)	(26)			
	Arising on gains/losses of hedging instruments in cash flow hedges transferred to the initial carrying amounts of hedged items	(77)	(60)			
	Total income tax recognised in other comprehensive income	762	126			

Source	International GAAP Holdings Limited		
	Notes to the consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 Dece	ember 2016 – contin	ued
	10.4 Current tax assets and liabilities		
		31/12/16	31/12/15
		CU'000	CU'000
	Current tax assets		
	Benefit of tax losses to be carried back to recover taxes paid in prior periods	-	-
	Tax refund receivable	125	60
	Others [describe]		
		125	60
	Current tax liabilities		
	Income tax payable	5,328	5,927
	Others [describe]		
		5,328	5,927
	10.5 Deferred tax balances		
	The following is the analysis of deferred tax assets/(liabilities) presented in the conposition:	solidated statement o	f financial
		31/12/16	31/12/15
		CU'000	CU'000
	Deferred tax assets	2,083	1,964
	Deferred tax liabilities	(6,782)	(5,224)
		(4,699)	(3,260)

Source	International GAAP Holdings Limited		
	Notes to the consolidated financial statements for the	he vear ended 31 December 2016 –	continued
IAS 12.81(a),(g)		Opening balance	Recognised in
		2 5 2 8 22	profit or loss
	2016	CLUOO	CU'000
	Deferred tax (liabilities)/assets in relation to:	CU'000	CO 000
	Cash flow hedges	(119)	-
	Net investment hedges	_	-
	Associates	(1,101)	(260)
	Joint venture	(247)	(101)
	Property, plant & equipment Finance leases	(2,580)	(1,404)
	Intangible assets	(22) (572)	18 196
	FVTPL financial assets	(3/2)	-
	AFS financial assets	(226)	-
	Deferred revenue	34	12
	Convertible notes	-	9
	Exchange difference on foreign operations	(14)	-
	Provisions Doubtful debts	1,672 251	42
	Defined benefit obligation	(162)	(8) 132
	Other financial liabilities	5	2
	Unclaimed share issue and buy-back costs	_	-
	Others [describe]	(181)	(32)
		(3,262)	(1,394)
	Tax losses Others	-	-
	Others	2	
		(3,260)	(1,394)
IAS 12.81(a),(g)	2015		
	Deferred tax (liabilities)/assets in relation to:		
	Cash flow hedges	(110)	-
	Associates	(738)	(363)
	Joint venture Property, plant & equipment	(174) (2,448)	(73) (132)
	Finance leases	(29)	7
	Intangible assets	(669)	97
	FVTPL financial assets	-	-
	AFS financial assets	(202)	-
	Deferred revenue	20	14
	Exchange difference on foreign operations Provisions	22 1,692	(20)
	Doubtful debts	1,092	(20) 129
	Defined benefit obligation	(232)	127
	Other financial liabilities	9	(4)
	Others [describe]	(97)	(84)
		(2,834)	(302)
	Tax losses	-	_
	Others		2 2
		_	<u>Z</u>
		(2,834)	(300)

Closing balance	Liabilities associated with assets classified as held for sale (note 12)	Acquisitions/ disposals	Reclassified from equity to profit or loss	Recognised directly in equity	Recognised in other comprehensive income
CU'000	CU'000	CU'000	CU'000	CU'000	CU'000
(136) 4	- -	-	114	-	(131) 4
(1,361) (348)	-	-	-	-	-
(3,589)	430	458	-	_	(493)
(4) (376)		-	-		-
-	-	-	-	-	-
(254)	-	-	-	-	(28)
46 (233)	_	_	-	(242)	-
(233)	_	_	36	_	(22)
1,714	-	-	-	-	-
239 (272)	-	(4)	-	-	- (242)
7	_	_	_	_	(242)
75	-	-	-	75	-
(213)					
(4,701)	430	454	150	(167)	(912)
			-		
2		_			
(4,699)	430	454	150	(167)	(912)
(119)	_	_	86	_	(95)
(1,101)	_	_	-	_	_
(247)					
(2,580) (22)	_	_	-	-	
(572)	-	-	_	_	-
-	_	_	-	_	-
(226) 34	-	-	-	-	(24)
(14)	_ _		_ _		(36)
1,672	-	_	-	_	_
251	-	_	_	-	-
(162) 5	_	_	_	_	(57)
(181)	-	_	_	_	-
(3,262)		_	86	_	(212)
-	-	-	-	-	-
2		_			
(3,260)			86		(212)

Source	International GAAP Holdings Limited		
<u> </u>	Notes to the consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 Decemb	er 2016 – contin	ued
	10.6 Unrecognised deductible temporary differences, unused tax losses and unuse	d tax credits	
		31/12/16	31/12/15
		CU'000	CU'000
IAS 12.81(e)	Deductible temporary differences, unused tax losses and unused tax credits for which no deferred tax assets have been recognised are attributable to the following:		
	– tax losses (revenue in nature)	-	-
	– tax losses (capital in nature)	-	-
	- unused tax credits (note)	11	11
	– deductible temporary differences [describe]		_
	_	11	11
	Note: The unrecognised tax credits will expire in 2018.		
	10.7 Unrecognised taxable temporary differences associated with investments an	d interests	
		31/12/16	31/12/15
		CU'000	CU'000
IAS 12.81(f)	Taxable temporary differences in relation to investments in subsidiaries, branches and associates and interests in joint ventures for which deferred tax liabilities have not been recognised are attributable to the following:		
	- domestic subsidiaries	120	125
	– foreign subsidiaries	-	-
	– associates and joint ventures	_	_
	- others [describe]	-	-
	-	120	125
	11. Discontinued operations		
	11.1 Disposal of toy manufacturing operations		
IFRS 5.30 IFRS 5.41	On 28 September 2016, the Company entered into a sale agreement to dispose of Sub out all of the Group's toy manufacturing operations. The proceeds of sale substantially amount of the related net assets and, accordingly, no impairment losses were recognis of these operations as held for sale. The disposal of the toy manufacturing operations long-term policy to focus its activities in the electronic equipment and other leisure go completed on 30 November 2016, on which date control of the toy manufacturing ope Details of the assets and liabilities disposed of, and the calculation of the profit or loss in note 45.	exceeded the car ed on the reclassi is consistent with ods markets. The rations passed to	rying ification the Group's disposal was the acquirer.
	11.2 Plan to dispose of the bicycle business		
IFRS 5.30 IFRS 5.41	On 30 November 2016, the directors announced a plan to dispose of the Group's bicyc is consistent with the Group's long-term policy to focus its activities on the electronic egoods markets. The Group is actively seeking a buyer for its bicycle business and expe 31 July 2017. The Group has not recognised any impairment losses in respect of the bic the assets and liabilities of the operation were reclassified as held for sale nor at the er (see note 12).	quipment and oth cts to complete th cycle business, nei	ner leisure ne sale by ther when

Source	International GAAP Holdings Limited		
	Notes to the consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 Dece	mber 2016 – conti	nued
	11.3 Analysis of profit for the year from discontinued operations		
	The combined results of the discontinued operations (i.e. toy and bicycle businesse year are set out below. The comparative profit and cash flows from discontinued op to include those operations classified as discontinued in the current year.		
		Year ended	Year ended
		31/12/16	31/12/15
		CU'000	CU'000
IFRS 5.33(b)	Profit for the year from discontinued operations		
	Revenue	64,405	77,843
	Other gains	30	49
		64,435	77,892
	Expenses	(54,905)	(64,899)
	Profit before tax	9,530	12,993
IAS 12.81(h)	Attributable income tax expense	(2,524)	(2,998)
	The instable intering tax expense	(2/32 1)	(2,330)
		7,006	9,995
	Loss on remeasurement to fair value less costs to sell	_	-
	Gain/(loss) on disposal of operation including a cumulative exchange gain of CU120,000 reclassified from foreign currency translation reserve to profit or loss (see note 45)	1,940	-
IAS 12.81(h)	Attributable income tax expense	(636)	-
		1,304	_
IFRS 5.33(d)	Profit for the year from discontinued operations (attributable to owners of the		
11 NO 0.00(a)	Company)	8,310	9,995
		V 1 1	
		Year ended 31/12/16	Year ended 31/12/15
		CU'000	CU'000
IEDG E 004)			
IFRS 5.33(c)	Cash flows from discontinued operations Not each inflows from operating activities	6 201	7.070
	Net cash inflows from operating activities Net cash inflows from investing activities	6,381 2,767	7,078
	Net cash outflows from financing activities	(5,000)	_
	Net cash inflows	4,148	7,078
	The bicycle business has been classified and accounted for at 31 December 2016 as (see note 12).	s a disposal group h	eid for sale

Source	International GAAP Holdings Limited		
	Notes to the consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31	December 2016 – contin	ued
	12. Assets classified as held for sale		
		31/12/16	31/12/15
		CU'000	CU'000
	Freehold land held for sale (i)	1,260	
	Assets related to bicycle business (ii)	21,076	_
	Assets related to bicycle business (ii)		
		22,336	_
	Liabilities associated with assets held for sale (ii)	3,684	_
IFRS 5.41	The property located on the freehold land was previously used in the Grofully depreciated. A search is underway for a buyer. No impairment loss words of the land as held for sale nor as at 31 December 2016 as the directors of value (estimated based on the recent market prices of similar properties is sell is higher than the carrying amount. (ii) As described in note 11, the Group plans to dispose of its bicycle business.	as recognised on reclassific f the Company expect that n similar locations) less cos	cation the fair sts to
IFRS 5.38	will be completed by 31 July 2017. The Group is currently in negotiation with directors of the Company expect that the fair value less costs to sell of the aggregate carrying amount of the related assets and liabilities. Therefore, on reclassification of the assets and liabilities as held for sale nor as at 31 of assets and liabilities of the bicycle business at the end of the reporting	th some potential buyers a business will be higher th no impairment loss was re December 2016. The majo	nd the an the cognised
			31/12/16
		_	CU'000
	Goodwill		1,147
	Property, plant and equipment		16,944
	Inventories		2,090
	Trade receivables		720
	Cash and bank balances	_	175
	Assets of bicycle business classified as held for sale	_	21,076
	Trade payables		(3,254)
	Current tax liabilities		-
	Deferred tax liabilities	_	(430)
	Liabilities of bicycle business associated with assets classified as held for sale	-	(3,684)
	Net assets of bicycle business classified as held for sale	_	17,392

Source	International GAAP Holdings Limited		
	Notes to the consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 Decem	ber 2016 – conti	nued
	13. Profit for the year from continuing operations		
IFRS 5.33(d)	Profit for the year from continuing operations is attributable to:		
		Year ended 31/12/16	Year ended 31/12/15
		CU'000	CU'000
	Owners of the Company	14,440	17,362
	Non-controlling interests	4,392	3,227
		18,832	20,589
	Profit for the year from continuing operations has been arrived at after charging (cred	liting):	
		Year ended 31/12/16	Year ended 31/12/15
		CU'000	CU'000
IFRS 7.20(e)	13.1 Impairment losses on financial assets		
	Impairment loss on trade receivables (see note 25)	63	430
	Impairment loss on available-for-sale equity investments Impairment loss on available-for-sale debt investments	-	_
	Impairment loss on held-to-maturity financial assets	-	-
	Impairment loss on loans carried at amortised cost		
		63	430
	Reversal of impairment losses on trade receivables	(103)	
	13.2 Depreciation and amortisation expense		
	Depreciation of property, plant and equipment	10,632	12,013
IAS 38.118(d)	Amortisation of intangible assets (included in [cost of sales/depreciation and amortisation expense/administrative expense/other expenses])	1,592	1,556
IAS 1.104	Total depreciation and amortisation expense	12,224	13,569
IAS 40.75(f)	13.3 Direct operating expenses arising from investment property		
	Direct operating expenses from investment property that generated rental income during the year	1	2
	Direct operating expenses from investment property that did not generate rental income during the year		
		1	2
IAS 38.126	13.4 Research and development costs expensed as incurred	502	440

Source	International GAAP Holdings Limited		
	Notes to the consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 Decem	ber 2016 – conti	nued
		Year ended 31/12/16	Year ended 31/12/15
		CU'000	CU'000
	13.5 Employee benefits expense		
	Post-employment benefits (see note 39)		
IAS 19.51	Defined contribution plans	160	148
IAS 19.56-60	Defined benefit plans	896	440
		1,056	588
IFRS 2.50	Share-based payments (see note 42.1)		
IFRS 2.51(a)	Equity-settled share-based payments	206	338
IFRS 2.51(a)	Cash-settled share-based payments		
		206	338
IAS 19.165, 169	Termination benefits	_	-
	Other employee benefits	9,291	11,025
IAS 1.104	Total employee benefits expense	10,553	11,951
	13.6 Exceptional rectification costs		
IAS 1.97	Costs of CU4.17 million have been recognised during the year in respect of rectificati goods supplied to one of the Group's major customers, which have been included in and employee benefits expense] (2015: nil). The amount represents the estimated coaccordance with an agreed schedule of works up to 2018. CU1.112 million of the proveurrent year, with a provision of CU3.058 million carried forward to meet anticipated (see note 35).	[cost of sales/cost ost of work to be ca ision has been util	of inventories arried out in ised in the

Notes to the consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2016 – continued 14. Earnings per share

Commentary:

IAS

IAS

IAS 33 Earnings per Share requires that earnings per share (EPS) information be presented in the consolidated financial statements of a group with a parent (and in the separate or individual financial statements of an entity):

- whose ordinary shares or potential ordinary shares are traded in a public market (a domestic or foreign stock exchange or an over-the-counter market, including local or regional markets); or
- that files, or is in the process of filing, its (consolidated) financial statements with a securities commission or other regulatory organisation for the purpose of issuing ordinary shares in a public market.

If other entities choose to disclose EPS information voluntarily in their financial statements that comply with IFRSs, the disclosures in relation to the EPS information should comply fully with the requirements set out in IAS 33.

		Year ended	Year ended
		31/12/16	31/12/15
		Cents per	Cents per
		share	share
	Basic earnings per share		
	From continuing operations	82.1	85.7
S 33.68, 68A	From discontinued operations	47.7	49.7
	Total basic earnings per share	129.8	135.4
	Diluted earnings per share		
	From continuing operations	71.9	81.7
S 33.68, 68A	From discontinued operations	41.5	47.3
	Total diluted earnings per share	113.4	129.0

Source	International GAAP Holdings Limited		
	Notes to the consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December 1	oer 2016 – conti	nued
IAS 33.70(a)	14.1 Basic earnings per share		
	The earnings and weighted average number of ordinary shares used in the calculation are as follows.	of basic earning	s per share
		Year ended 31/12/16	Year ended 31/12/15
		CU'000	CU'000
	Profit for the year attributable to owners of the Company	22,750	27,357
	Dividends paid on convertible non-participating preference shares	(120)	(110)
	Earnings used in the calculation of basic earnings per share	22,630	27,247
	Profit for the year from discontinued operations used in the calculation of basic earnings per share from discontinued operations	(8,310)	(9,995)
	Others [describe]		_
	Earnings used in the calculation of basic earnings per share from continuing operations	14,320	17,252
		Year ended 31/12/16	Year ended 31/12/15
	-	′000	′000
IAS 33.70(b)	Weighted average number of ordinary shares for the purposes of basic earnings per share	17,432	20,130
	14.2 Diluted earnings per share		
IAS 33.70(a)	The earnings used in the calculation of diluted earnings per share are as follows.		
		Year ended 31/12/16	Year ended 31/12/15
		CU'000	CU'000
	Earnings used in the calculation of basic earnings per share	22,630	27,247
	Interest on convertible notes (after tax at 30%)	77	
	Earnings used in the calculation of diluted earnings per share	22,707	27,247
	Profit for the year from discontinued operations used in the calculation of diluted earnings per share from discontinued operations	(8,310)	(9,995)
	Others [describe]		
	Earnings used in the calculation of diluted earnings per share from continuing operations	14,397	17,252

	International GAAP Holdings Limited					
	Notes to the consolidated financial statem	ents for th	e year ended	31 December	r 2016 – contir	nued
IAS 33.70(b)	The weighted average number of ordinary shares us weighted average number of ordinary shares us					
					Year ended 31/12/16	Year ended 31/12/15
					'000	'000
	Weighted average number of ordinary shares us of basic earnings per share	sed in the ca	alculation		17,432	20,130
	Shares deemed to be issued for no consideration	on in respec	t of:			
	– employee options				161	85
	– partly paid ordinary shares				1,073	900
	– convertible notes				1,350	-
	– others [describe]				_	_
	Weighted average number of ordinary shares us of diluted earnings per share	sed in the ca	alculation		20,016	21,115
	[Describe]				31/12/16 - '000	31/12/15
	14.3 Impact of changes in accounting policies	i				
IAS 8.28(f)	Changes in the Group's accounting policies duri accounting policies affected only the Group's re have had an impact on results reported for 2010 earnings per share.	ing the year sults from c 6 and 2015,	ontinuing ope they have had	rations. To the an impact on t	extent that tho the amounts re	se changes
IAS 8.28(f)	Changes in the Group's accounting policies duri accounting policies affected only the Group's re have had an impact on results reported for 2010 earnings per share. The following table summarises that effect on b	ing the year sults from c 6 and 2015,	ontinuing ope they have had	rations. To the an impact on t	extent that tho the amounts re	se changes
IAS 8.28(f)	Changes in the Group's accounting policies duri accounting policies affected only the Group's re have had an impact on results reported for 2010 earnings per share.	ing the year sults from c 6 and 2015, oth basic are on of the ame oup's consol	ontinuing ope they have had nd diluted earn endments to IF	rations. To the an impact on the an impact on the sings per share. RSs has not res	extent that tho the amounts re	se changes ported for rospective
IAS 8.28(f)	Changes in the Group's accounting policies duri accounting policies affected only the Group's re have had an impact on results reported for 2010 earnings per share. The following table summarises that effect on be Commentary: In this model, despite the fact that the application restatement or reclassification of items in the Group's has been presented for illustrative purposes only in profit for attributable to the	ing the year isults from c 6 and 2015, both basic are in of the ame oup's consolution (decrease) or the year	ontinuing ope they have had nd diluted earn endments to IF lidated financia	rations. To the an impact on the an impact on the sings per share. RSs has not res	extent that tho the amounts re	rospective s note 14.3 e (decrease) in diluted
IAS 8.28(f)	Changes in the Group's accounting policies duri accounting policies affected only the Group's rehave had an impact on results reported for 2010 earnings per share. The following table summarises that effect on be Commentary: In this model, despite the fact that the application restatement or reclassification of items in the Group's has been presented for illustrative purposes only. Increase (in profit for attributable to the of the Year ended Y	ing the year isults from c 6 and 2015, with basic are on of the ame oup's consolution of the year the year ne owners	ontinuing ope they have had nd diluted earn endments to IF lidated financia	rations. To the an impact on the an impact on the sings per share. RSs has not result statements (some statements) in basic	extent that tho the amounts re	se changes ported for rospective

Changes in accounting policies relating to:

- Others (please specify)

Source	International GAAP Holdings Li	<u>. </u>				
	Notes to the consolidated finan	icial statement	s for the year e	nded 31 Decem	ıber 2016 – contin	ued
	15. Property, plant and equipme	ent				
					31/12/16	31/12/15
						CU'000
	Carrying amounts of:					
	Freehold land				13,868	15,050
	Buildings				8,132	11,169
	Plant and equipment				83,187	104,160
IAS 17.31(a)	Equipment under finance lease				28	162
					105,215	130,541
IAS 16.73(a)		Freehold	Buildings	Plant and	Equipment	Tota
IAS 16.73(d),(e)		land at	at revalued	equipment	under	
IAS16.74 (b)		revalued	amount	at cost	finance lease	
	_	amount -	CL HOOD	CL 110.00	at cost	CLUOOS
	Cost or valuation	CU'000	CU'000	CU'000	CU'000	CU'000
	Balance at 1 January 2015	15,610	12,659	152,107	630	181,006
	Additions	-	1,008	10,854	40	11,902
	Disposals	_	-	(27,298)	-	(27,298)
	Acquisitions through business combinations	-	-	(27,230)	-	(21,230
	Construction expenditure capitalised	-	_	-	-	-
	Reclassified as held for sale	_	_	_	_	_
	Revaluation increase	_	_	_	_	-
	Effect of foreign currency exchange differences	(560)	-	(288)	-	(848)
	Others [describe]					-
IFRS 13.93(e)	Balance at 31 December 2015	15,050	13,667	135,375	670	164,762
	Additions	-	-	21,473	-	21,473
	Disposals	(1,439)	(1,200)	(12,401)	(624)	(15,664)
	Transferred as consideration for acquisition of subsidiary	(400)	-	-	-	(400)
	Derecognised on disposal of a subsidiary	-	-	(8,419)	-	(8,419)
	Acquisitions through business combinations	-	-	512	-	512
	Reclassified as held for sale	(1,260)	(1,357)	(22,045)	_	(24,662)
IFRS 13.91(b)	Revaluation increase/(decrease)	1,608	37	_	-	1,645
	Effect of foreign currency exchange differences	309	-	1,673	-	1,982
	Others [describe]					-
	Balance at 31 December 2016	13,868	11,147	116,168	46	141,229

	Notes to the consolidated finan	cial statement	s for the year e	nded 31 Decem	iber 2016 – contini	ued
AS 16.73(a) AS 16.73(d),(e)		Freehold land at revalued amount	Buildings at revalued amount	Plant and equipment at cost	Equipment under finance lease at cost	Tota
	_	CU'000	CU'000	CU'000	CU'000	CU'000
	Accumulated depreciation and impo	airment				
	Balance at 1 January 2015	-	(1,551)	(21,865)	(378)	(23,794
	Eliminated on disposals of assets	_	-	4,610	-	4,610
	Eliminated on revaluation	_	-	-	-	-
	Eliminated on reclassification as held for sale	-	-	-	-	-
	Impairment losses recognised in profit or loss	-	-	-	-	-
	Reversals of impairment losses recognised in profit or loss	_	-	-	-	-
	Depreciation expense	-	(947)	(14,408)	(130)	(15,485
	Effect of foreign currency exchange differences	-	-	448	-	448
	Others [describe]					-
FRS 13.93(e)	Balance at 31 December 2015	_	(2,498)	(31,215)	(508)	(34,221
	Eliminated on disposals of assets	_	106	3,602	500	4,208
	Eliminated on disposal of a subsidiary	-	-	2,757	-	2,757
	Eliminated on revaluation	-	(2)	-	-	(2
	Eliminated on reclassification as held for sale	-	153	6,305	-	6,458
AS 36.126(a)	Impairment losses recognised in profit or loss	-	-	(1,204)	-	(1,204
AS 36.126(b)	Reversals of impairment losses recognised in profit or loss	-	-	-	-	-
	Depreciation expense	_	(774)	(12,834)	(10)	(13,618
	Effect of foreign currency exchange differences	-	_	(392)	_	(392
	Others [describe]					-
	Balance at 31 December 2016		(3,015)	(32,981)	(18)	(36,014
AS 16.73(c)	The following useful lives are used i	n the calculation	of depreciation:			
	Buildings	20 – 30 years				
	Plant and equipment	5 – 15 years				
	Equipment under finance lease	5 years				

Source

International GAAP Holdings Limited

Notes to the consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2016 – continued 15.1 Fair value measurement of the Group's freehold land and buildings

IAS 16.77(a) & (b) IFRS 13.91(a), 93(d), 93(h)(i) The Group's freehold land and buildings are stated at their revalued amounts, being the fair value at the date of revaluation, less any subsequent accumulated depreciation and subsequent accumulated impairment losses. The fair value measurements of the Group's freehold land and buildings as at 31 December 2016 and 31 December 2015 were performed by Messrs R & P Trent, independent valuers not related to the Group. Messrs R & P Trent are members of the Institute of Valuers of A Land, and they have appropriate qualifications and recent experience in the fair value measurement of properties in the relevant locations.

The fair value of the freehold land was determined [based on the market comparable approach that reflects recent transaction prices for similar properties/other methods (describe).

The fair value of the buildings was determined using [the cost approach that reflects the cost to a market participant to construct assets of comparable utility and age, adjusted for obsolescence/other methods (describe)]. The significant inputs include the estimated construction costs and other ancillary expenditure of approximately CU14.7 million (31 December 2015: approximately CU18.1 million), and a depreciation factor applied to the estimated construction cost of approximately 25% (31 December 2015: approximately 23%). A slight increase in the depreciation factor would result in a significant decrease in the fair value of the buildings, and a slight increase in the estimated construction costs would result in a significant increase in the fair value of the buildings, and vice versa.

There has been no change to the valuation technique during the year.

IFRS 13.93(a),(b)

Details of the Group's freehold land and buildings and information about the fair value hierarchy as at the end of the reporting period are as follows:

	Level 2	Level 3	Fair value as at 31/12/16
	CU'000	CU'000	CU'000
A manufacturing plant in A land that contains:			
– freehold land	13,868	_	13,868
– buildings	-	11,147	11,147
	Level 2	Level 3	Fair value as
			at 31/12/15
	CU'000	CU'000	CU'000
A manufacturing plant in A land that contains:			
– freehold land	15,050	_	15,050
– buildings	-	13,667	13,667

Commentary:

The categorisation of fair value measurements into the different levels of the fair value hierarchy depends on the degree to which the inputs to the fair value measurements are observable and the significance of the inputs to the fair value measurement. The above categorisations are for illustrative purpose only. It is worth noting the following points:

- The classification into the 3-level hierarchy is not an accounting policy choice. For land and buildings, given their unique nature, it is extremely rare that the fair value measurement would be identified as a Level 1 measurement. Whether the fair value measurement in its entirety should be classified into Level 2 or Level 3 would depend on the extent to which the inputs and assumptions used in arriving at the fair value are observable. In many situations where valuation techniques (with significant unobservable inputs) are used in estimating the fair value of the real estate properties, the fair value measurement as a whole would be classified as Level 3.
- The level within which the fair value measurement is categorised bears no relation to the quality of the valuation. For example, the fact that a real estate property is classified as a Level 3 fair value measurement does not mean that the property valuation is not reliable it merely indicates that significant unobservable inputs have been used and significant judgement was required in arriving at the fair value.

Source	International GAAP Holdings Limited				
	Notes to the consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 Dece	ember 2016 – contin	ued		
FRS 13.93(c)	There were no transfers between Level 1 and Level 2 during the year.				
FRS 13.95	[Where there had been a transfer between different levels of the fair value hierarch reasons for the transfer and the Group's policy for determining when transfers bet occurred (for example, at the beginning or end of the reporting period or at the da transfer).]	tween levels are deem	ned to have		
AS 16.77(e)	Had the Group's freehold and buildings (other than land and buildings classified as a disposal group) been measured on a historical cost basis, their carrying amount of				
		31/12/16	31/12/15		
		CU'000	CU'000		
	Freehold land	11,957	13,104		
	Buildings	7,268	10,340		
AS 36.130(a) to (g)	15.2 Impairment losses recognised in the year During the year, as the result of the unexpected poor performance of a manufactural a review of the recoverable amount of that manufacturing plant and the related equations.	uipment. These asset	s are used		
	During the year, as the result of the unexpected poor performance of a manufactu	juipment. These asset cognition of an impairr nated the fair value les on the recent market p less than the value in basis of their value in suring value in use wa	s are used ment loss ss costs prices use and use, which		
	During the year, as the result of the unexpected poor performance of a manufactural a review of the recoverable amount of that manufacturing plant and the related equin the Group's electronic equipment reportable segment. The review led to the recoff CU1.09 million, which has been recognised in profit or loss. The Group also esting of disposal of the manufacturing plant and the related equipment, which is based of assets with similar age and obsolescence. The fair value less costs of disposal is hence the recoverable amount of the relevant assets has been determined on the amounted to CU15 million as at 31 December 2016. The discount rate used in mean	puipment. These asset cognition of an impairr nated the fair value less on the recent market p less than the value in basis of their value in suring value in use wa tion of impairment.	s are used ment loss ss costs prices use and use, which as 9% per		
to (g)	During the year, as the result of the unexpected poor performance of a manufactural a review of the recoverable amount of that manufacturing plant and the related equin the Group's electronic equipment reportable segment. The review led to the recoff CU1.09 million, which has been recognised in profit or loss. The Group also esting of disposal of the manufacturing plant and the related equipment, which is based of assets with similar age and obsolescence. The fair value less costs of disposal is hence the recoverable amount of the relevant assets has been determined on the amounted to CU15 million as at 31 December 2016. The discount rate used in meal annum. No impairment assessment was performed in 2015 as there was no indicated. Additional impairment losses recognised in respect of property, plant and equipment CU0.114 million. These losses are attributable to greater than anticipated wear and	nuipment. These asset tognition of an impairrented the fair value less on the recent market pless than the value in basis of their value in suring value in use wation of impairment. The tear amound the tear and the segment.	s are used ment loss ss costs prices use and use, which as 9% per		
co (g) AS 36.131	During the year, as the result of the unexpected poor performance of a manufactural a review of the recoverable amount of that manufacturing plant and the related equin the Group's electronic equipment reportable segment. The review led to the recoff CU1.09 million, which has been recognised in profit or loss. The Group also esting of disposal of the manufacturing plant and the related equipment, which is based of assets with similar age and obsolescence. The fair value less costs of disposal is hence the recoverable amount of the relevant assets has been determined on the amounted to CU15 million as at 31 December 2016. The discount rate used in meal annum. No impairment assessment was performed in 2015 as there was no indicated Additional impairment losses recognised in respect of property, plant and equipment CU0.114 million. These losses are attributable to greater than anticipated wear and impaired in full and they belonged to the Group's electronic equipment reportable.	nuipment. These asset tognition of an impairrented the fair value less on the recent market pless than the value in basis of their value in suring value in use wation of impairment. The tear amound the tear and the segment.	s are used ment loss ss costs prices use and use, which as 9% per		
AS 36.126(a)	During the year, as the result of the unexpected poor performance of a manufactural a review of the recoverable amount of that manufacturing plant and the related equin the Group's electronic equipment reportable segment. The review led to the recoff CU1.09 million, which has been recognised in profit or loss. The Group also esting of disposal of the manufacturing plant and the related equipment, which is based of assets with similar age and obsolescence. The fair value less costs of disposal is hence the recoverable amount of the relevant assets has been determined on the amounted to CU15 million as at 31 December 2016. The discount rate used in mea annum. No impairment assessment was performed in 2015 as there was no indicated. Additional impairment losses recognised in respect of property, plant and equipment CU0.114 million. These losses are attributable to greater than anticipated wear and impaired in full and they belonged to the Group's electronic equipment reportable. The impairment losses have been included in profit or loss in the [other expenses/	puipment. These asset cognition of an impairr nated the fair value less on the recent market pless than the value in basis of their value in suring value in use wation of impairment. The tent in the year amound tear. Those assets have segment. The cost of sales line item (31 December 2015: up (see note 32). The fee. The Group is not allowed and impairment allowed in the segment and item the segment are segment.	s are used ment loss ss costs prices use and use, which as 9% per ted to ave been		

Source	International GAAP Holdings Limited					
	Notes to the consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2016 – continued					
	16. Investment property					
		31/12/16	31/12/15			
		CU'000	CU'000			
	Fair value					
	Completed investment properties	4,968	4,941			
		Year ended	Year ended			
		31/12/16	31/12/15			
		CU'000	CU'000			
IAS 40.76	Balance at beginning of year	4,941	4,500			
	Additions	10	202			
	Acquisitions through business combinations	-	-			
	Other acquisitions [describe]	-	-			
	Disposals	-	(58)			
	Transferred from property, plant and equipment	-	-			
	Other transfers [describe]	-	-			
	Property reclassified as held for sale	-	-			
	Gain/(loss) on property revaluation	30	297			
	Effect of foreign currency exchange differences	(13)	-			
	Other changes [describe]		_			
	Balance at end of year	4,968	4,941			
	Unrealised gain on property revaluation included in profit or loss (included in other gains and losses) (see note 8)	30	297			
	All of the Group's investment property is held under freehold interests.					

16.1 Fair value measurement of the Group's investment properties

IAS 40.75(e) IFRS 13.91(a), 93(d)

The fair value of the Group's investment property as at 31 December 2016 and 31 December 2015 has been arrived at on the basis of a valuation carried out on the respective dates by Messrs R & P Trent, independent valuers not related to the Group. Messrs R & P Trent are members of the Institute of Valuers of A Land, and they have appropriate qualifications and recent experience in the valuation of properties in the relevant locations. The fair value was determined [based on the market comparable approach that reflects recent transaction prices for similar properties/capitalisation of net income method, where the market rentals of all lettable units of the properties are assessed by reference to the rentals achieved in the lettable units as well as other lettings of similar properties in the neighbourhood. The capitalisation rate adopted is made by reference to the yield rates observed by the valuers for similar properties in the locality and adjusted based on the valuers' knowledge of the factors specific to the respective properties/other methods (describe)].

There has been no change to the valuation technique during the year.

In estimating the fair value of the properties, the highest and best use of the properties is their current use.

Notes to the consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2016 - continued

IFRS 13.93(a),(b)

Details of the Group's investment properties and information about the fair value hierarchy as at the end of the reporting period are as follows:

	Level 2	Level 3	Fair value as at 31/12/16
	CU'000	CU'000	CU'000
Commercial units located in A Land – BB City	-	1,020	1,020
Office units located in A Land – CC City	_	1,984	1,984
Residential units located in A Land – DD City	1,964	_	1,964
Total			4,968
	Level 2	Level 3	Fair value as at 31/12/15
	CU'000	CU'000	CU'000
Commercial units located in A Land – BB City	-	1,123	1,123
Office units located in A Land – CC City	-	1,964	1,964
Residential units located in A Land – DD City	1,854	-	1,854
Total			4,941

For the residential units located in DD City, A Land, the fair value was derived using the market comparable approach based on recent market prices without any significant adjustments being made to the market observable data.

For investment properties categorised into Level 3 of the fair value hierarchy, the following information is relevant:

IFRS 13.93(d)
IFRS 13.93(h)(i)

	Valuation technique(s)	Significant unobservable input(s)	Sensitivity
Office units located in A Land – CC City	Income Capitalisation Approach	Capitalisation rate, taking into account the capitalisation of rental income potential, nature of the property, and prevailing market condition, of x% – x% (2015: x% – x%).	A slight increase in the capitalisation rate used would result in a significant decrease in fair value, and vice versa.
		Monthly market rent, taking into account the differences in location, and individual factors, such as frontage and size, between the comparables and the property, at an average of CU[X] (2015: CU[X]) per square metre ("sqm") per month.	A significant increase in the market rent used would result in a significant increase in fair value, and vice versa.
Commercial units located in A Land – BB City	Income Capitalisation Approach	Capitalisation rate, taking into account the capitalisation of rental income potential, nature of the property, and prevailing market condition, of x% – x% (2015: x% – x%).	A slight increase in the capitalisation rate used would result in a significant decrease in fair value, and vice versa.
		Monthly market rent, taking into account the differences in location, and individual factors, such as frontage and size, between the comparables and the property, at an average of CU[X] (2015: CU[X]) per sqm per month.	A significant increase in the market rent used would result in a significant increase in fair value, and vice versa.

Source

International GAAP Holdings Limited

Notes to the consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2016 - continued

Commentary:

In considering the level of disaggregation of the properties for the above disclosure, management of the entity should take into account the nature and characteristics of the properties in order to provide meaningful information to the users of the financial statements regarding the fair value measurement information of the different types of properties. The breakdown above is for illustrative purposes only.

IFRS 13.93(c)

There were no transfers between Levels 1 and 2 during the year.

IFRS 13.95

[Where there had been a transfer between the different levels of the fair value hierarchy, the Group should disclose the reasons for the transfer and the Group's policy for determining when transfers between levels are deemed to have occurred (for example, at the beginning or end of the reporting period or at the date of the event that caused the transfer).]

Commentary:

Fair value hierarchy

The categorisation of fair value measurements into the different levels of the fair value hierarchy depends on the degree to which the inputs to the fair value measurements are observable and the significance of the inputs to the fair value measurement. The above categorisations are for illustrative purpose only. It is worth noting the following points:

- The classification into the 3-level hierarchy is not an accounting policy choice. For land and buildings, given their unique nature, it is extremely rare that the fair value measurement would be identified as a Level 1 measurement. Whether the fair value measurement in its entirety should be classified into Level 2 or Level 3 would depend on the extent to which the inputs and assumptions used in arriving at the fair value are observable. In many situations where valuation techniques (with significant unobservable inputs) are used in estimating the fair value of the real estate properties, the fair value measurement as a whole would be classified as Level 3.
- The level within which the fair value measurement is categorised bears no relation to the quality of the valuation. For example, the fact that a real estate property is classified as a Level 3 fair value measurement does not mean that the property valuation is not reliable it merely indicates that significant unobservable inputs have been used and significant judgement was required in arriving at the fair value.

IFRS 13.97

Fair value disclosures for investment properties measured using the cost model

For investment properties that are measured using the cost model, IAS 40.79(e) requires the fair value of the properties to be disclosed in the notes to the financial statements. In that case, the fair value of the properties (for disclosure purpose) should be measured in accordance with IFRS 13. In addition, IFRS 13.97 requires the following disclosures:

- the level in which fair value measurement is categorised (i.e. Level 1, 2 or 3);
- when the fair value measurement is categorised within Level 2 or Level 3, a description of the valuation technique(s) and the inputs used in the fair value measurement; and
- the highest and best use of the properties (if different from their current use) and the reasons why the properties are being used in a manner that is different from their highest and best use. `

Source	International GAAP Holdings Limited					
	Notes to the consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2016 – continued					
	17. Goodwill					
		31/12/16	31/12/15			
		CU'000	CU'000			
	Cost	20,720	24,260			
	Accumulated impairment losses	(235)				
		20,485	24,260			
		Year ended	Year ended			
		31/12/16	31/12/15			
		CU'000	CU'000			
IFRS 3.B67(d)	Cost					
	Balance at beginning of year	24,260	24,120			
	Additional amounts recognised from business combinations occurring	478	24,120			
	during the year (note 44)	470				
	Derecognised on disposal of a subsidiary (note 45)	(3,080)	-			
	Reclassified as held for sale (note 12)	(1,147)	-			
	Effect of foreign currency exchange differences	209	140			
	Others [describe]		_			
	Balance at end of year	20,720	24,260			
	Accumulated impairment losses					
	Balance at beginning of year	_	_			
IAS 36.126(a)	Impairment losses recognised in the year	(235)	-			
	Derecognised on disposal of a subsidiary	-	_			
	Classified as held for sale	-	_			
	Effect of foreign currency exchange differences					
	Balance at end of year	(235)	-			
	Balance at end of year	(235)				

Source

International GAAP Holdings Limited

Notes to the consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2016 – continued 17.1 Allocation of goodwill to cash-generating units

IAS 36.134, 135

Goodwill has been allocated for impairment testing purposes to the following cash-generating units.

- Leisure goods retail outlets
- Electronic equipment internet sales
- Construction operations Murphy Construction
- Construction operations other.

Before recognition of impairment losses, the carrying amount of goodwill (other than goodwill relating to discontinued operations) was allocated to cash-generating units as follows.

	31/12/16	31/12/15
	CU'000	CU'000
Leisure goods – retail outlets	10,262	9,720
Electronic equipment – internet sales	8,723	8,578
Construction operations – Murphy Construction	235	235
Construction operations – other	1,500	1,500
	20,720	20,033

Leisure goods - retail outlets

The recoverable amount of this cash-generating unit is determined based on a value in use calculation which uses cash flow projections based on financial budgets approved by the directors covering a five-year period, and a discount rate of 9% per annum (2015: 8% per annum).

Cash flow projections during the budget period are based on the same expected gross margins and raw materials price inflation throughout the budget period. The cash flows beyond that five-year period have been extrapolated using a steady 5% (2015: 5%) per annum growth rate which is the projected long-term average growth rate for the international leisure goods market. The directors believe that any reasonably possible change in the key assumptions on which recoverable amount is based would not cause the aggregate carrying amount to exceed the aggregate recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit.

Electronic equipment - internet sales

The recoverable amount of the 'electronic equipment – internet sales' segment as a cash-generating unit is determined based on a value in use calculation which uses cash flow projections based on financial budgets approved by the directors covering a five-year period, and a discount rate of 9% per annum (2015: 8% per annum). Cash flows beyond that five-year period have been extrapolated using a steady 11% (2015: 10%) per annum growth rate. This growth rate exceeds by 0.5 percentage points the long-term average growth rate for the international electronic equipment market. However, among other factors, the internet sales cash-generating unit benefits from the protection of a 20-year patent on the Series Z electronic equipment, granted in 2011, which is still acknowledged as one of the top models in the market. The steady growth rate of 11% is estimated by the directors of the Company based on past performance of the cash-generating unit and their expectations of market development. The directors estimate that a decrease in growth rate by 1 to 5% would result in the aggregate carrying amount of the cash-generating unit exceeding the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit by approximately CU 1 to 5 million. The directors believe that any reasonably possible change in the other key assumptions on which recoverable amount is based would not cause the 'electronic equipment – internet sales' carrying amount to exceed its recoverable amount.

Notes to the consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2016 - continued

Construction operations - Murphy Construction

IAS 36.130

The goodwill associated with Murphy Construction arose when that business was acquired by the Group in 2010. The business has continued to operate on a satisfactory basis, but without achieving any significant increase in market share. During the year, the government of A Land introduced new regulations requiring registration and certification of builders for government contracts. In the light of the decision to focus the Group's construction activities through the other operating units in Subthree Limited, the directors have decided not to register Murphy Construction for this purpose, which means that it has no prospects of obtaining future contracts. The directors have consequently determined to write off the goodwill directly related to Murphy Construction amounting to CU235,000. No other write-down of the assets of Murphy Construction is considered necessary. Contracts in progress at the end of the year will be completed without loss to the Group. The recoverable amount of the Murphy Construction cash-generating unit amounted to CU8,700 as at 31 December 2016.

The impairment loss has been included in profit or loss in the 'other expenses' line item.

Construction operations - other

The recoverable amount of the Group's remaining construction operations has been determined based on a value in use calculation which uses cash flow projections based on financial budgets approved by the directors covering a five-year period, and a discount rate of 9% per annum (2015: 8% per annum). Cash flows beyond that five-year period have been extrapolated using a steady 8% (2015: 8%) per annum growth rate. This growth rate does not exceed the long-term average growth rate for the construction market in A Land. The directors believe that any reasonably possible further change in the key assumptions on which recoverable amount is based would not cause the construction operations carrying amount to exceed its recoverable amount.

The key assumptions used in the value in use calculations for the leisure goods and electronic equipment cashgenerating units are as follows.

a growth of 1-2% of market share per year. The values assigned to the assumption reflect past experience and are consistent with the directors' plans for focusing operations in these markets. The directors believe that the planned market share growth per year for the next five years is reasonably achievable.

Budgeted gross margin

Average gross margins achieved in the period immediately before the budget period, increased for expected efficiency improvements. This reflects past experience, except for efficiency improvements. The directors expect efficiency improvements of 3 – 5% per year to be reasonably achievable.

Raw materials price inflation

Forecast consumer price indices during the budget period for the countries from which raw materials are purchased. The values assigned to the key assumption are consistent with external sources of information.

Source	International GAAP Holdings	Limited						
	Notes to the consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2016 – continued							
	18. Other intangible assets							
				_	31/12/16	31/12/15		
					CU'000	CU'000		
	Carrying amounts of:							
	Capitalised development				1,194	1,906		
	Patents				4,369	4,660		
	Trademarks				706	942		
	Licenses			_	3,470	3,817		
					0.700	44.005		
				-	9,739	11,325		
		Capitalised development	Patents	Trademarks	Licenses	Total		
		CU'000	CU'000	CU'000	CU'000	CU'000		
IAS 38.118(c),(e)	Cost							
	Balance at 1 January 2015	3,230	5,825	4,711	6,940	20,706		
	Additions from separate acquisitions	-	-	-	-	-		
	Additions from internal developments	358	-	-	-	358		
	Acquisitions through business combinations	-	-	_	-	-		
	Disposals or classified as held for sale	-	-	-	-	-		
	Effect of foreign currency exchange differences	_	-	-	_	-		
	Others [describe]							
	Balance at 31 December 2015	3,588	5,825	4,711	6,940	21,064		
	Additions from separate acquisitions	-	-	-	-	_		
	Additions from internal developments	6	-	_	-	6		
	Acquisitions through business combinations	-	-	-	-	-		
	Disposals or classified as held for sale	-	-	-	-	-		
	Effect of foreign currency exchange differences	-	-	-	-	-		
	Others [describe]					_		
	Balance at 31 December 2016	3,594	5,825	4,711	6,940	21,070		

	Notes to the consolidated fin	ancial statements	for the year e	nded 31 Decembe	er 2016 - continu	ıed				
			Notes to the consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2016 – continued							
		Capitalised development	Patents	Trademarks	Licenses	Tota				
		CU'000	CU'000	CU'000	CU'000	CU'000				
	Accumulated amortisation and impairment									
	Balance at 1 January 2015	(1,000)	(874)	(3,533)	(2,776)	(8,183				
	Amortisation expense	(682)	(291)	(236)	(347)	(1,556				
	Disposals or classified as held for sale	-	_	_	-	-				
IAS 36.130(b)	Impairment losses recognised in profit or loss	-	-	-	-	-				
IAS 36.130(b)	Reversals of impairment losses recognised in profit or loss	-	-	-	-	-				
	Effect of foreign currency exchange differences	_	-	-	-	-				
	Others [describe]					-				
	Balance at 31 December 2015	(1,682)	(1,165)	(3,769)	(3,123)	(9,739				
	Amortisation expense	(718)	(291)	(236)	(347)	(1,592				
	Disposals or classified as held for sale	-	-	-	-	-				
IAS 36.130(b)	Impairment losses recognised in profit or loss	-	-	-	-	-				
IAS 36.130(b)	Reversals of impairment losses recognised in profit or loss	-	-	-	-	-				
	Effect of foreign currency exchange differences	-	-	-	-	-				
	Others [describe]					-				
	Balance at 31 December 2016	(2,400)	(1,456)	(4,005)	(3,470)	(11,331				
IAS 38.118(a)	The following useful lives are use	ed in the calculation o	of amortisation.							
	Capitalised development	5 years								
	Patents	10 – 20 years								
	Trademarks	20 years								
	Licenses	20 years								
	18.1 Significant intangible asse	ts								
IAS 38.122(b)	The Group holds a patent for the of CU2.25 million (31 December 2				, .					

Notes to the consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2016 – continued 19. Subsidiaries

Details of the Group's material subsidiaries at the end of the reporting period are as follows.

Name of subsidiary	Principal activity	Place of incorporation and operation	Proportion of ownersh interest and voting pow held by the Gro	
			31/12/16	31/12/15
Subzero Limited	Manufacture of toys	A Land	Nil	100%
Subone Limited	Manufacture of electronic A Land equipment		90%	100%
Subtwo Limited	Manufacture of leisure goods	A Land	45%	45%
Subthree Limited	Construction of residential properties	A Land	100%	100%
Subfour Limited	Manufacture of leisure goods	B Land	70%	70%
Subfive Limited	Manufacture of electronic equipment and bicycles	C Land	100%	100%
Subsix Limited	Manufacture of leisure goods	A Land	80%	Nil
Subseven Limited	Manufacture of leisure goods	A Land	100%	Nil
C Plus Limited (ii)	Manufacture of electronic equipment	A Land	45%	45%

Commentary:

IFRSs do not explicitly require an entity to disclose a list of its subsidiaries in the consolidated financial statements. Nevertheless, local laws or regulations may require an entity to make such a disclosure. The above disclosure is for information only and may have to be modified to comply with the additional local requirements.

Source **International GAAP Holdings Limited** Notes to the consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2016 - continued 19.1 Composition of the Group IFRS 12.10(a)(i) Information about the composition of the Group at the end of the reporting period is as follows: IFRS 12.4 IFRS 12.B4(a) IFRS 12.B5-B6 Principal activity Place of incorporation Number of wholly-owned and operation subsidiaries 31/12/16 31/12/15 Manufacture of electronic equipment A Land 1 C Land 1 1 Manufacture of leisure goods A Land 1 Construction A Land 1 1 Toys manufacturing A Land 1 3 4 Principal activity Place of incorporation Number of non-wholly-owned and operation subsidiaries 31/12/16 31/12/15 2 Manufacture of electronic equipment A Land 1 Manufacture of leisure goods A Land 2 1 B Land 1 1 5 3 Details of non-wholly owned subsidiaries that have material non-controlling interests to the Group are disclosed in note 19.2 below. 19.2 Details of non-wholly owned subsidiaries that have material non-controlling interests IFRS 12.10(a)(ii) The table below shows details of non-wholly owned subsidiaries of the Group that have material non-controlling interests: IFRS 12.12(a) - (f) IFRS 12.B11 Commentary: · For illustrative purposes, the following non-wholly subsidiaries are assumed to have non-controlling interests that are material to the Group. • The amounts disclosed below do not reflect the elimination of intragroup transactions.

Source	International GAAP Holdings Limited							
	Notes to the consol	idated financial st	tatements f	or the year o	ended 31 De	cember 201	6 – continue	ed
	Name of subsidiary	Place of incorporation and principal place of business	Proportion of ownership interests and voting rights held by non-controlling interests		Profit (loss) allocated to non-controlling interests			ulated non- ng interests
			31/12/16	31/12/15	31/12/16	31/12/15	31/12/16	31/12/15
					CU'000	CU'000	CU'000	CU'000
	Subtwo Limited (i)	A Land	55%	55%	1,180	860	10,320	9,140
	Subfour Limited	A Land	30%	30%	1,020	980	10,680	9,660
	C Plus Limited (ii)	A Land	55%	55%	392	464	2,445	2,053
	Individually immateria non-controlling inte						3,316	1,205
	Total						26,761	22,058

IFRS 12.9(b)

- (i) The Group owns 45% equity shares of Subtwo Limited. However, based on the contractual arrangements between the Group and other investors, the Group has the power to appoint and remove the majority of the board of directors of Subtwo Limited. The relevant activities of Subtwo Limited are determined by the board of directors of Subtwo Limited based on simple majority votes. Therefore, the directors of the Group concluded that the Group has control over Subtwo Limited and Subtwo Limited is consolidated in these financial statements.
- (ii) C Plus Limited is listed on the stock exchange of A Land. Although the Group has only 45% ownership in C Plus Limited, the directors concluded that the Group has a sufficiently dominant voting interest to direct the relevant activities of C Plus Limited on the basis of the Group's absolute size of shareholding and the relative size of and dispersion of the shareholdings owned by other shareholders. The 55% ownership interests in C Plus Limited are owned by thousands of shareholders that are unrelated to the Group, none individually holding more than 2%.

Source **International GAAP Holdings Limited** Notes to the consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2016 – continued IFRS 12.12(g) IFRS 12.B10

IFRS 12.B11

Summarised financial information in respect of each of the Group's subsidiaries that has material non-controlling interests is set out below. The summarised financial information below represents amounts before intragroup eliminations.

Subtwo Limited	31/12/16	31/12/15
	CU'000	CU'000
Current assets	22,132	20,910
Non-current assets	6,232	6,331
Current liabilities	(4,150)	(5,373)
Non-current liabilities	(5,450)	(5,250)
Equity attributable to owners of the Company	8,444	7,478
Non-controlling interests	10,320	9,140
	Year ended 31/12/16	Year ended 31/12/15
	CU'000	CU'000
Revenue	4,280	4,132
Expenses	(2,134)	(2,568)
Profit (loss) for the year	2,146	1,564
Profit (loss) attributable to owners of the Company	966	704
Profit (loss) attributable to the non-controlling interests	1,180	860
Profit (loss) for the year	2,146	1,564
Other comprehensive income attributable to owners of the Company Other comprehensive income attributable to the non-controlling interests Other comprehensive income for the year	- 	- - -
other comprehensive meaning for the year		
Total comprehensive income attributable to owners of the Company	966	704
Total comprehensive income attributable to the non-controlling interests Total comprehensive income for the year	<u>1,180</u> - 2,146	860 1,564
Total comprehensive income for the year	2,140	1,304
Dividends paid to non-controlling interests		
Net cash inflow (outflow) from operating activities	3,056	1,321
Net cash inflow (outflow) from investing activities	(200)	765
Net cash inflow (outflow) from financing activities	(2,465)	(163)
Net cash inflow (outflow)	391	1,923

Source	International GAAP Holdings Limited		
	Notes to the consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December	er 2016 – contin	ued
	Subfour Limited	31/12/16	31/12/15
	-	CU'000	CU'000
	Current assets	32,100	31,400
	Non-current assets	10,238	10,441
	Current liabilities	(1,617)	(4,299)
	Non-current liabilities	(5,121)	(5,342)
	Equity attributable to owners of the Company	24,920	22,540
	Non-controlling interests	10,680	9,660
		Year ended 31/12/16	Year ended 31/12/15
	-	CU'000	CU'000
	Revenue -	6,200	6,101
	Expenses	(2,800)	(2,834)
	Profit (loss) for the year	3,400	3,267
	Profit (loss) attributable to owners of the Company	2,380	2,287
	Profit (loss) attributable to the non-controlling interests	1,020	980
	Profit (loss) for the year	3,400	3,267
	Other comprehensive income attributable to owners of the Company	-	-
	Other comprehensive income attributable to the non-controlling interests		
	Other comprehensive income for the year		
	Total comprehensive income attributable to owners of the Company	2,380	2,287
	Total comprehensive income attributable to the non-controlling interests	1,020	980
	Total comprehensive income for the year	3,400	3,267
	Dividends paid to non-controlling interests		
	Net cash inflow (outflow) from operating activities	4,405	2,050
	Net cash inflow (outflow) from investing activities	(330)	1,148
	Net cash inflow (outflow) from financing activities	(3,489)	(315)
	Net cash inflow (outflow)	586	2,883

Notes to the consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 Dece	mber 2016 – contin	ued
C Plus Limited	31/12/16	31/12/15
	CU'000	CU'000
Current assets	1,530	3,517
Non-current assets	3,625	1,070
Current liabilities	(280)	(266)
Non-current liabilities	(430)	(588)
Equity attributable to owners of the Company	2,000	1,680
Non-controlling interests	2,445	2,053
	Year ended	Year ended
	31/12/16	31/12/15
	CU'000	CU'000
Revenue	2,165	2,285
Expenses	(1,453)	(1,441)
Profit (loss) for the year	712	844
Profit (loss) attributable to owners of the Company	320	380
Profit (loss) attributable to the non-controlling interests	392	464
Profit (loss) for the year	712	844
Other comprehensive income attributable to owners of the Company	-	-
Other comprehensive income attributable to the non-controlling interests		
Other comprehensive income for the year		
Total comprehensive income attributable to owners of the Company	320	380
Total comprehensive income attributable to the non-controlling interests	392	464
Total comprehensive income for the year	712	844
Total comprehensive meanic for the year		
Dividends paid to non-controlling interests		
Net cash inflow (outflow) from operating activities	(63)	359
The cash made (Cacher), norm operating activities		
Net cash inflow (outflow) from investing activities	373	(39)
Net cash inflow (outflow) from financing activities	(160)	(120)
The cash innovity decision, in our innoving decisities	(100)	(120)
Net cash inflow (outflow)	150	200

Source	International GAAF	Holdings Limited				
	Notes to the conso	lidated financial stater	nents for the year ended 31 D	ecember 2016 – cont	inued	
	19.3 Change in the G	roup's ownership intere	est in a subsidiary			
IFRS 12.18	During the year, the Group disposed of 10% of its interest in Subone Limited, reducing its continuing interest to 90%. The proceeds on disposal of CU213,000 were received in cash. An amount of CU179,000 (being the proportionate share of the carrying amount of the net assets of Subone Limited) has been transferred to non-controlling interests (see note 31). The difference of CU34,000 between the increase in the non-controlling interests and the consideration received has been credited to retained earnings (see note 30).					
	19.4 Significant rest	rictions				
IFRS 12.13	[When there are significant restrictions on the Company's or its subsidiaries' ability to access or use the assets and settle the liabilities of the Group, the Group should disclose the nature and extent of significant restrictions. Please see IFRS 12.13 for details.]					
	19.5 Financial suppo	ort				
IFRS 12.14-17	- 10	' '	consolidated structured entity, the isclosed in the financial statemen		0 ,	
	20. Associates					
	20.1 Details of mate	rial associates				
IFRS 12.21(a)	Details of each of the	Group's material associa	tes at the end of the reporting pe	eriod are as follows:		
	Commentary:	ses the following associat	as are assumed to be material to	the Group		
	For illustrative purposes, the following associates are assumed to be material to the Group.					
	Name of associate	Principal activity	Place of incorporation and principal place of business	Proportion of own voting rights he	the state of the s	
				31/12/16	31/12/15	
	A Plus Limited (i) & (ii)	Transport	M Land	35%/37%	35%/37%	
	B Plus Limited (iii)	Steel manufacturing	A Land	17%	17%	
IFRS 12.21(b)(i)	All of the above assoc	ciates are accounted for u	ising the equity method in these	consolidated financial s	tatements.	
IFRS 12.21(a)(iv)	(i) Pursuant to a sha meetings of A Plu	•	Company has the right to cast 37	% of the votes at share	holder	
IFRS 12.22(b) IFRS 12.21(b)(iii)	that company was	s incorporated, and a cha	d is 31 October. This was the repnge of reporting date is not perm	nitted in M Land. For th	e purposes	
IFRS 13.97			ng, the financial statements of A P ropriate adjustments have been			
11 (3 (3.9)	transactions betv interest in A Plus	ween that date and 31 Dec Limited, which is listed on sed on the quoted market	cember 2016. As at 31 December the stock exchange of M Land, w price available on the stock exch	2016, the fair value of vas CU8 million (31 Dec	the Group's ember 2015:	
IFRS 12.9(e)	voting power at sl	hareholder meetings, the	f the equity shares of B Plus Limit Group exercises significant influe e board of directors of that comp	ence by virtue of its cor		

Summarised financial information in respect of each of the Group's material a		inued			
· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·		Notes to the consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2016 – continued			
· ·	Summarised financial information in respect of each of the Group's material associates is set out below. The summarised financial information below represents amounts shown in the associate's financial statements prepared in accordance with IFRSs [adjusted by the Group for equity accounting purposes].				
A Plus Limited	31/12/16	31/12/15			
	CU'000	CU'000			
Current assets	10,010	9,061			
Non-current assets	4,902	4,001			
Current liabilities	(3,562)	(3,061)			
Non-current liabilities	(4,228)	(4,216)			
	Year ended 31/12/16	Year ended 31/12/15			
	CU'000	CU'000			
Revenue	2,554	2,560			
Profit or loss from continuing operations	1,337	1,332			
Post-tax profit (loss) from discontinued operations					
Profit (loss) for the year	1,337	1,332			
Other comprehensive income for the year		_			
Total comprehensive income for the year	1,337	1,332			
Dividends received from the associate during the year	30	25			
Reconciliation of the above summarised financial information to the carrying a recognised in the consolidated financial statements:	amount of the interest ir	n A Plus Limited			
	31/12/16	31/12/15			
	CU'000	CU'000			
Net assets of the associate	7,122	5,785			
Proportion of the Group's ownership interest in A Plus Limited	35%	35%			
Goodwill	-	-			
Other adjustments (please specify)					
Carrying amount of the Group's interest in A Plus Limited	2,492	2,025			
	Current assets Non-current liabilities Non-current liabilities Revenue Profit or loss from continuing operations Post-tax profit (loss) from discontinued operations Profit (loss) for the year Other comprehensive income for the year Total comprehensive income for the year Dividends received from the associate during the year Reconciliation of the above summarised financial information to the carrying a recognised in the consolidated financial statements: Net assets of the associate Proportion of the Group's ownership interest in A Plus Limited Goodwill Other adjustments (please specify)	Current assets 10,010 Non-current assets 4,902 Current liabilities (3,562) Non-current liabilities (3,562) Non-current liabilities (4,228) Year ended 31/12/16 Curooo Revenue 2,554 Profit or loss from continuing operations 1,337 Post-tax profit (loss) from discontinued operations Profit (loss) for the year 1,337 Other comprehensive income for the year Total comprehensive income for the year 30 Reconciliation of the above summarised financial information to the carrying amount of the interest in recognised in the consolidated financial statements: 31/12/16 Curooo Net assets of the associate 7,122 Proportion of the Group's ownership interest in A Plus Limited 35% Goodwill 7,122 Other adjustments (please specify)			

Source	International GAAP Holdings Limited		
	Notes to the consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 Dece	mber 2016 – cor	ntinued
IFRS 12.21(b)(ii)	B Plus Limited	31/12/16	31/12/15
IFRS 12.B12 IFRS 12.B14(a)		CU'000	CU'000
	Current assets	19,151	18,442
	Non-current assets	18,460	17,221
	Current liabilities	(15,981)	(14,220)
	Non-current liabilities	(6,206)	(8,290)
		Year ended 31/12/16	Year ended 31/12/15
		CU'000	CU'000
	Revenue	5,790	5,890
	Profit or loss from continuing operations	2,271	2,262
	Post-tax profit (loss) from discontinued operations		
	Profit (loss) for the year	2,271	2,262
	Other comprehensive income for the year		
	Total comprehensive income for the year	2,271	2,262
	Dividends received from the associate during the year		
IFRS 12.B14(b)	Reconciliation of the above summarised financial information to the carrying amour recognised in the consolidated financial statements:	nt of the interest	in B Plus Limited
		31/12/16	31/12/15
		CU'000	CU'000
	Net assets of the associate	15,424	13,153
	Proportion of the Group's ownership interest in B Plus Limited	17%	17%
	Goodwill	-	-
	Other adjustments (please specify)		
	Carrying amount of the Group's interest in B Plus Limited	2,622	2,236

Source	International GAAP Holdings Limited		
	Notes to the consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 Dec	ember 2016 – cor	ntinued
IFRS 12.21(c)(ii) IFRS 12.B16	Aggregate information of associates that are not individually material	Year ended 31/12/16	Year ended 31/12/15
		CU'000	CU'000
	The Group's share of profit (loss) from continuing operations	12	358
	The Group's share of post-tax profit (loss) from discontinued operations		
	The Group's share of other comprehensive income		
	The Group's share of total comprehensive income	12	358
	Aggregate carrying amount of the Group's interests in these associates	288	1,337
IFRS 12.22(c)	Unrecognised share of losses of an associate	Year ended 31/12/16	Year ended 31/12/15
		CU'000	CU'000
	The unrecognised share of loss of an associate for the year		
		31/12/16	31/12/15
		CU'000	CU'000
	Cumulative share of loss of an associate		
	20.2 Change in the Group's ownership interest in an associate		
IAS 28.22	In the prior year, the Group held a 40% interest in E Plus Limited and accounted for In December 2016, the Group disposed of a 30% interest in E Plus Limited to a thin million (received in January 2017). The Group has accounted for the remaining 10% investment whose fair value at the date of disposal was CU360,000, which was deflow model (please describe key factors and assumptions used in determining the resulted in the recognition of a gain in profit or loss, calculated as follows.	rd party for procee % interest as an ava etermined using a d	eds of CU1.245 ailable-for-sale iscounted cash
	Proceeds of disposal		1,245
	Plus: fair value of investment retained (10%)		360
	Less: carrying amount of investment on the date of loss of significant influence	re _	(1,024)
	Gain recognised	-	581
	The gain recognised in the current year comprises a realised profit of CU477,000 million less CU768,000 carrying amount of the interest disposed of) and an unrea (being the fair value less the carrying amount of the 10% interest retained). A currarose on the gain realised in the current year, and a deferred tax expense of CU3 respect of the portion of the profit recognised that is not taxable until the remain	alised profit of CU10 ent tax expense of 2,000 has been rec	04,000 CU143,000 ognised in

Source	International GAAP Holdings Limited	<u> </u>		
	Notes to the consolidated financial s	statements for the year ended 31	December 2016 – conti	nued
	20.3 Significant restriction			
IFRS 12.22(a)	[When there are significant restrictions of dividends, or to repay loans or advances significant restrictions in the financial states.]	made by the Group, the Group shou	ıld disclose the nature an	
	20A. Joint ventures			
	Commentary:			
	In this model, the Group only has one joir JV Electronics Limited is assumed to be m		for illustrative purposes,	
	20A.1 Details of material joint venture	s		
IFRS 12.21(a)	Details of the Group's material joint vent	ure at the end of the reporting perior	d is as follows:	
	Name of Principal activity joint venture	Place of incorporation and principal place of business	Proportion of ownersh voting rights hel	· ·
		_	31/12/16	31/12/15
	JV Manufacture of	C Land	33%	33%
	Electronics electronic equipment Limited	C Latiu	55%	
IFRS 12.21(b)(i)	Electronics electronic equipment			ments.
IFRS 12.21(b)(i) IFRS 12.B14	Electronics electronic equipment Limited	using the equity method in these co pect of the Group's material joint ven mounts shown in the joint venture's	nsolidated financial stater ture is set out below. The financial statements prep	summarised
	Electronics electronic equipment Limited The above joint venture is accounted for Summarised financial information in resp financial information below represents a	using the equity method in these co pect of the Group's material joint ven mounts shown in the joint venture's	nsolidated financial stater ture is set out below. The financial statements prep	summarised
IFRS 12.B14	Electronics electronic equipment Limited The above joint venture is accounted for Summarised financial information in resp financial information below represents a accordance with IFRSs [adjusted by the Content of	using the equity method in these co pect of the Group's material joint ven mounts shown in the joint venture's	nsolidated financial stater ture is set out below. The financial statements prep s].	summarised Pared in
IFRS 12.B14 IFRS 12.21(b)(ii)	Electronics electronic equipment Limited The above joint venture is accounted for Summarised financial information in resp financial information below represents a accordance with IFRSs [adjusted by the Content of	using the equity method in these co pect of the Group's material joint ven mounts shown in the joint venture's	nsolidated financial stater ture is set out below. The financial statements prep s].	summarised pared in 31/12/15
IFRS 12.B14 IFRS 12.21(b)(ii) IFRS 12.B12	Electronics electronic equipment Limited The above joint venture is accounted for Summarised financial information in resp financial information below represents a accordance with IFRSs [adjusted by the Company of	using the equity method in these co pect of the Group's material joint ven mounts shown in the joint venture's	nsolidated financial stater ture is set out below. The financial statements prep s]. 31/12/16 CU'000	summarised pared in 31/12/15 CU'000
IFRS 12.B14 IFRS 12.21(b)(ii) IFRS 12.B12	Electronics electronic equipment Limited The above joint venture is accounted for Summarised financial information in resp financial information below represents a accordance with IFRSs [adjusted by the Company of	using the equity method in these co pect of the Group's material joint ven mounts shown in the joint venture's	nsolidated financial stater ture is set out below. The financial statements prep s]. 31/12/16 CU'000 5,454	summarised pared in 31/12/15 CU'000 7,073
IFRS 12.B14 IFRS 12.21(b)(ii) IFRS 12.B12	Electronics electronic equipment Limited The above joint venture is accounted for Summarised financial information in respectation in the second and the second accordance with IFRSs [adjusted by the Comparison of the second accordance with IFRSs [adjusted by the comparison of the second accordance with IFRSs [adjusted by the comparison of the second accordance with IFRSs [adjusted by the comparison of the second accordance with IFRSs [adjusted by the comparison of the second accordance with IFRSs [adjusted by the comparison of the second accordance with IFRSs [adjusted by the comparison of the second accordance with IFRSs [adjusted by the comparison of the second accordance with IFRSs [adjusted by the comparison of the second accordance with IFRSs [adjusted by the comparison of the second accordance with IFRSs [adjus	using the equity method in these co pect of the Group's material joint ven mounts shown in the joint venture's	nsolidated financial stater ture is set out below. The financial statements prep s]. 31/12/16 CU'000 5,454 23,221	summarised pared in 31/12/15 CU'000 7,073 20,103
IFRS 12.B14 IFRS 12.21(b)(ii) IFRS 12.B12	Electronics electronic equipment Limited The above joint venture is accounted for Summarised financial information in resp financial information below represents a accordance with IFRSs [adjusted by the Company of	using the equity method in these concect of the Group's material joint ven mounts shown in the joint venture's Group for equity accounting purpose	nsolidated financial states ture is set out below. The financial statements prep s]. 31/12/16 CU'000 5,454 23,221 (2,836)	31/12/15 CU'000 7,073 20,103 (3,046)
IFRS 12.B14 IFRS 12.21(b)(ii) IFRS 12.B12 IFRS 12.B14(a)	Electronics electronic equipment Limited The above joint venture is accounted for Summarised financial information in respectation in the second se	using the equity method in these concect of the Group's material joint ven mounts shown in the joint venture's Group for equity accounting purpose.	nsolidated financial stater ture is set out below. The financial statements prep s]. 31/12/16 CU'000 5,454 23,221 (2,836) (13,721)	31/12/15 CU'000 7,073 20,103 (3,046)

Source	International GAAP Holdings Limited		
	Notes to the consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 Dece	mber 2016 – con	tinued
		Year ended 31/12/16	Year ended 31/12/15
		CU'000	CU'000
	Revenue	6,436	6,076
	Profit or loss from continuing operations	1,021	733
	Post-tax profit (loss) from discontinued operations		
	Profit (loss) for the year	1,021	733
	Other comprehensive income for the year		
	Total comprehensive income for the year	1,021	733
	Dividends received from the joint venture during the year		
IFRS 12.B13	The above profit (loss) for the year include the following:		
	Depreciation and amortisation	200	180
	Interest income		
	Interest expense	56	48
	Income tax expense (income)		
IFRS 12.B14(b)	Reconciliation of the above summarised financial information to the carrying amount venture recognised in the consolidated financial statements:	nt of the interest i	n the joint
		31/12/16	31/12/15
			CU'000
	Net assets of the joint venture	12,118	11,097
	Proportion of the Group's ownership interest in the joint venture	33%	33%
	Goodwill	-	-
	Other adjustments (please specify)		
	Carrying amount of the Group's interest in the joint venture	3,999	3,662

Source	International GAAP Holdings Limited		
	Notes to the consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 Dece	ember 2016 – con	tinued
IFRS 12.21(c)(i) IFRS 12.B16	Aggregate information of joint ventures that are not individually material	Year ended 31/12/16	Year ended 31/12/15
		CU'000	CU'000
	The Group's share of profit (loss) from continuing operations		
	The Group's share of post-tax profit (loss) from discontinued operations		
	The Group's share of other comprehensive income		
	The Group's share of total comprehensive income		
	Aggregate carrying amount of the Group's interests in these joint ventures		
IFRS 12.22(c)	Unrecognised share of losses of a joint venture	Year ended 31/12/16	Year ended 31/12/15
		CU'000	CU'000
	The unrecognised share of loss of a joint venture for the year		
		31/12/16	31/12/15
		CU'000	CU'000
	Cumulative share of loss of a joint venture		
IFRS 12.22(a)	 20A.2 Significant restriction [When there are significant restrictions on the ability of joint ventures to transfer f dividends, or to repay loans or advances made by the Group, the Group should dissignificant restrictions in the financial statements. Please see IFRS 12.22(a) for details. 21. Joint operations 	sclose the nature an	nd extent of
IFRS 12.21(a)	The Group has a material joint operation, Project ABC. The Group has a 25% share located in Central District, City A. The property upon completion will be held for less is entitled to a proportionate share of the rental income received and bears a propoperation's expenses.	asing purposes. The	e Group

Source	International GAAP Holdings Limited		
	Notes to the consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 Decemb	er 2016 – contin	ued
IFRS 7.7	22. Other financial assets		
		31/12/16	31/12/15
		CU'000	CU'000
IFRS 7.7, 22(b)	Derivatives designated and effective as hedging instruments carried at fair value		
	Foreign currency forward contracts	244	220
	Interest rate swaps	284	177
	_	528	397
IFRS 7.8(a)	Financial assets carried at fair value through profit or loss (FVTPL)		
	Non-derivative financial assets designated as at FVTPL	-	-
	Held for trading derivatives that are not designated in hedge accounting relationships		
	Held for trading non-derivative financial assets —	1,539	1,639
		1,539	1,639
IFRS 7.8(b)	Held-to-maturity investments carried at amortised cost		
	Bills of exchange (i)	5,405	4,015
	Debentures (ii)	500	
		F 00F	4.045
IEDC 7.0(4)	Available for only investments envised at fair value	5,905	4,015
IFRS 7.8(d)	Available-for-sale investments carried at fair value Redeemable notes (iii)	2,200	2.100
	Shares (iv)	2,200 5,719	2,180 5,285
	Sildies (iv)	<u> </u>	
		7,919	7,465
IFRS 7.8(c)	Loans carried at amortised cost		7,403
11 113 7.0(0)	Loans to related parties (v)	3,637	3,088
	Loans to other entities	-	-
	_		
		3,637	3,088
		<u> </u>	·
		19,528	16,604
	Current	8,757	6,949
	Non-current	10,771	9,655
		19,528	16,604
IFRS 7.7	 (i) The Group holds bills of exchange that carry interest at variable rate. The weighted securities is 7.10% per annum (2015: 7.0% per annum). The bills have maturity dates months from the end of the reporting period. The counterparties have a minimum assets had been past due or impaired at the end of the reporting period. (ii) The debentures carry interest at 6% per annum payable monthly, and mature in Mahave a minimum B credit rating. None of these assets had been past due or impaired period. 	ranging betweer A credit rating. No arch 2017. The cou	n 3 to 18 one of these unterparties

Source	International GAAP Holdings Limited				
Source		abox 2016 - canting	uod		
	Notes to the consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 Decen (iii) The Group holds listed redeemable notes that carry interest at 7% per annum. T				
	par value in 2018. The notes are held with a single counterparty with an AA credit rating. The Group holds no collateral over this balance.				
IFRS 12.9(d)	(iv) The Group holds 20% of the ordinary share capital of Rocket Corp Limited, a company involved in the refini and distribution of fuel products. The directors of the Company do not consider that the Group is able to exercise significant influence over Rocket Corp Limited as the other 80% of the ordinary share capital is held by one shareholder, who also manages the day-to-day operations of that company.				
	At 31 December 2016, the Group also continues to hold a 10% interest in E Plus Limited, a former associate (see note 20).				
IAS 24.18(b)	 (v) The Group has provided several of its key management personnel with short-term loans at rates comparable to the average commercial rate of interest. Further information about these loans is set out in note 43. 				
IAS 1.77	23. Other assets				
		31/12/16	31/12/15		
		CU'000	CU'000		
	Prepayments	_	_		
	Others [describe]		_		
	Current	_	_		
	Non-current	-	-		
IAC 2 26(b)	24. Inventories				
IAS 2.36(b)	24. Inventories	31/12/16	31/12/15		
		CU'000	CU'000		
	Raw materials	9,972	10,322		
	Work in progress	4,490	4,354		
	Finished goods	13,211	10,456		
		27,673	25,132		
IAS 2.36(d)	The cost of inventories recognised as an expense during the year in respect of contin CU87.7million (31 December 2015: CU91.6million).	nuing operations wa	S		
IAS 2.36(e),(f),(g)	The cost of inventories recognised as an expense includes CU2.34 million (2015: CU1 downs of inventory to net realisable value, and has been reduced by CU0.5 million (2 of the reversal of such write-downs. Previous write-downs have been reversed as a r in certain markets.	015: CU0.4 million) i	n respect		
IAS 1.61	Inventories of CU1.29 million (31 December 2015: CU0.86 million) are expected to be twelve months.	erecovered after mo	re than		

Source	International GAAP Holdings Limited		
	Notes to the consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 Decemb	per 2016 – continu	ıed
	25. Trade and other receivables		
		31/12/16	31/12/15
	-	CU'000	CU'000
	Trade receivables	17,408	14,562
	Allowance for doubtful debts	(798)	(838)
		16,610	13,724
	Deferred sales proceeds		
	– toy manufacturing operations (see note 45)	960	-
	– partial disposal of E Plus Limited (see note 20)	1,245	_
	Operating lease receivable	_	-
	Others [describe]	54	20
		10.060	12.74.4
	-	18,869	13,744
	25.1 Trade receivables		
IFRS 7.33(b)	The average credit period on sales of goods is 60 days. No interest is charged on trade 60 days from the date of the invoice. Thereafter, interest is charged at 2% per annum of the Group has recognised an allowance for doubtful debts of 100% against all receival historical experience has been that receivables that are past due beyond 120 days are for doubtful debts are recognised against trade receivables between 60 days and 120 irrecoverable amounts determined by reference to past default experience of the coun of the counterparty's current financial position.	on the outstanding bles over 120 days not recoverable. A days based on est nterparty and an a	balance. because Illowances imated nalysis
IFRS 7.33(b) IFRS 7.34(c), 36(c)	60 days from the date of the invoice. Thereafter, interest is charged at 2% per annum of The Group has recognised an allowance for doubtful debts of 100% against all receival historical experience has been that receivables that are past due beyond 120 days are for doubtful debts are recognised against trade receivables between 60 days and 120 irrecoverable amounts determined by reference to past default experience of the coun of the counterparty's current financial position.	on the outstanding bles over 120 days enot recoverable. A days based on est interparty and an a to assess the pote ibuted to custome ired have the best ine trade receivable mpany A, the Grouthan 5% of the total are past due at the	balance. because illowances imated nalysis ential rs are credit s balance p's largest al balance end
IFRS 7.34(c), 36(c)	60 days from the date of the invoice. Thereafter, interest is charged at 2% per annum of The Group has recognised an allowance for doubtful debts of 100% against all receiva historical experience has been that receivables that are past due beyond 120 days are for doubtful debts are recognised against trade receivables between 60 days and 120 irrecoverable amounts determined by reference to past default experience of the cour of the counterparty's current financial position. Before accepting any new customer, the Group uses an external credit scoring system customer's credit quality and defines credit limits by customer. Limits and scoring attriviewed twice a year. 80% of the trade receivables that are neither past due nor impascoring attributable under the external credit scoring system used by the Group. Of that the end of the year, CU6.9 million (31 December 2015: CU5.9 million) is due from Coccustomer (see notes 6.7 and 40.9). There are no other customers who represent more of trade receivables disclosed above include amounts (see below for aged analysis) that a context of the context of the past of t	on the outstanding bles over 120 days e not recoverable. A days based on est nterparty and an a to assess the pote ibuted to custome ired have the best ne trade receivable mpany A, the Grouthan 5% of the total are past due at the ottal debts because	balance. because allowances imated nalysis ential rs are credit s balance p's largest al balance end ethere
IFRS 7.34(c), 36(c)	60 days from the date of the invoice. Thereafter, interest is charged at 2% per annum of The Group has recognised an allowance for doubtful debts of 100% against all receiva historical experience has been that receivables that are past due beyond 120 days are for doubtful debts are recognised against trade receivables between 60 days and 120 irrecoverable amounts determined by reference to past default experience of the cour of the counterparty's current financial position. Before accepting any new customer, the Group uses an external credit scoring system customer's credit quality and defines credit limits by customer. Limits and scoring attriviewed twice a year. 80% of the trade receivables that are neither past due nor impass coring attributable under the external credit scoring system used by the Group. Of that the end of the year, CU6.9 million (31 December 2015: CU5.9 million) is due from Coccustomer (see notes 6.7 and 40.9). There are no other customers who represent more of trade receivables. Trade receivables disclosed above include amounts (see below for aged analysis) that of the reporting period for which the Group has not recognised an allowance for doubles not been a significant change in credit quality and the amounts (which include interests).	on the outstanding bles over 120 days e not recoverable. A days based on est nterparty and an a to assess the pote ibuted to custome ired have the best ne trade receivable mpany A, the Grouthan 5% of the total are past due at the ottal debts because	balance. because allowances imated nalysis ential rs are credit s balance p's largest al balance end ethere
IFRS 7.34(c), 36(c)	60 days from the date of the invoice. Thereafter, interest is charged at 2% per annum of The Group has recognised an allowance for doubtful debts of 100% against all receiva historical experience has been that receivables that are past due beyond 120 days are for doubtful debts are recognised against trade receivables between 60 days and 120 irrecoverable amounts determined by reference to past default experience of the cour of the counterparty's current financial position. Before accepting any new customer, the Group uses an external credit scoring system customer's credit quality and defines credit limits by customer. Limits and scoring attriviewed twice a year. 80% of the trade receivables that are neither past due nor impassoring attributable under the external credit scoring system used by the Group. Of the at the end of the year, CU6.9 million (31 December 2015: CU5.9 million) is due from Corcustomer (see notes 6.7 and 40.9). There are no other customers who represent more of trade receivables. Trade receivables disclosed above include amounts (see below for aged analysis) that of the reporting period for which the Group has not recognised an allowance for double has not been a significant change in credit quality and the amounts (which include intereceivable is more than 60 days outstanding) are still considered recoverable.	on the outstanding bles over 120 days e not recoverable. A days based on est nterparty and an a to assess the pote ibuted to custome ired have the best ne trade receivable mpany A, the Grouthan 5% of the total are past due at the ottal debts because	balance. because illowances imated nalysis ential rs are credit s balance p's largest al balance end ethere the
IFRS 7.34(c), 36(c)	60 days from the date of the invoice. Thereafter, interest is charged at 2% per annum of The Group has recognised an allowance for doubtful debts of 100% against all receiva historical experience has been that receivables that are past due beyond 120 days are for doubtful debts are recognised against trade receivables between 60 days and 120 irrecoverable amounts determined by reference to past default experience of the cour of the counterparty's current financial position. Before accepting any new customer, the Group uses an external credit scoring system customer's credit quality and defines credit limits by customer. Limits and scoring attriviewed twice a year. 80% of the trade receivables that are neither past due nor impassoring attributable under the external credit scoring system used by the Group. Of the at the end of the year, CU6.9 million (31 December 2015: CU5.9 million) is due from Corcustomer (see notes 6.7 and 40.9). There are no other customers who represent more of trade receivables. Trade receivables disclosed above include amounts (see below for aged analysis) that of the reporting period for which the Group has not recognised an allowance for double has not been a significant change in credit quality and the amounts (which include intereceivable is more than 60 days outstanding) are still considered recoverable.	on the outstanding bles over 120 days enot recoverable. A days based on est interparty and an a to assess the pote ibuted to custome ired have the best interparty and an a than 5% of the total are past due at the other trade receivable interparty and the structure of the total are past due at the other according to the total debts because erest accrued after	balance. because illowances imated nalysis ential rs are credit s balance p's largest al balance end there the
IFRS 7.34(c), 36(c)	60 days from the date of the invoice. Thereafter, interest is charged at 2% per annum of The Group has recognised an allowance for doubtful debts of 100% against all receiva historical experience has been that receivables that are past due beyond 120 days are for doubtful debts are recognised against trade receivables between 60 days and 120 irrecoverable amounts determined by reference to past default experience of the cour of the counterparty's current financial position. Before accepting any new customer, the Group uses an external credit scoring system customer's credit quality and defines credit limits by customer. Limits and scoring attriviewed twice a year. 80% of the trade receivables that are neither past due nor impassoring attributable under the external credit scoring system used by the Group. Of the at the end of the year, CU6.9 million (31 December 2015: CU5.9 million) is due from Corcustomer (see notes 6.7 and 40.9). There are no other customers who represent more of trade receivables. Trade receivables disclosed above include amounts (see below for aged analysis) that of the reporting period for which the Group has not recognised an allowance for double has not been a significant change in credit quality and the amounts (which include intereceivable is more than 60 days outstanding) are still considered recoverable.	on the outstanding bles over 120 days and recoverable. A days based on est interparty and an analysis of the section of the total are past due at the outstand of the outstand of the total are past due at the outstand of th	balance. because illowances imated nalysis ential rs are credit s balance p's largest al balance end there the
IFRS 7.34(c), 36(c)	60 days from the date of the invoice. Thereafter, interest is charged at 2% per annum of The Group has recognised an allowance for doubtful debts of 100% against all receiva historical experience has been that receivables that are past due beyond 120 days are for doubtful debts are recognised against trade receivables between 60 days and 120 irrecoverable amounts determined by reference to past default experience of the cour of the counterparty's current financial position. Before accepting any new customer, the Group uses an external credit scoring system customer's credit quality and defines credit limits by customer. Limits and scoring attrivereiwed twice a year. 80% of the trade receivables that are neither past due nor impassoring attributable under the external credit scoring system used by the Group. Of the at the end of the year, CU6.9 million (31 December 2015: CU5.9 million) is due from Corcustomer (see notes 6.7 and 40.9). There are no other customers who represent more of trade receivables. Trade receivables disclosed above include amounts (see below for aged analysis) that of the reporting period for which the Group has not recognised an allowance for doub has not been a significant change in credit quality and the amounts (which include intereceivable is more than 60 days outstanding) are still considered recoverable. Age of receivables that are past due but not impaired	on the outstanding bles over 120 days enot recoverable. A days based on est interparty and an a to assess the pote ibuted to custome ired have the best ine trade receivable impany A, the Grouthan 5% of the total are past due at the ottput debts because erest accrued after 31/12/16 CU'000	balance. because allowances imated nalysis ential rs are credit s balance p's largest al balance end ethere the 31/12/15 CU'000
IFRS 7.34(c), 36(c)	60 days from the date of the invoice. Thereafter, interest is charged at 2% per annum of The Group has recognised an allowance for doubtful debts of 100% against all receiva historical experience has been that receivables that are past due beyond 120 days are for doubtful debts are recognised against trade receivables between 60 days and 120 irrecoverable amounts determined by reference to past default experience of the cour of the counterparty's current financial position. Before accepting any new customer, the Group uses an external credit scoring system customer's credit quality and defines credit limits by customer. Limits and scoring attreviewed twice a year. 80% of the trade receivables that are neither past due nor impass coring attributable under the external credit scoring system used by the Group. Of that the end of the year, CU6.9 million (31 December 2015: CU5.9 million) is due from Coccustomer (see notes 6.7 and 40.9). There are no other customers who represent more of trade receivables. Trade receivables disclosed above include amounts (see below for aged analysis) that of the reporting period for which the Group has not recognised an allowance for doub has not been a significant change in credit quality and the amounts (which include intereceivable is more than 60 days outstanding) are still considered recoverable. Age of receivables that are past due but not impaired	on the outstanding bles over 120 days and recoverable. A days based on est interparty and an analysis of the second control of the second control of the total of the second control	balance. because allowances imated nalysis ential rs are credit s balance p's largest al balance end ethere the 31/12/15 CU'000
IFRS 7.34(c), 36(c)	60 days from the date of the invoice. Thereafter, interest is charged at 2% per annum of The Group has recognised an allowance for doubtful debts of 100% against all receiva historical experience has been that receivables that are past due beyond 120 days are for doubtful debts are recognised against trade receivables between 60 days and 120 irrecoverable amounts determined by reference to past default experience of the cour of the counterparty's current financial position. Before accepting any new customer, the Group uses an external credit scoring system customer's credit quality and defines credit limits by customer. Limits and scoring attrieviewed twice a year. 80% of the trade receivables that are neither past due nor impassoring attributable under the external credit scoring system used by the Group. Of that the end of the year, CU6.9 million (31 December 2015: CU5.9 million) is due from Corcustomer (see notes 6.7 and 40.9). There are no other customers who represent more of trade receivables. Trade receivables disclosed above include amounts (see below for aged analysis) that of the reporting period for which the Group has not recognised an allowance for doub has not been a significant change in credit quality and the amounts (which include intereceivable is more than 60 days outstanding) are still considered recoverable. Age of receivables that are past due but not impaired	on the outstanding bles over 120 days enot recoverable. A days based on est interparty and an a to assess the pote ibuted to custome ired have the best interparty and an a than 5% of the total are past due at the otful debts because erest accrued after 31/12/16 CU'000 1,100 462	balance. because allowances imated nalysis ential rs are credit s balance p's largest al balance end ethere the 31/12/15 CU'000 700 333
IFRS 7.34(c), 36(c)	60 days from the date of the invoice. Thereafter, interest is charged at 2% per annum of The Group has recognised an allowance for doubtful debts of 100% against all receiva historical experience has been that receivables that are past due beyond 120 days are for doubtful debts are recognised against trade receivables between 60 days and 120 irrecoverable amounts determined by reference to past default experience of the cour of the counterparty's current financial position. Before accepting any new customer, the Group uses an external credit scoring system customer's credit quality and defines credit limits by customer. Limits and scoring attrivereiwed twice a year. 80% of the trade receivables that are neither past due nor impassoring attributable under the external credit scoring system used by the Group. Of the at the end of the year, CU6.9 million (31 December 2015: CU5.9 million) is due from Corcustomer (see notes 6.7 and 40.9). There are no other customers who represent more of trade receivables. Trade receivables disclosed above include amounts (see below for aged analysis) that of the reporting period for which the Group has not recognised an allowance for doub has not been a significant change in credit quality and the amounts (which include intereceivable is more than 60 days outstanding) are still considered recoverable. Age of receivables that are past due but not impaired	on the outstanding bles over 120 days enot recoverable. A days based on est interparty and an a to assess the pote ibuted to custome ired have the best ine trade receivable impany A, the Grouthan 5% of the total are past due at the ottput debts because erest accrued after 31/12/16 CU'000	balance. because allowances imated nalysis ential rs are credit s balance p's largest al balance end ethere the 31/12/15 CU'0000 7000 3333
IFRS 7.34(c), 36(c)	60 days from the date of the invoice. Thereafter, interest is charged at 2% per annum of The Group has recognised an allowance for doubtful debts of 100% against all receiva historical experience has been that receivables that are past due beyond 120 days are for doubtful debts are recognised against trade receivables between 60 days and 120 irrecoverable amounts determined by reference to past default experience of the cour of the counterparty's current financial position. Before accepting any new customer, the Group uses an external credit scoring system customer's credit quality and defines credit limits by customer. Limits and scoring attrieviewed twice a year. 80% of the trade receivables that are neither past due nor impassoring attributable under the external credit scoring system used by the Group. Of that the end of the year, CU6.9 million (31 December 2015: CU5.9 million) is due from Corcustomer (see notes 6.7 and 40.9). There are no other customers who represent more of trade receivables. Trade receivables disclosed above include amounts (see below for aged analysis) that of the reporting period for which the Group has not recognised an allowance for doub has not been a significant change in credit quality and the amounts (which include intereceivable is more than 60 days outstanding) are still considered recoverable. Age of receivables that are past due but not impaired	on the outstanding bles over 120 days enot recoverable. A days based on est interparty and an a to assess the pote ibuted to custome ired have the best interparty and an a than 5% of the total are past due at the otful debts because erest accrued after 31/12/16 CU'000 1,100 462	balance. because allowances imated nalysis ential rs are credit s balance p's largest al balance end ethere

Source	International GAAP Holdings Limited		
	Notes to the consolidated financial statements for the year ended	d 31 December 2016 – contin	nued
IFRS 7.16	Movement in the allowance for doubtful debts		
		Year ended 31/12/16	Year ended 31/12/15
		CU'000	CU'000
	Balance at beginning of the year	838	628
	Impairment losses recognised on receivables	63	430
	Amounts written off during the year as uncollectible	-	(220)
	Amounts recovered during the year	-	-
	Impairment losses reversed	(103)	-
	Foreign exchange translation gains and losses	-	-
	Unwind of discount		_
	Balance at end of the year	798	838
IFRS 7.33(a),(b)	In determining the recoverability of a trade receivable, the Group consider trade receivable from the date credit was initially granted up to the end of credit risk is limited due to the fact that the customer base is large and	f the reporting period. The cor	,
IFRS 7.37(b)	Included in the allowance for doubtful debts are individually impaired tra (31 December 2015: CU430,000) which have been placed under liquidation the difference between the carrying amount of these trade receivables at liquidation proceeds. The Group does not hold any collateral over these between the carrying amount of these trade receivables at liquidation proceeds.	on. The impairment recognised nd the present value of the ex	d represents
IFRS 7.37(b)	Age of impaired trade receivables		
		31/12/16	31/12/15
		CU'000	CU'000
	60-90 days	353	320
	91-120 days	191	101
	121+ days	654	717
	Total	1,198	1,138
	25.2 Transfer of financial assets		
IFRS 7.14(a), 42D(a), (b), (c), (f)	During the year, the Group discounted trade receivables with an aggregar a bank for cash proceeds of CU1 million. If the trade receivables are not prequest the Group to pay the unsettled balance. As the Group has not trade relating to these trade receivables, it continues to recognise the full carry recognised the cash received on the transfer as a secured borrowing (see	oaid at maturity, the bank has t ansferred the significant risks a ring amount of the receivables	he right to and rewards
IFRS 7.42D(e)	At the end of the reporting period, the carrying amount of the trade rece have not been derecognised amounted to CU0.946 million and the carry is CU0.923 million.		

Source	International GAAP Holdings Limited				
	Notes to the consolidated financial state	ements for th	e year ended 31 De	cember 2016 – contin	ued
	26. Finance lease receivables				
				31/12/16	31/12/15
				CU'000	CU'000
	Current finance lease receivables			198	188
	Non-current finance lease receivables			830	717
				1,028	905
	26.1 Leasing arrangements				
IAS 17.47(f)	The Group entered into finance lease arrange	ements for cer	tain of its storage eq	uipment. All leases are d	enominated
IFRS 7.7	in Currency Units. The average term of finance				
	26.2 Amounts receivable under finance lea	ses			
IAS 17.47(a)		Minimum lea	se payments	Present value lea	of minimum se payments
	_	31/12/16	31/12/15	31/12/16	31/12/15
		CU'000	CU'000	CU'000	CU'000
	Not later than one year	282	279	198	188
	Later than one year and not later than five years	1,074	909	830	717
	Later than five years				
		1,356	1,188	1,028	905
IAS 17.47(b)	Less: unearned finance income	(328)	(283)	n/a	n/a
	Present value of minimum lease payments receivable	1,028	905	1,028	905
IAS 17.47(d)	Allowance for uncollectible lease payments				
	_	1,028	905	1,028	905
IAS 17.47(c)	Unguaranteed residual values of assets lease at CU37,000 (31 December 2015: CU42,000).	ed under financ	ce leases at the end c	of the reporting period a	re estimated
IFRS 7.7	The interest rate inherent in the leases is fixe interest rate contracted is approximately 10.5			_	eeffective
IFRS 7.36(c)	The finance lease receivables at the end of th	e reporting pe	riod are neither past	due nor impaired.	

Source	International GAAP Holdings Limited		
	Notes to the consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 Dec	ember 2016 – contin	ued
	27. Amounts due from (to) customers under construction contracts		
		31/12/16	31/12/15
		CU'000	CU'000
	Contracts in progress at the end of the reporting period		
IAS 11.40(a)	Construction costs incurred plus recognised profits less recognised losses to date	1,517	1,386
	Less: progress billings	(1,313)	(1,171)
		204	215
	Recognised and included in the consolidated financial statements as amounts due:		
IAS 11.42(a)	– from customers under construction contracts	240	230
IAS 11.42(b)	– to customers under construction contracts	(36)	(15)
		204	215
IAS 11.40(b),(c)	At 31 December 2016, retentions held by customers for contract work amounted (31 December 2015: CU69,000). Advances received from customers for contract v (31 December 2015: nil).		4,000

Commentary:

Notes 28 to 31 below set out detailed descriptions and reconciliations for each class of share capital and each component of equity, as required by IAS 1.79, IAS 1.106 and IAS 1.106A. IAS 1 permits some flexibility regarding the level of detail presented in the statement of changes in equity and these supporting notes. IAS 1 allows an analysis of other comprehensive income by item for each component of equity to be presented either in the statement of changes in equity or in the notes. For the purposes of the preparation of this model, the Group has elected to present the analysis of other comprehensive income in the notes.

IAS 1 also allows that some of the details regarding items of other comprehensive income (income tax and reclassification adjustments) may be disclosed in the notes rather than in the statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income. Entities will determine the most appropriate presentation for their circumstances – electing to present much of the detail in the notes (as we have done in these model financial statements) ensures that the primary financial statements are not cluttered by unnecessary detail, but it does result in very detailed supporting notes.

Whichever presentation is selected, entities will need to ensure that the following requirements are met:

- detailed reconciliations are required for each class of share capital (in the statement of changes in equity or in the notes);
- detailed reconciliations are required for each component of equity separately disclosing the impact on each such component of (i) profit or loss, (ii) each item of other comprehensive income, and (iii) transactions with owners in their capacity as owners (in the statement of changes in equity or in the notes);
- the amount of income tax relating to each item of other comprehensive income should be disclosed (in the statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income or in the notes); and
- reclassification adjustments should be presented separately from the related item of other comprehensive income (in the statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income or in the notes).

	International GAAP Holdings Limited			
	Notes to the consolidated financial statements for the year end	led 31 Decem	ber 2016 – contin	ued
	28. Issued capital			
			31/12/16	31/12/15
			CU'000	CU'000
	Share capital		17,819	23,005
	Share premium		14,620	25,667
			00.400	40.670
			32,439	48,672
	Issued capital comprises:			
IAS 1.79(a)	14,844,000 fully paid ordinary shares		29,469	45,797
146470()	(31 December 2015: 20,130,000)		4.775	4 775
IAS 1.79(a)	2,500,000 partly paid ordinary shares (31 December 2015: 2,500,000)		1,775	1,775
IAS 1.79(a)	1,200,000 fully paid 10% convertible			
	non-participating preference shares		4.405	4.400
	(31 December 2015: 1,100,000)		1,195	1,100
			32,439	48,672
				•
IAS 1.79(a)	28.1 Fully paid ordinary shares			
		Number		Share
	_	of shares	Share capital	premium
		'000	CU'000	CU'000
	Balance at 1 January 2015	20,130	20,130	25,667
	Movements [describe]	_	-	23,007
	_			
	Balance at 31 December 2015	20,130	20,130	25,667
	Issue of shares under the Company's employee share option plan	314	314	-
	(see note 42.1)	2	2	_
	Issue of shares for consulting services Share buy-back	3 (5,603)	3 (5,603)	5 (10,853)
	Share buy-back Share buy-back costs	(3,003)	(3,003)	(10,833)
	Income tax relating to share buy-back costs	_	_	83
	_			
	Balance at 31 December 2016	14,844	14,844	14,625
			od on one or other transfer	Calabara da
	Fully paid ordinary shares, which have a par value of CU1, carry one vo			
IFRS 2.48	The fair value of shares issued for consulting services was determined consulting services.	by reference to	o the market rate fo	r similar
	The shares bought back in the current year were cancelled immediatel	y.		

Source	International GAAP Holdings Limited			
	Notes to the consolidated financial statements for the	e year ended 31 Decem	ber 2016 – contin	ued
IAS 1.79(a)	28.2 Partly paid ordinary shares			
		Number of shares	Share capital	Share premium
		'000	CU'000	CU'000
	Balance at 1 January 2015	2,500	1,775	-
	Movements [describe]			
	Balance at 31 December 2015	2,500	1,775	-
	Movements [describe]			
	Balance at 31 December 2016	2,500	1,775	
	Partly paid ordinary shares, which have a par value of CU1, c to dividends.	arry one vote per share b	out do not carry a ri	ght
IAS 1.79(a)	28.3 Convertible non-participating preference shares	Newsberr	Characteristics	Cl
		Number of shares	Share capital	Share premium
		'000	CU'000	CU'000
	Balance at 1 January 2015	1,100	1,100	-
	Movements [describe]			
	Balance at 31 December 2015	1,100	1,100	-
	Issue of shares	100	100	-
	Share issue costs	-	-	(6)
	Income tax relating to share issue costs			1
	Balance at 31 December 2016	1,200	1,200	(5)
	Convertible non-participating preference shares, which have a discretionary 10% preference dividend before any dividence. The convertible non-participating preference shares can be basis at the option of the holder from 1 November 2019 to 3 remaining after the end of the conversion period will remain Convertible non-participating preference shares have no rig no voting rights. 28.4 Share options granted under the Company's employed.	ds are declared to the ord converted into ordinary s 31 October 2022. Any und as outstanding non-part ht to share in any surplus	dinary shareholders shares on a one-for onverted preferenc icipating preferenc	-one ce shares e shares.
IAS 1 70(a)			rdinary shares of th	a Company
IAS 1.79(a)	At 31 December 2016, executives and senior employees held of which 136,000 will expire on 30 March 2017 and 60,000 w executives and senior employees held options over 290,000 due to expire on 30 March 2016 and 150,000 were due to exp	vill expire on 28 Septemb O ordinary shares of the C	er 2017. At 31 Dece ompany, of which 1	mber 2015,
	Share options granted under the Company's employee share		hts to dividends an	id no voting

rights. Further details of the employee share option plan are provided in note 42.1.

The redeemable cumulative preference shares issued by the Company have been classified as liabilities (see note 34).

28.5 Redeemable cumulative preference shares

122

	Notes to the consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 Dece	nber 2016 – conti	nued
	29. Reserves (net of income tax)		
		31/12/16	31/12/15
		CU'000	CU'000
	General	807	80
	Properties revaluation	1,198	5
	Investments revaluation	593	52
	Equity-settled employee benefits	544	33
	Cash flow hedging	317	27
	Foreign currency translation	186	22
	Option premium on convertible notes	592	
	Others [describe]	_	
		4,237	2,226
AS 1.106(d)	29.1 General reserve		
		Year ended 31/12/16	Year ended 31/12/1!
		CU'000	CU'000
	Balance at beginning of year	807	807
	Movements [describe]	_	-
	Balance at end of year	807	80
AS 1.79(b)	The general reserve is used from time to time to transfer profits from retained earn. There is no policy of regular transfer. As the general reserve is created by a transfer to another and is not an item of other comprehensive income, items included in the reclassified subsequently to profit or loss.	from one compone	ent of equity

Source	International GAAP Holdings Limited	
	Notes to the consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2016 – conti	nued
IAS 1. 90	29.2 Properties revaluation reserve	
IAS 1.106(d)		
IAS 1.106A		
	Year ended 31/12/16	Year ended 31/12/15
	CU'000	CU'000
IAS 16.77(f)	Balance at beginning of year 51	51
	Increase arising on revaluation of properties 1,643	-
IAS 36.126(c)	Impairment losses –	-
IAS 36.126(d)	Reversals of impairment losses –	-
	Deferred tax liability arising on revaluation (493)	-
	Reversal of deferred tax liability on revaluation –	-
	Transferred to retained earnings (3)	-
	Others [describe]	
	Balance at end of year 1,198	51
IAS 1.79(b)	The properties revaluation reserve arises on the revaluation of land and buildings. When revalued land	_
IAS 1.82A	are sold, the portion of the properties revaluation reserve that relates to that asset is transferred direct earnings. Items of other comprehensive income included in the properties revaluation reserve will not subsequently to profit or loss.	•
IAS 16.77(f)	Distributions from the properties revaluation reserve can be made where they are in accordance with requirements of the Company's constitution, the Corporations Act and relevant case law. Amounts ma effectively distributed out of the properties revaluation reserve as part of a share buy-back. Generally, restriction on the payment of 'bonus shares' out of the properties revaluation reserve. However, the padistributions out of the reserve is restricted by the terms of the Company's constitution. These restrict apply to any amounts transferred to retained profits. The directors do not currently intend to make any from the properties revaluation reserve.	y also be there is no ayment of cash ions do not

Source	International GAAP Holdings Limited		
	Notes to the consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 Decemb	per 2016 – contil	nued
IAS 1. 90	29.3 Investments revaluation reserve		
IAS 1.106(d)			
IAS 1.106A			
		Year ended	Year ended
		31/12/16	31/12/15
		CU'000	CU'000
	Balance at beginning of year	527	470
FRS 7.20(a)	Net gain arising on revaluation of available-for-sale financial assets	94	8′
	Income tax relating to gain arising on revaluation of available-for-sale financial assets	(28)	(24
IFRS 7.20(a)	Cumulative (gain)/loss reclassified to profit or loss on sale of available-for-sale financial assets	-	-
FRS 7.20(a)	Cumulative loss reclassified to profit or loss on impairment of available-for-sale financial assets	-	-
	Balance at end of year	593	527
AS 1.79(b)	The investments revaluation reserve represents the cumulative gains and losses arising	ng on the revalua	tion of
IAS 1.82A	available-for-sale financial assets that have been recognised in other comprehensive in	ncome, net of am	ounts
	reclassified to profit or loss when those assets have been disposed of or are determin	led to be impaired	J.
IAC 4.40C(-1)	20.4 Faultu patelad amplausa hanafita yangun		
AS 1.106(d)	29.4 Equity-settled employee benefits reserve	\/	\/
		Year ended 31/12/16	Year ended 31/12/15
	-	CU'000	CU'000
	Balance at beginning of year	338	-
	Arising on share-based payments	206	338
	Others [describe]		
	Balance at end of year	544	338
	-		
IAS 1.79(b)	The above equity-settled employee benefits reserve relates to share options granted employees under its employee share option plan. Further information about share-bais set out in note 42.1.		
	is set out in note 12.1.		

Source	International GAAP Holdings Limited		
	Notes to the consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 Decemb	er 2016 – contir	nued
IAS 1.90	29.5 Cash flow hedging reserve		
IAS 1.106(d)			
IAS 1.106A			
7.73 1.1007		Year ended 31/12/16	Year ended 31/12/15
		CU'000	CU'000
	Balance at beginning of year	278	258
IFRS 7.23(c)	Gain/(loss) arising on changes in fair value of hedging instruments entered into for cash flow hedges		
	Forward foreign exchange contracts	209	(41)
	Interest rate swaps	227	357
	Currency swaps	_	-
	Income tax related to gains/losses recognised in other comprehensive income	(131)	(95)
IFRS 7.23(d)	Cumulative (gain)/loss arising on changes in fair value of hedging instruments reclassified to profit or loss		
	Forward foreign exchange contracts	(3)	_
	Interest rate swaps	(120)	(86)
	Currency swaps	_	-
	Income tax related to amounts reclassified to profit or loss	37	26
IFRS 7.23(e)	Transferred to initial carrying amount of hedged items		
	Forward foreign exchange contracts	(257)	(201)
	Income tax related to amounts transferred to initial carrying amount of hedged item	77	60
	Others [describe]		
	Balance at end of year	317	278
IAS 1.79(b) IAS 1.82A	The cash flow hedging reserve represents the cumulative effective portion of gains or in fair value of hedging instruments entered into for cash flow hedges. The cumulative in fair value of the hedging instruments that are recognised and accumulated under the reserve will be reclassified to profit or loss only when the hedged transaction affects that as a basis adjustment to the non-financial hedged item, consistent with the Group's accumulated.	gain or loss arising the heading of cash the profit or loss, o	ng on changes n flow hedging
IFRS 7.23(d)	Cumulative (gains)/losses arising on changes in fair value of hedging instruments recla or loss during the year are included in the following line items:	ssified from equit	ty into profit
		Year ended 31/12/16	Year ended 31/12/15
	•	CU'000	CU'000
	Revenue	_	_
	Other income	_	-
	Finance costs	(120)	(86)
		(3)	_
	Other expenses	(-)	
	Other expenses Income tax expense	114	86
			86
	Income tax expense		86

	Notes to the consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December	er 2016 – contir	nued
IAS 1.90	29.6 Foreign currency translation reserve		
IAS 1.106(d)			
IAS 1.106A			
IAS 1.82A		Year ended 31/12/16	Year ende 31/12/1
		CU'000	CU'000
	Balance at beginning of year	225	14
	Exchange differences arising on translating the foreign operations	75	12
	Income tax relating to gains arising on translating the net assets of foreign operations	(22)	(36
	Loss on hedging instruments designated in hedges of the net assets of foreign operations	(12)	
	Income tax relating to loss on hedge of the net assets of foreign operations	4	
	Gain/loss reclassified to profit or loss on disposal of foreign operations	(166)	
	Income tax related to gain/loss reclassified on disposal of foreign operations	51	
	Gain/loss on hedging instruments reclassified to profit or loss on disposal of foreign operations	46	
	Income tax related to gain/loss on hedging instruments reclassified on disposal of foreign operation	(15)	
	Others (describe)		
	Balance at end of year	186	22
IAS 1.82A	their functional currencies to the Group's presentation currency (i.e. Currency Units) are comprehensive income and accumulated in the foreign currency translation reserve. Go instruments that are designated as hedging instruments for hedges of net investments included in the foreign currency translation reserve. Exchange differences previously accurrency translation reserve (in respect of translating both the net assets of foreign operations) are reclassified to profit or loss on the disposal of the foreign operation.	ains and losses of the second ains and losses of the second ains and losses of the second ains are also also also are also also also also also ains and losses of the second ains are also also also also also also also also	on hedging ations are e foreign
IAS 1.106(d)	29.7 Option premium on convertible notes		
· · ·		Year ended 31/12/16	Year ended 31/12/1
		CU'000	CU'000
	Balance at beginning of year	_	
	Recognition of option premium on issue of convertible notes	834	
	Related income tax	(242)	
	Balance at end of year	592	
AS 1.79(b)	The option premium on convertible notes represents the equity component (conversion CU4.5 million 5.5% convertible notes issued during the year (see note 33).	n rights) of the	
	CO4.3 Million 3.3% convertible notes issued during the year (see note 33).		

Source	International GAAP Holdings Limited		
	Notes to the consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31	December 2016 – conti	nued
IAS 1.106(b), (d)	30. Retained earnings and dividends on equity instruments		
IAS 1.106A			
		31/12/16	31/12/15
		CU'000	CU'000
	Retained earnings	111,539	95,378
		Year ended 31/12/16	Year ended 31/12/15
		CU'000	CU'000
	Balance at beginning of year	95,378	74,366
	Profit attributable to owners of the Company	22,750	27,357
	Other comprehensive income arising from remeasurement of defined benefit obligation net of income tax	564	134
	Difference arising on disposal of interest in Subone Limited (see note 19.3)	34	-
	Payment of dividends	(6,635)	(6,479)
	Share buy-back	(555)	-
	Related income tax	-	-
	Transfer from properties revaluation reserve	3	-
	Others [describe]		
	Balance at end of year	111,539	95,378
IAS 1.107 IAS 1.137(a) IAS 10.13	On 23 May 2016, a dividend of 32.1 cents per share (total dividend CU6.515 m ordinary shares. In May 2015, the dividend paid was 31.64 cents per share (to Dividends of 10 cents per share were paid on convertible non-participating p (2015: 10 cents per share) amounting to a total dividend of CU0.12 million (20 In respect of the current year, the directors propose that a dividend of 26.31 on 25 May 2017. This dividend is subject to approval by shareholders at the A been included as a liability in these consolidated financial statements. The proshareholders on the Register of Members on 21 April 2017. The total estimate million. The payment of this dividend will not have any tax consequences for the content of the consolidated for the consequences for the consolidated financial statements.	reference shares during the standard CU6.369 million of the standard CU6.369 million of the standard control of the standard c	he year shareholders and has not le to all

	International GAAP Holdings Limited		
	Notes to the consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 Decemb	er 2016 – contir	nued
IAS 1.106(b), (d)	31. Nonwcontrolling interests		
IAS 1.106A			
		Year ended 31/12/16	Year ended 31/12/15
		CU'000	CU'000
	Balance at beginning of year	22,058	18,83
	Share of profit for the year	4,392	3,22
	Non-controlling interests arising on the acquisition of Subsix Limited (see note 44)	127	
	Additional non-controlling interests arising on disposal of interest in Subone Limited (see note 19.3)	179	
	Non-controlling interest relating to outstanding vested share options held		
	by the employees of Subsix Limited (i)	5	
	Balance at end of year	26,761	22,058
IFRS 7.8(f)	the market-based measure of these share options measured in accordance with IF Further details of the employee share option plan are provided in note 42.2. 32. Borrowings	2 ac ene dequi	
IFRS 7.8(†)	32. Borrowings	21/12/16	21/12/16
	-	31/12/16	31/12/15
		CLUMAN	CLUOOC
	Unsecured – at amortised cost	CU'000	CU'000
	Unsecured – at amortised cost Bank overdrafts		
	Bank overdrafts	520	314
	Bank overdrafts Bills of exchange (i)		314
	Bank overdrafts Bills of exchange (i) Loans from:	520 358	31 ⁴ 916
	Bank overdrafts Bills of exchange (i)	520	314 916 29,843
	Bank overdrafts Bills of exchange (i) Loans from: - related parties (ii) (see note 43.3)	520 358 10,376	314 916 29,843 3,518
	Bank overdrafts Bills of exchange (i) Loans from: - related parties (ii) (see note 43.3) - other entities (iii)	520 358 10,376 3,701	314 916 29,843 3,518
	Bank overdrafts Bills of exchange (i) Loans from: - related parties (ii) (see note 43.3) - other entities (iii) - government (iv)	520 358 10,376 3,701 2,798	314 916 29,843 3,518
	Bank overdrafts Bills of exchange (i) Loans from: - related parties (ii) (see note 43.3) - other entities (iii) - government (iv) Convertible notes (note 33)	520 358 10,376 3,701 2,798 4,144	314 916 29,843 3,518
	Bank overdrafts Bills of exchange (i) Loans from: - related parties (ii) (see note 43.3) - other entities (iii) - government (iv) Convertible notes (note 33) Perpetual notes (v)	520 358 10,376 3,701 2,798 4,144	314 916 29,84 <u>3</u> 3,518 2,610 -
	Bank overdrafts Bills of exchange (i) Loans from: - related parties (ii) (see note 43.3) - other entities (iii) - government (iv) Convertible notes (note 33) Perpetual notes (v)	520 358 10,376 3,701 2,798 4,144 1,905	314 916 29,843 3,518 2,610 -
	Bank overdrafts Bills of exchange (i) Loans from: - related parties (ii) (see note 43.3) - other entities (iii) - government (iv) Convertible notes (note 33) Perpetual notes (v) Others [describe]	520 358 10,376 3,701 2,798 4,144 1,905	314 916 29,843 3,518 2,610 - - - 37,20°
	Bank overdrafts Bills of exchange (i) Loans from: - related parties (ii) (see note 43.3) - other entities (iii) - government (iv) Convertible notes (note 33) Perpetual notes (v) Others [describe] Secured – at amortised cost	520 358 10,376 3,701 2,798 4,144 1,905 	314 916 29,843 3,518 2,610 - - - 37,20°
	Bank overdrafts Bills of exchange (i) Loans from: - related parties (ii) (see note 43.3) - other entities (iii) - government (iv) Convertible notes (note 33) Perpetual notes (v) Others [describe] Secured – at amortised cost Bank overdrafts	520 358 10,376 3,701 2,798 4,144 1,905 - 23,802	314 916 29,843 3,518 2,610 - - 37,201
	Bank overdrafts Bills of exchange (i) Loans from: - related parties (ii) (see note 43.3) - other entities (iii) - government (iv) Convertible notes (note 33) Perpetual notes (v) Others [describe] Secured – at amortised cost Bank overdrafts Bank loans (vi) Loans from other entities (iii) Transferred receivables (vii)	520 358 10,376 3,701 2,798 4,144 1,905 ————————————————————————————————————	314 916 29,843 3,518 2,610 - - 37,201
	Bank overdrafts Bills of exchange (i) Loans from: - related parties (ii) (see note 43.3) - other entities (iii) - government (iv) Convertible notes (note 33) Perpetual notes (v) Others [describe] Secured - at amortised cost Bank overdrafts Bank loans (vi) Loans from other entities (iii) Transferred receivables (vii) Finance lease liabilities (viii)	520 358 10,376 3,701 2,798 4,144 1,905 - 23,802 - 18 10,674 575	314 916 29,843 3,518 2,610 - - 37,20° 64 13,483
	Bank overdrafts Bills of exchange (i) Loans from: - related parties (ii) (see note 43.3) - other entities (iii) - government (iv) Convertible notes (note 33) Perpetual notes (v) Others [describe] Secured – at amortised cost Bank overdrafts Bank loans (vi) Loans from other entities (iii) Transferred receivables (vii)	520 358 10,376 3,701 2,798 4,144 1,905 23,802 18 10,674 575 923 14	314 916 29,843 3,518 2,610 - - 37,201 64 13,483 649
	Bank overdrafts Bills of exchange (i) Loans from: - related parties (ii) (see note 43.3) - other entities (iii) - government (iv) Convertible notes (note 33) Perpetual notes (v) Others [describe] Secured - at amortised cost Bank overdrafts Bank loans (vi) Loans from other entities (iii) Transferred receivables (vii) Finance lease liabilities (viii)	520 358 10,376 3,701 2,798 4,144 1,905 — 23,802 18 10,674 575 923 14 — 12,204	314 916 29,843 3,518 2,610 37,20° 64 13,483 649 89
	Bank overdrafts Bills of exchange (i) Loans from: - related parties (ii) (see note 43.3) - other entities (iii) - government (iv) Convertible notes (note 33) Perpetual notes (v) Others [describe] Secured - at amortised cost Bank overdrafts Bank loans (vi) Loans from other entities (iii) Transferred receivables (vii) Finance lease liabilities (viii) Others [describe]	520 358 10,376 3,701 2,798 4,144 1,905 23,802 18 10,674 575 923 14 12,204 36,006	314 916 29,843 3,518 2,610 - - 37,201 64 13,483 649 - 89 - 14,285 51,486
	Bank overdrafts Bills of exchange (i) Loans from: - related parties (ii) (see note 43.3) - other entities (iii) - government (iv) Convertible notes (note 33) Perpetual notes (v) Others [describe]	520 358 10,376 3,701 2,798 4,144 1,905 23,802 18 10,674 575 923 14 12,204 36,006 22,446	CU'0000 314 916 29,843 3,518 2,610 - - 37,201 64 13,483 649 - 89 - 14,285 51,486 25,600
	Bank overdrafts Bills of exchange (i) Loans from: - related parties (ii) (see note 43.3) - other entities (iii) - government (iv) Convertible notes (note 33) Perpetual notes (v) Others [describe] Secured - at amortised cost Bank overdrafts Bank loans (vi) Loans from other entities (iii) Transferred receivables (vii) Finance lease liabilities (viii) Others [describe]	520 358 10,376 3,701 2,798 4,144 1,905 23,802 18 10,674 575 923 14 12,204 36,006	314 916 29,843 3,518 2,610 - - 37,201 64 13,483 649 - 89 - 14,285 51,486

Source International GAAP Holdings Limited

Notes to the consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2016 – continued 32.1 Summary of borrowing arrangements

IFRS 7.7

- (i) Bills of exchange with a variable interest rate were issued in 2009. The current weighted average effective interest rate on the bills is 6.8% per annum (31 December 2015: 6.8% per annum).
- (ii) Amounts repayable to related parties of the Group. Interest of 8.0% 8.2% per annum is charged on the outstanding loan balances (31 December 2015: 8.0% 8.2% per annum).
- (iii) Fixed rate loans with a finance company with remaining maturity periods not exceeding 3 years
 (31 December 2015: 4 years). The weighted average effective interest rate on the loans is 8.15% per annum
 (31 December 2015: 8.10% per annum). The Group hedges a portion of the loans for interest rate risk via an interest rate swap exchanging fixed rate interest for variable rate interest. The outstanding balance is adjusted for fair value movements in the hedged risk, being movements in the inter-bank rate in A Land.
- (iv) On 17 December 2015, the Group received an interest-free loan of CU3 million from the government of A Land to finance staff training over a two-year period. The loan is repayable in full at the end of that two-year period. Using prevailing market interest rates for an equivalent loan of 7.2%, the fair value of the loan is estimated at CU2.61 million. The difference of CU390,000 between the gross proceeds and the fair value of the loan is the benefit derived from the interest-free loan and is recognised as deferred revenue (see note 41). Interest expenses CU188,000 were recognised on this loan in 2016 and CU202,000 will be recognised in 2017 (see note 9).
- (v) 2,500 perpetual notes with a coupon rate of 6% per annum were issued on 27 August 2016 at CU2.5 million principal value. Issue costs of CU0.595 million were incurred.
- (vi) Secured by a mortgage over the Group's freehold land and buildings (see note 15). The weighted average effective interest rate on the bank loans is 8.30% per annum (31 December 2015: 8.32% per annum).
- (vii) Secured by a charge over certain of the Group's trade receivables (see note 25.2).
- (viii) Secured by the assets leased. The borrowings are a mix of variable and fixed interest rate debt with repayment periods not exceeding 5 years (see note 38.2).

32.2 Breach of loan agreement

IFRS 7.18

During the current year, the Group was late in paying interest for the first quarter on one of its loans with a carrying amount of CU5.00 million. The delay arose because of a temporary lack of funds on the date when interest was payable due to a technical problem on settlement. The interest payment outstanding of CU107,500 was repaid in full a week later, including the additional interest and penalty. The lender did not request accelerated repayment of the loan and the terms of the loan were not changed. Management has reviewed the Group's settlement procedures to ensure that such circumstances do not recur.

Source	International GAAP Holdings Limited	
	Notes to the consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December 20	16 – continued
IFRS 7.7	33. Convertible notes	
	On 13 September 2016, the Company issued 4.5 million 5.5% CU denominated convertible n principal amount of CU4.5 million. Each note entitles the holder to convert to ordinary share of CU1.00.	
	Conversion may occur at any time between 13 July 2017 and 12 September 2019. If the notes converted, they will be redeemed on 13 September 2019 at CU1 each. Interest of 5.5% per all quarterly up until the notes are converted or redeemed.	
IAS 32.28	The convertible notes contain two components: liability and equity elements. The equity elements in equity under the heading of "option premium on convertible notes". The effective interest element on initial recognition is 8.2% per annum.	
		CU'000
	Proceeds of issue	4,950
	Liability component at the date of issue	(4,116)
	Equity component	834
	Liability component at the date of issue	4,116
	Interest charged calculated at an effective interest rate of 8.2%	110
	Interest paid	(82)
	Liability component at 31 December 2016 (included in "borrowings" (note 32))	4,144

Source	International GAAP Holdings Limited		
	Notes to the consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 Decem	ber 2016 – contin	ued
	34. Other financial liabilities		
		31/12/16	31/12/15
		CU'000	CU'000
	Financial guarantee contracts	24	18
IFRS 7.22(b)	Derivatives that are designated and effective as hedging instruments		
	carried at fair value	0.7	
	Foreign currency forward contracts	87	_
	Interest rate swaps	5	_
	Currency swaps Others [describe]	-	_
	Others [describe]		
IFRS 7.8(e)	Financial liabilities carried at fair value through profit or loss (FVTPL)		
	Non-derivative financial liabilities designated as at FVTPL on initial recognition (i)	14,875	_
	Held for trading derivatives not designated in hedge accounting relationships (ii)	51	_
	Held for trading non-derivative financial liabilities	_	_
		14,926	
	Others (contingent consideration) (iii)		_
		15,117	18
	Current	116	18
	Non-current	15,001	_
		15,117	18
IFRS 7.7	(i) 3,000,000 redeemable cumulative preference shares with a coupon rate of 7% per on 1 June 2016 at an issue price of CU5 per share. The shares are redeemable on per share. The shares are unsecured borrowings of the Group and are designated. These redeemable cumulative preference shares do not contain any equity comp as financial liabilities in their entirety. In addition, the Group has designated these financial liabilities at FVTPL as permitted by IAS 39. The preference shares have fix	31 May 2018 at CU d as at FVTPL (see b onent and are class preference shares	5 pelow). sified as
	mature on 31 May 2018. To reduce the fair value risk of changing interest rates, the Group has entered into interest rate swap. The swap's notional principal is CU15 million and matches the redeemable preference shares. The swap matures on 31 May 2018. The designati as at FVTPL eliminates the accounting mismatch arising on measuring the liability measuring the derivative at FVTPL.	principal of the cun on of preference sh	nulative nares
	Dividends of CU613,000 (2015: nil) were paid on redeemable cumulative preference in profit or loss in the "other gains and losses" line item.	ce shares and are in	ncluded
	(ii) A pay-floating receive-fixed interest rate swap economically hedges fair value intercumulative preference shares.	rest rate risk of red	eemable
	(iii) Other financial liabilities include CU75,000 representing the estimated fair value or relating to the acquisition of Subsix Limited (see note 44.2). There has been no characteristic contingent consideration since the acquisition date.	_	

Source	International GAAP Holdings Limited				
	Notes to the consolidated financial statement	ts for the year e	nded 31 Decemb	per 2016 – contin	ued
	35. Provisions				
				31/12/16	31/12/15
				CU'000	CU'000
	Employee benefits (i)			1,334	4,388
	Other provisions (see below)		-	4,316	1,038
			-	5,650	5,426
	Current			3,356	3,195
	Non-current		_	2,294	2,231
			-	5,650	5,426
	Other provisions				
		Rectification work (ii)	Warranties (iii)	Onerous leases (iv)	Total
		CU'000	CU'000	CU'000	CU'000
IAS 37.84(a)	Balance at 1 January 2016	-	295	743	1,038
IAS 37.84(b)	Additional provisions recognised	4,170	338	369	4,877
IAS 37.84(c)	Reductions arising from payments/other sacrifices of future economic benefits	(1,112)	(90)	(310)	(1,512)
IAS 37.84(d)	Reductions resulting from re-measurement or settlement without cost	-	(15)	(100)	(115)
IAS 37.84(e)	Unwinding of discount and effect of changes in the discount rate	-	-	28	28
	Others [describe]				
IAS 37.84(a)	Balance at 31 December 2016	3,058	528	730	4,316
IFRS 3.B64(j)	(i) The provision for employee benefits represents		_		
IAS 37.85(a),(b)	accrued and compensation claims made by em recognised an additional contingent liability of (outstanding against that company, which was s of the provision for the current year results from	CU45,000 in respo ettled in February	ect of employees' (2017. The decrea	compensation clai ase in the carrying	ms
IAS 37.85(a),(b)	(ii) The provision for rectification work relates to the rectification of goods supplied to one of the Ground for 2017 is CU1.94 million, and for 2018 is CU1.1 purposes of measuring the provision for rectification.	oup's major custo 18 million. These	mers (see note 13 amounts have not	3.6). Anticipated ex t been discounted	penditure
IAS 37.85(a),(b)	(iii) The provision for warranty claims represents the outflow of economic benefits that will be required of goods legislation. The estimate has been makes a result of new materials, altered manufactures.	ed under the Gro de on the basis of	up's obligations fo	or warranties unde ty trends and may	er local sale vary
IAS 37.85(a),(b)	(iv) The provision for onerous lease contracts repretant that the Group is presently obligated to make unless revenue expected to be earned on the least applicable. The estimate may vary as a result of arrangements where applicable. The unexpired	nder non-cancellase, including estime changes in the ut	able onerous oper nated future sub-le cilisation of the lea	rating lease contra ease revenue, whe ased premises and	icts, ere

Source	International GAAP Holdings Limited			
	Notes to the consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2016 – continued			
	36. Other liabilities			
		31/12/16	31/12/15	
		CU'000	CU'000	
	Lease incentives (note 48.1)	270	360	
	Others [describe]		5	
		270	365	
	Current	90	95	
	Non-current	180	270	
		270	365	
	37. Trade and other payables			
		31/12/16	31/12/15	
		CU'000	CU'000	
	Trade payables	15,659	20,422	
IFRS 2.51(b)	Cash-settled share-based payments	-	-	
	Others [describe]			
		15,659	20,422	
IFRS 7.7	The average credit period on purchases of certain goods from B Land is 4 months. Ne trade payables for the first 60 days from the date of the invoice. Thereafter, interest on the outstanding balance. The Group has financial risk management policies in planare paid within the pre-agreed credit terms.	is charged at 2% per	annum	

Source International GAAP Holdings Limited

Notes to the consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2016 – continued 38. Obligations under finance leases

38.1 Leasing arrangements

IAS 17.31(e) IFRS 7.7 The Group leased certain of its manufacturing equipment under finance leases. The average lease term is 5 years (2015: 5 years). The Group has options to purchase the equipment for a nominal amount at the end of the lease terms. The Group's obligations under finance leases are secured by the lessors' title to the leased assets.

Interest rates underlying all obligations under finance leases are fixed at respective contract dates ranging from 3.5% to 5.5% (2015: 3.75% to 6%) per annum.

38.2 Finance lease liabilities

IAS 17.31(b)

	Minimum le	ease payments		Present value of minimum lease payments
	31/12/16	31/12/15	31/12/16	31/12/15
	CU'000	CU'000	CU'000	CU'000
Not later than one year	10	58	9	54
Later than one year and not later than five years	6	44	5	35
Later than five years				
	16	102	14	89
Less: future finance charges	(2)	(13)		
Present value of minimum lease payments	14	89	14	89
			31/12/16	31/12/15
Included in the consolidated financial statements as:				
– current borrowings (note 32)			9	54
– non-current borrowings (note 32)			5	35
			14	89

Source **International GAAP Holdings Limited**

Notes to the consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2016 - continued 39. Retirement benefit plans

39.1 Defined contribution plans

The Group operates defined contribution retirement benefit plans for all qualifying employees of its subsidiary in C Land. The assets of the plans are held separately from those of the Group in funds under the control of trustees. Where employees leave the plans prior to full vesting of the contributions, the contributions payable by the Group are reduced by the amount of forfeited contributions.

IAS 19.43 The employees of the Group's subsidiary in B Land are members of a state-managed retirement benefit plan operated by the government of B Land. The subsidiary is required to contribute a specified percentage of payroll costs to the retirement benefit scheme to fund the benefits. The only obligation of the Group with respect to the retirement benefit plan is to make the specified contributions.

> The total expense recognised in profit or loss of CU160,000 (2015: CU148,000) represents contributions payable to these plans by the Group at rates specified in the rules of the plans. As at 31 December 2016, contributions of CU8,000 (2015: CU8,000) due in respect of the 2016 (2015) reporting period had not been paid over to the plans. The amounts were paid subsequent to the end of the reporting period.

39.2 Defined benefit plans

The Group sponsors funded defined benefit plans for qualifying employees of its subsidiaries in A Land. The defined benefit plans are administered by a separate Fund that is legally separated from the entity. The board of the pension fund is composed of an equal number of representatives from both employers and (former) employees. The board of the pension fund is required by law and by its articles of association to act in the interest of the fund and of all relevant stakeholders in the scheme, i.e. active employees, inactive employees, retirees, employers. The board of the pension fund is responsible for the investment policy with regard to the assets of the fund.

Under the plans, the employees are entitled to post-retirement yearly instalments amounting to 1.75% of final salary for each year of service until the retirement age of 65. The pensionable salary is limited to CU20,000. The pensionable salary is the difference between the current salary of the employee and the state retirement benefit. In addition, the service period is limited to 40 years resulting in a maximum yearly entitlement (life-long annuity) of 70% of final salary.

The defined benefit plans requires contributions from employees. Contributions are in the following two forms; one is based on the number of years of service and the other one is based on a fixed percentage of salary of the employees. Employees can also make discretionary contributions to the plans. Note 2.1 describes change in accounting in the current year following the adoption of the amendments to IAS 19.

IAS 19.53

IAS 19.139

Source International GAAP Holdings Limited

IAS 19.139(b)

Notes to the consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2016 - continued

The plans in A-land typically expose the Group to actuarial risks such as: investment risk, interest rate risk, longevity risk and salary risk.

Investment risk	The present value of the defined benefit plan liability is calculated using a discount rate determined by reference to high quality corporate bond yields; if the return on plan asset is below this rate, it will create a plan deficit. Currently the plan has a relatively balanced investment in equity securities, debt instruments and real estates. Due to the long-term nature of the plan liabilities, the board of the pension fund considers it appropriate that a reasonable portion of the plan assets should be invested in equity securities and in real estate to leverage the return generated by the fund.
Interest risk	A decrease in the bond interest rate will increase the plan liability; however, this will be partially offset by an increase in the return on the plan's debt investments.
Longevity risk	The present value of the defined benefit plan liability is calculated by reference to the best estimate of the mortality of plan participants both during and after their employment. An increase in the life expectancy of the plan participants will increase the plan's liability.
Salary risk	The present value of the defined benefit plan liability is calculated by reference to the future salaries of plan participants. As such, an increase in the salary of the plan participants will increase the plan's liability.

The risk relating to benefits to be paid to the dependents of plan members (widow and orphan benefits) is re-insured by an external insurance company.

No other post-retirement benefits are provided to these employees.

The most recent actuarial valuation of the plan assets and the present value of the defined benefit obligation were carried out at 31 December 2016 by Mr. F.G. Ho, Fellow of the Institute of Actuaries of A Land. The present value of the defined benefit obligation, and the related current service cost and past service cost, were measured using the projected unit credit method.

IAS 19.144

The principal assumptions used for the purposes of the actuarial valuations were as follows.

		Valuation at
	31/12/16	31/12/15
Discount rate(s)	5.52%	5.20%
Expected rate(s) of salary increase	5.00%	5.00%
Average longevity at retirement age for current pensioners (years)*		
Males	27.5	27.3
Females	29.8	29.6
Average longevity at retirement age for current employees (future pensioners) (years)*		
Males	29.5	29.3
Females	31.0	30.9
Others [describe]	_	_

^{*} Based on A Land's standard mortality table [with modification to reflect expected changes in mortality/others (please describe)].

Source	International GAAP Holdings Limited					
	Notes to the consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 Decemb	ber 2016 – conti	nued			
IAS 19.120, 135	Amounts recognised in comprehensive income in respect of these defined benefit plans are as follows.					
		Year ended 31/12/16	Year ended 31/12/15			
		CU'000	CU'000			
IAS 19.141	Service cost:					
	Current service cost	819	326			
	Past service cost and (gain)/loss from settlements	- 77	- 114			
	Net interest expense					
	Components of defined benefit costs recognised in profit or loss	896	440			
	Remeasurement on the net defined benefit liability:					
	Return on plan assets (excluding amounts included in net interest expense)	(518)	(140)			
	Actuarial gains and losses arising from changes in demographic assumptions	(25)	(5)			
	Actuarial gains and losses arising from changes in financial assumptions	(220)	(23)			
	Actuarial gains and losses arising from experience adjustments	(43)	(23)			
	Others [describe]	-	-			
	Adjustments for restrictions on the defined benefit asset					
	Components of defined benefit costs recognised in other comprehensive income	(806)	(191)			
	Total	90	249			
IAS 19.135	[The current service cost and the net interest expense for the year are included in the in profit or loss./Of the expense for the year, an amount of CU412,000 (2015: CU402,0 or loss as cost of sales and the remainder has been included in administration expense.	00) has been incl				
	The remeasurement of the net defined benefit liability is included in other comprehen	nsive income.				
IAS 19.140	The amount included in the consolidated statement of financial position arising from to fits defined benefit plans is as follows.	the entity's obliga	tion in respect			
		31/12/16	31/12/15			
		CU'000	CU'000			
	Present value of funded defined benefit obligation	6,156	5,808			
	Fair value of plan assets	(4,202)	(4,326)			
	Funded status	1,954	1,482			
	Restrictions on asset recognised	_	_			
	Others [describe]	-	-			
	Net liability arising from defined benefit obligation	1,954	1,482			
			1,702			

Source	International GAAP Holdings Limited					
	Notes to the consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2016 – continued					
IAS 19.141	Movements in the present value of the defined benefit obligation in the current year were as follows.					
		Year ended 31/12/16	Year ended 31/12/15			
		CU'000	CU'000			
	Opening defined benefit obligation	5,808	6,204			
	Current service cost	819	326			
	Interest cost	302	323			
	Remeasurement (gains)/losses:					
	Actuarial gains and losses arising from changes in demographic assumptions	(25)	(5)			
	Actuarial gains and losses arising from changes in financial assumptions	(220)	(23)			
	Actuarial gains and losses arising from experience adjustments Others [describe]	(43)	(23)			
	Contributions from plan participants	440	412			
	Past service cost, including losses/(gains) on curtailments	-	_			
	Liabilities extinguished on settlements	_	_			
	Liabilities assumed in a business combination	_	_			
	Exchange differences on foreign plans	31	75			
	Benefits paid	(956)	(1,481)			
	Others [describe]					
	Closing defined benefit obligation	6,156	5,808			
IAS 19.141	Movements in the fair value of the plan assets in the current year were as follows.					
IA3 19.141	Movements in the fair value of the plantassets in the current year were as follows.		Marana and a d			
		Year ended 31/12/16	Year ended 31/12/15			
		CU'000	CU'000			
	Opening fair value of plan assets	4,326	4,010			
	Interest income	225	209			
	Remeasurement gain (loss):					
	Return on plan assets (excluding amounts included in net interest expense) Others [describe]	518	140			
	Contributions from the employer	910	870			
	Contributions from plan participants	450	423			
	Assets distributed on settlements	-50	723			
	Assets acquired in a business combination	_	_			
	Exchange differences on foreign plans	(1,271)	155			
	Benefits paid	(956)	(1,481)			
	Other [describe]		(1,401)			
	Closing fair value of plan assets	4,202	4,326			
			.,,,,,			

Source	International GAAP Holdings Limited					
	Notes to the consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2016 – continued					
IAS 19.142	The fair value of the plan assets at the end of the reporting period for each categ	ory, are as follows.				
		Fair value o	of plan assets			
		31/12/16	31/12/15			
			CU'000			
	Cash and cash equivalents	-	-			
	Equity investments categorised by industry type:					
	- Consumer industry	_	-			
	Manufacturing industry	300	280			
	- Energy and utilities	_	_			
	- Financial institutions	310	300			
	– Health and care	_	_			
	- ICT and telecom	_	_			
	– Equity instrument funds	416	406			
	Subtotal	1,026	986			
	Debt investments categorised by issuers' credit rating:					
	- AAA	1,970	1,830			
	- AA	_	-			
	- A	10	20			
	- BBB and lower	_	-			
	- not rated	_	-			
	Subtotal	1,980	1,850			
	Properties categorised by nature and location:					
	- Retail shops in A land	300	200			
	- Commercial properties in B land	717	912			
	- Residential properties in C land	96	290			
	Subtotal	1,113	1,402			
	Derivatives:					
	- Interest rate swaps	57	72			
	- Forward foreign exchange contracts	26	16			
	Subtotal	83	88			
	Others [describe]		_			
	Total	4,202	4,326			

Source	International GAAP Holdings Limited
	Notes to the consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2016 – continued
IAS 19.142	The fair values of the above equity and debt instruments are determined based on quoted market prices in active markets whereas the fair values of properties and derivatives are not based on quoted market prices in active markets. It is the policy of the fund to use interest rate swaps to hedge its exposure to interest rate risk. This policy has been implemented during the current and prior years. Foreign currency exposures are fully hedged by the use of the forward foreign exchange contracts.
	The actual return on plan assets was CU0.743 million (2015: CU0.349 million).
IAS 19.143	The plan assets include ordinary shares of the Company with an aggregate fair value of CU0.38 million (31 December 2015: CU0.252 million) and a property occupied by a subsidiary of the Company with fair value of CU0.62 million (31 December 2015: CU0.62 million).
IAS 19.145(a)	Significant actuarial assumptions for the determination of the defined obligation are discount rate, expected salary increase and mortality. The sensitivity analyses below have been determined based on reasonably possible changes of the respective assumptions occurring at the end of the reporting period, while holding all other assumptions constant.
	• If the discount rate is 100 basis points higher (lower), the defined benefit obligation would decrease by CU744,000 (increase by CU740,000) (2015: decrease by CU734,000 (increase by CU730,000)).
	• If the expected salary growth increases (decreases) by 1%, the defined benefit obligation would increase by CU120,000 (decrease by CU122,000) (2015: increase by CU102,000 (decrease by CU105,000)).
IAS 19.145(b)	• If the life expectancy increases (decreases) by one year for both men and women, the defined benefit obligation would increase by CU150,000 (decrease by CU156,000) (2015: increase by CU143,000 (decrease by CU149,000)).
IAS 19.145(b)	The sensitivity analysis presented above may not be representative of the actual change in the defined benefit obligation as it is unlikely that the change in assumptions would occur in isolation of one another as some of the assumptions may be correlated.
	Furthermore, in presenting the above sensitivity analysis, the present value of the defined benefit obligation has been calculated using the projected unit credit method at the end of the reporting period, which is the same as that applied in calculating the defined benefit obligation liability recognised in the statement of financial position.
IAS 19.145(c)	There was no change in the methods and assumptions used in preparing the sensitivity analysis from prior years.
IAS 19.146	Each year an Asset-Liability-Matching study is performed in which the consequences of the strategic investment policies are analysed in terms of risk-and-return profiles. Investment and contribution policies are integrated within this study. Main strategic choices that are formulated in the actuarial and technical policy document of the Fund are:
	Asset mix based on 25% equity instruments, 50% debt instruments and 25% investment property;
	• Interest rate sensitivity caused by the duration of the defined benefit obligation should be reduced by 30% by the use of debt instruments in combination with interest rate swaps;
	• Maintaining an equity buffer that gives a 97.5% assurance that assets are sufficient within the next 12 months.
	There has been no change in the process used by the Group to manage its risks from prior periods.
IAS 19.147	The Group's subsidiaries fund the cost of the entitlements expected to be earned on a yearly basis. Employees pay a fixed 5% percentage of pensionable salary. The residual contribution (including back service payments) is paid by the entities of the Group. The funding requirements are based on the local actuarial measurement framework. In this framework the discount rate is set on a risk free rate. Furthermore, premiums are determined on a current salary base. Additional liabilities stemming from past service due to salary increases (back-service liabilities) are paid immediately to the Fund. Apart from paying the costs of the entitlements, the Group's subsidiaries are not liable to pay additional contributions in case the Fund does not hold sufficient assets. In that case, the Fund would take other measures to restore its solvency, such as a reduction of the entitlements of the plan members.
	The average duration of the benefit obligation at 31 December 2016 is 16.5 years (2015: 15.6 years). This number can be analysed as follows:
	• active members: 19.4 years (2015: 18.4 years);
	deferred members: 22.6 years (2015: 21.5 years); and
	• retired members: 9.3 years (2015: 8.5 years).
	The Group expects to make a contribution of CU0.95 million (2015: CU0.91 million) to the defined benefit plans during the next financial year.

International GAAP Holdings Limited

Notes to the consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2016 – continued 40. Financial instruments

Commentary:

The following are <u>examples</u> of the types of disclosures that might be required in this area. The matters disclosed will be dictated by the circumstances of the individual entity, by the significance of judgements and estimates made to the results and financial position, and the information provided to key management personnel.

IAS 1.134,135

40.1 Capital management

The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities in the Group will be able to continue as going concerns while maximising the return to stakeholders through the optimisation of the debt and equity balance. The Group's overall strategy remains unchanged from 2015.

The capital structure of the Group consists of net debt (borrowings as detailed in notes 32, 33 and 34 offset by cash and bank balances) and equity of the Group (comprising issued capital, reserves, retained earnings and non-controlling interests as detailed in notes 28 to 31).

The Group is not subject to any externally imposed capital requirements.

The Group's risk management committee reviews the capital structure of the Group on a semi-annual basis. As part of this review, the committee considers the cost of capital and the risks associated with each class of capital. The Group has a target gearing ratio of 20% – 25% determined as the proportion of net debt to equity. The gearing ratio at 31 December 2016 of 15.21% (see below) was below the target range, and has returned to a more typical level of 23% after the end of the reporting period.

40.1.1 Gearing ratio

The gearing ratio at end of the reporting period was as follows.

	31/12/16	31/12/15
	CU'000	CU'000
Debt (i)	50,881	51,486
Cash and bank balances (including cash and bank balances in a disposal group held for sale)	(24,271)	(20,278)
Net debt	26,610	31,208
Equity (ii)	174,976	168,334
Net debt to equity ratio	15.21%	18.54%

⁽i) Debt is defined as long-and short-term borrowings (excluding derivatives and financial guarantee contracts), as described in notes 32, 33 and 34.

⁽ii) Equity includes all capital and reserves of the Group that are managed as capital.

	Notes to the consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 Decem	har 2016 cantii	
		Dei 2016 - Contin	nued
	40.2 Categories of financial instruments		
		31/12/16	31/12/15
			CU'000
	Financial assets		
	Cash and bank balances (including cash and bank balances in a disposal group held for sale)	24,271	20,278
	Fair value through profit or loss (FVTPL)		
IFRS 7.8(a)	Held for trading	1,539	1,639
IFRS 7.8(a)	Designated as at FVTPL	_	-
	Derivative instruments in designated hedge accounting relationships	528	397
IFRS 7.8(b)	Held-to-maturity investments	5,905	4,015
IFRS 7.8(c)	Loans and receivables (including trade receivables balance in a disposal group held for sale)	24,254	17,737
IFRS 7.8(d)	Available-for-sale financial assets	7,919	7,465
	Financial liabilities		
	Fair value through profit or loss (FVTPL)		
IFRS 7.8(e)	Held for trading	51	-
IFRS 7.8(e)	Designated as at FVTPL	14,875	-
	Derivative instruments in designated hedge accounting relationships	92	-
IFRS 7.8(f)	Amortised cost (including trade payables balance in a disposal group held for sale)	54,919	71,908
	Financial guarantee contracts	24	18
	Contingent consideration for a business combination	75	-
	40.2.1 Loans and receivables designated as at FVTPL		
	Carrying amount of loans and receivables designated as at FVTPL	_	-
IFRS 7.9(c)	Cumulative changes in fair value attributable to changes in credit risk	-	-
IFRS 7.9(c)	Changes in fair value attributable to changes in credit risk recognised during the year	-	-
IFRS 7.9(a)	At the end of the reporting period, there are no significant concentrations of credit ris designated at FVTPL. The carrying amount reflected above represents the Group's m risk for such loans and receivables.		
IFRS 7.9(b), (d)	40.2.2 Credit derivatives over loans and receivables designated as at FVTPL		
		Year ended 31/12/16	Year ended 31/12/15
		CU'000	CU'000
	Opening fair value	_	_
	Additions during the year	_	_
	Realised during the year	_	_
	Change in fair value	_	_
	Closing fair value	_	-
		-	

Source	International GAAP Holdings Limited		
	Notes to the consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 Decemb	er 2016 – conti	nued
	40.2.3 <u>Financial liabilities designated as at FVTPL</u>		
		Year ended 31/12/16	Year ended 31/12/15
		CU'000	CU'000
IFRS 7.10(a)	Changes in fair value attributable to changes in credit risk recognised during the year (i)	(20)	
		31/12/16	31/12/15
		CU'000	CU'000
IFRS 7.10(a)	Cumulative changes in fair value attributable to changes in credit risk (i)	(20)	
IFRS 7.10(b)	Difference between carrying amount and contractual amount at maturity:		
	cumulative preference shares at fair value (note 34)	14,875	-
	amount payable at maturity	(15,000)	
	_	(125)	
IFDC 7.21	holding credit risk margin constant. The fair value of cumulative redeemable prefere discounting future cash flows using quoted benchmark interest yield curves as at th and by obtaining lender quotes for borrowings of similar maturity to estimate credit	e end of the repo	
IFRS 7.31	40.3 Financial risk management objectives		
	The Group's Corporate Treasury function provides services to the business, co-ordina international financial markets, monitors and manages the financial risks relating to th through internal risk reports which analyse exposures by degree and magnitude of risrisk (including currency risk, interest rate risk and other price risk), credit risk and liquid	e operations of th ks. These risks in	ne Group
	The Group seeks to minimise the effects of these risks by using derivative financial ins exposures. The use of financial derivatives is governed by the Group's policies approve which provide written principles on foreign exchange risk, interest rate risk, credit risk, and non-derivative financial instruments, and the investment of excess liquidity. Compexposure limits is reviewed by the internal auditors on a continuous basis. The Group financial instruments, including derivative financial instruments, for speculative purpo	ed by the board of the use of finance diance with polici does not enter in	of directors, cial derivatives es and
	The Corporate Treasury function reports quarterly to the Group's risk management cobody that monitors risks and policies implemented to mitigate risk exposures.	ommittee, an inde	ependent
	40.4 Market risk		
IFRS 7.33	The Group's activities expose it primarily to the financial risks of changes in foreign cur note 40.6 below) and interest rates (see note 40.7 below). The Group enters into a vari instruments to manage its exposure to foreign currency risk and interest rate risk, incl	ety of derivative	
	forward foreign exchange contracts to hedge the exchange rate risk arising on the exto B Land and C Land;	xport of electron	ic equipment
	interest rate swaps to mitigate the risk of rising interest rates; and		
	forward foreign exchange contracts to hedge the exchange rate risk arising on trans investment in a foreign operation, Subfour Limited, which has B Currency as its func		ıp's

Notes to the consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2016 - continued

Market risk exposures are measured using value-at-risk (VaR) supplemented by sensitivity analysis.

IFRS 7.33(c)

There has been no change to the Group's exposure to market risks or the manner in which these risks are managed and measured.

IFRS 7.41 **40.5 Value at Risk (VaR) analysis**

The VaR measure estimates the potential loss in pre-taxation profit over a given holding period for a specified confidence level. The VaR methodology is a statistically defined, probability-based approach that takes into account market volatilities as well as risk diversification by recognising offsetting positions and correlations between products and markets. Risks can be measured consistently across all markets and products, and risk measures can be aggregated to arrive at a single risk number. The one-day 99% VaR number used by the Group reflects the 99% probability that the daily loss will not exceed the reported VaR.

VaR methodologies employed to calculate daily risk numbers include the historical and variance-covariance approaches. In addition to these two methodologies, Monte Carlo simulations are applied to the various portfolios on a monthly basis to determine potential future exposure.

Historical VaR (99%, one-day)	Average		ľ	Minimum		Maximum	Year ended		
by risk type	2016	2015	2016	2015	2016	2015	31/12/16	31/12/15	
	CU'000	CU'000	CU'000	CU'000	CU'000	CU'000	CU'000	CU'000	
Foreign exchange	980	1,340	546	943	1,200	1,600	980	1,350	
Interest rate	115	60	85	45	150	95	105	55	
Diversification	(45)	(40)	-	-	_	-	(55)	(50)	
Total VaR exposure	1,050	1,360					1,030	1,355	

While VaR captures the Group's daily exposure to currency and interest rate risk, sensitivity analysis evaluates the impact of a reasonably possible change in interest or foreign currency rates over a year. The longer time frame of sensitivity analysis complements VaR and helps the Group to assess its market risk exposures. Details of sensitivity analysis for foreign currency risk are set out in note 40.6 below and for interest rate risk in note 40.7 below.

40.6 Foreign currency risk management

IFRS 7.33, 34

The Group undertakes transactions denominated in foreign currencies; consequently, exposures to exchange rate fluctuations arise. Exchange rate exposures are managed within approved policy parameters utilising forward foreign exchange contracts.

The carrying amounts of the Group's foreign currency denominated monetary assets and monetary liabilities at the end of the reporting period are as follows.

		Liabilities		Assets
	31/12/16	31/12/15	31/12/16	31/12/15
	CU'000	CU'000	CU'000	CU'000
Currency of B Land	6,297	7,469	1,574	1,671
Currency of C Land	186	135	-	-
Others	_	_	-	-

Notes to the consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2016 - continued

40.6.1 Foreign currency sensitivity analysis

The Group is mainly exposed to the currency of B Land and the currency of C Land.

IFRS 7. 34(a), 40(b)

The following table details the Group's sensitivity to a 10% increase and decrease in the CU against the relevant foreign currencies. 10% is the sensitivity rate used when reporting foreign currency risk internally to key management personnel and represents management's assessment of the reasonably possible change in foreign exchange rates. The sensitivity analysis includes only outstanding foreign currency denominated monetary items and adjusts their translation at the period end for a 10% change in foreign currency rates. The sensitivity analysis includes external loans as well as loans to foreign operations within the Group where the denomination of the loan is in a currency other than the functional currency of the lender or the borrower. A positive number below indicates an increase in profit or equity where the CU strengthens 10% against the relevant currency. For a 10% weakening of the CU against the relevant currency, there would be a comparable impact on the profit or equity, and the balances below would be negative.

Currency B impact

2016	2015		2016	2015	
CU'000	CU'000		CU'000	CU'000	
472	579	(i)	19	14	(iii)
96	122	(ii)	17	19	(iv)

Currency C impact

IFRS 7.40(a) IFRS 7.40(a)

- Profit or loss Equity
- (i) This is mainly attributable to the exposure outstanding on Currency B receivables and payables in the Group at the end of the reporting period.
- (ii) This is as a result of the changes in fair value of derivative instruments designated as hedging instruments in cash flow hedges and net investment hedges.
- (iii) This is mainly attributable to the exposure to outstanding Currency C payables at the end of the reporting period.
- (iv) This is mainly as a result of the changes in fair value of derivative instruments designated as hedging instruments in cash flow hedges.

IFRS 7.33(c)

The Group's sensitivity to foreign currency has decreased during the current year mainly due to the disposal of Currency B investments and the reduction in Currency B sales and purchases in the last quarter of the financial year which has resulted in lower Currency B denominated trade receivables and trade payables.

IFRS 7.42

In management's opinion, the sensitivity analysis is unrepresentative of the inherent foreign exchange risk because the exposure at the end of the reporting period does not reflect the exposure during the year. Currency B denominated sales are seasonal, with lower sales volumes in the last quarter of the financial year, resulting in a reduction in Currency B receivables at the end of the reporting period.

In addition, the change in equity due to a 10% change in the CU against all exchange rates for the translation of new investment hedging instruments would be a decrease of CU13,000 (2015: CU9,000). However, there would be no net effect on equity because there would be an offset in the currency translation of the foreign operation.

40.6.2 Forward foreign exchange contracts

IFRS 7.22, 33, 34

It is the policy of the Group to enter into forward foreign exchange contracts to cover specific foreign currency payments and receipts within 70% to 80% of the exposure generated. The Group also enters into forward foreign exchange contracts to manage the risk associated with anticipated sales and purchase transactions out to 6 months within 40% to 50% of the exposure generated. Basis adjustments are made to the carrying amounts of non-financial hedged items when the anticipated sale or purchase transaction takes place.

International GAAP Holdings Limited

Notes to the consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2016 - continued

In the current year, the Group has designated certain forward contracts as a hedge of its net investment in Subfour Limited, which has B Currency as its functional currency. The Group's policy has been reviewed and, due to the increased volatility in B Currency, it was decided to hedge up to 50% of the net assets of the Subfour Limited for forward foreign currency risk arising on translation of the foreign operation. The Group utilises a rollover hedging strategy, using contracts with terms of up to 6 months. Upon the maturity of a forward contract, the Group enters into a new contract designated as a separate hedging relationship.

The following table details the forward foreign currency (FC) contracts outstanding at the end of the reporting period:

Outstanding contracts		Average inge rate	Foreign currency			Notional value	asset	Fair value s (liabilities)
	31/12/16	31/12/15	31/12/16	31/12/15	31/12/16	31/12/15	31/12/16	31/12/15
			FC'000	FC'000	CU'000	CU'000	CU'000	CU'000
Cash flow hedges								
Buy Currency B								
Less than 3 months	0.770	0.768	2,493	2,010	3,238	2,617	152	110
3 to 6 months	0.768	0.750	1,974	1,958	2,570	2,611	92	34
Sell Currency B								
Less than 3 months	0.780	0.769	982	1,028	1,259	1,337	(70)	26
Buy Currency C								
Less than 3 months	86.29	85.53	12,850	20,000	149	234	(5)	50
Net investment hedge	2							
Sell Currency B								
3 to 6 months	0.763	-	1,000	-	1,297	-	(12)	
							157	220

Commentary:

The table above provides an <u>example</u> of summary quantitative data about exposure to foreign exchange risks at the end of the reporting period that an entity may provide internally to key management personnel.

The Group has entered into contracts to supply electronic equipment to customers in B Land. The Group has entered into forward foreign exchange contracts (for terms not exceeding 3 months) to hedge the exchange rate risk arising from these anticipated future transactions, which are designated as cash flow hedges.

IFRS 7.23(a)

At 31 December 2016, the aggregate amount of losses under forward foreign exchange contracts recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated in the cash flow hedging reserve relating to the exposure on these anticipated future transactions is CU70,000 (2015: gains of CU26,000). It is anticipated that the sales will take place during the first 3 months of the next financial year, at which time the amount deferred in equity will be reclassified to profit or loss.

The Group has entered into contracts to purchase raw materials from suppliers in B Land and C Land. The Group has entered into forward foreign exchange contracts (for terms not exceeding 6 months) to hedge the exchange rate risk arising from these anticipated future purchases, which are designated into cash flow hedges.

International GAAP Holdings Limited Source Notes to the consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2016 - continued IFRS 7.23(a) At 31 December 2016, the aggregate amount of gains under forward foreign exchange contracts recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated in the cash flow hedging reserve relating to these anticipated future purchase transactions is CU239,000 (2015: unrealised gains of CU194,000). It is anticipated that the purchases will take place during the first 6 months of the next financial year at which time the amount deferred in equity will be included in the carrying amount of the raw materials. It is anticipated that the raw materials will be converted into inventory and sold within 12 months after purchase, at which time the amount deferred in equity will be reclassified to profit or loss. IFRS 7.23(b) At the start of the third quarter of 2016, the Group reduced its forecasts on sales of electronic equipment to B Land due to increased local competition and higher shipping costs. The Group had previously hedged CU1.079 million of future sales of which CU97,000 are no longer expected to occur, and CU982,000 remain highly probable. Accordingly, the Group has reclassified CU3,000 of gains on foreign currency forward contracts relating to forecast transactions that are no longer expected to occur from the cash flow hedging reserve to profit or loss. At 31 December 2016, no ineffectiveness has been recognised in profit or loss arising from hedging the net IFRS 7.24(c) investment in Subfour Limited. IFRS 7.33, 34 40.7 Interest rate risk management The Group is exposed to interest rate risk because entities in the Group borrow funds at both fixed and floating interest rates. The risk is managed by the Group by maintaining an appropriate mix between fixed and floating rate borrowings, and by the use of interest rate swap contracts and forward interest rate contracts. Hedging activities are evaluated regularly to align with interest rate views and defined risk appetite, ensuring the most cost-effective hedging strategies are applied. The Group's exposures to interest rates on financial assets and financial liabilities are detailed in the liquidity risk management section of this note. 40.7.1 Interest rate sensitivity analysis IFRS 7.40(b) The sensitivity analyses below have been determined based on the exposure to interest rates for both derivatives and non-derivative instruments at the end of the reporting period. For floating rate liabilities, the analysis is prepared assuming the amount of the liability outstanding at the end of the reporting period was outstanding for the whole year. A 50 basis point increase or decrease is used when reporting interest rate risk internally to key management personnel and represents management's assessment of the reasonably possible change in interest rates. IFRS 7.40(a) If interest rates had been 50 basis points higher/lower and all other variables were held constant, the Group's: • profit for the year ended 31 December 2016 would decrease/increase by CU43,000 (2015: decrease/increase by CU93,000). This is mainly attributable to the Group's exposure to interest rates on its variable rate borrowings; and • other comprehensive income for the year ended 31 December 2016 would decrease/increase by CU19,000 (2015: decrease/increase by CU12,000), mainly as a result of the changes in the fair value of available-for-sale fixed rate instruments. The Group's sensitivity to interest rates has decreased during the current year mainly due to the reduction in variable IFRS 7.33(c) rate debt instruments and the increase in interest rate swaps to swap floating rate debt to fixed rate debt. 40.7.2 Interest rate swap contracts IFRS 7.22, 33, 34 Under interest rate swap contracts, the Group agrees to exchange the difference between fixed and floating rate interest amounts calculated on agreed notional principal amounts. Such contracts enable the Group to mitigate the risk of changing interest rates on the fair value of issued fixed rate debt and the cash flow exposures on the issued variable rate debt. The fair value of interest rate swaps at the end of the reporting period is determined by discounting the future cash flows using the curves at the end of the reporting period and the credit risk inherent in the contract, and is disclosed below. The average interest rate is based on the outstanding balances at the end of the reporting period.

Notes to the consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2016 – continued

IFRS 7.34(a) The following tables detail the notional principal amounts and remaining terms of interest rate swap contracts outstanding at the end of the reporting period.

Cash flow hedges

Outstanding receive floating pay fixed contracts	Average contracted fixed interest rate				as	Fair value sets (liabilities)
	31/12/16	31/12/15	31/12/16	31/12/15	31/12/16	31/12/15
	%	%	CU'000	CU'000	CU'000	CU'000
Less than 1 year	7.45	6.75	1,000	4,000	72	37
1 to 2 years	7.15	7.05	2,000	1,620	55	47
2 to 5 years	6.75	6.50	3,000	1,359	130	93
5 years +	7.05	-	1,000		27	
			7,000	6.070	204	177
			7,000	6,979	284	177

Commentary:

The table above provides an example of summary quantitative data about exposure to interest rate risks at the end of the reporting period that an entity may provide internally to key management personnel.

The interest rate swaps settle on a quarterly basis. The floating rate on the interest rate swaps is the local interbank rate of A Land. The Group will settle the difference between the fixed and floating interest rate on a net basis.

IFRS 7.22, 23(a)

All interest rate swap contracts exchanging floating rate interest amounts for fixed rate interest amounts are designated as cash flow hedges in order to reduce the Group's cash flow exposure resulting from variable interest rates on borrowings. The interest rate swaps and the interest payments on the loan occur simultaneously and the amount accumulated in equity is reclassified to profit or loss over the period that the floating rate interest payments on debt affect profit or loss.

IFRS 7.34(a)

Fair value hedges

Outstanding receive fixed pay floating contracts	Average contracted fixed interest rate		Notional principal amount		Fair value assets (liabilities)	
	31/12/16	31/12/15	31/12/16	31/12/15	31/12/16	31/12/15
	%	%	CU'000	CU'000	CU'000	CU'000
Less than 1 year	8.15	-	3,701	-	(5)	-
[describe]	-	-				
			3,701		(5)	
Held for trading interest rate swaps 1 to 2 years	7.5	-	15,000	-	(51)	-
[describe]	-	-				
			15,000		(51)	

Commentary:

The table above provides an example of summary quantitative data about exposure to interest rate risks at the end of the reporting period that an entity may provide internally to key management personnel.

International GAAP Holdings Limited Source Notes to the consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2016 - continued IFRS 7.24(a) Interest rate swap contracts exchanging fixed rate interest for floating rate interest are designated and effective as fair value hedges in respect of interest rates. During the year, the hedge was 100% effective in hedging the fair value exposure to interest rate movements and as a result the carrying amount of the loan was adjusted by CU5,000 which was included in profit or loss at the same time that the fair value of the interest rate swap was included in profit or loss. 40.8 Other price risks The Group is exposed to equity price risks arising from equity investments. Certain of the Group's equity investments are held for strategic rather than trading purposes. The Group does not actively trade these investments. The Group also holds other equity investments for trading purposes. 40.8.1 Equity price sensitivity analysis IFRS 7.40(b) The sensitivity analyses below have been determined based on the exposure to equity price risks at the end of the reporting period. IFRS 7.40(a) If equity prices had been 5% higher/lower: • profit for the year ended 31 December 2016 would increase/decrease by CU57,000 (2015: increase/decrease by CU53,000) as a result of the changes in fair value of held-for-trading equity investments; and other comprehensive income for the year ended 31 December 2016 would increase/decrease by CU286,000 (2015: increase/decrease by CU265,000) as a result of the changes in fair value of available-for-sale shares. The Group's sensitivity to equity prices has not changed significantly from the prior year. IFRS 7.40(c) IFRS 7.33, 34,B8 40.9 Credit risk management Credit risk refers to the risk that a counterparty will default on its contractual obligations resulting in financial loss to the Group. The Group has adopted a policy of only dealing with creditworthy counterparties and obtaining sufficient collateral, where appropriate, as a means of mitigating the risk of financial loss from defaults. The Group only transacts with entities that are rated the equivalent of investment grade and above. This information is supplied by independent rating agencies where available and, if not available, the Group uses other publicly available financial information and its own trading records to rate its major customers. The Group's exposure and the credit ratings of its counterparties are continuously monitored and the aggregate value of transactions concluded is spread amongst approved counterparties. Credit exposure is controlled by counterparty limits that are reviewed and approved by the risk management committee annually. Trade receivables consist of a large number of customers, spread across diverse industries and geographical areas. Ongoing credit evaluation is performed on the financial condition of accounts receivable and, where appropriate, credit guarantee insurance cover is purchased. Apart from Company A, the largest customer of the Group (see below and refer to notes 6.7 and 25.1), the Group does not have significant credit risk exposure to any single counterparty. Concentration of credit risk related to Company A did not exceed 20% of gross monetary assets at any time during the year. Concentration of credit risk to any other counterparty did not exceed 5% of gross monetary assets at any time during the year. The credit risk on liquid funds and derivative financial instruments is limited because the counterparties are banks with high credit-ratings assigned by international credit-rating agencies. IFRS 7.B10(c) In addition, the Group is exposed to credit risk in relation to financial guarantees given to banks provided by the Group. The Group's maximum exposure in this respect is the maximum amount the Group could have to pay if the guarantee is called on (see note 40.10.1). As at 31 December 2016, an amount of CU24,000 (31 December 2015: CU18,000) has been recognised in the consolidated financial position as financial liabilities (see note 34). 40.9.1 Collateral held as security and other credit enhancements IFRS 7.36(b) The Group does not hold any collateral or other credit enhancements to cover its credit risks associated with its financial assets, except that the credit risk associated with the finance lease receivables is mitigated because the

finance lease receivables are secured over the leased storage equipment. The carrying amount of the finance lease receivables amounts to CU1.028 million (31 December 2015: CU0.905 million) and the fair value of the leased assets is estimated to be approximately CU1.00 million (31 December 2015: CU0.9 million). The Group is not permitted to

sell or repledge the collateral in the absence of default by the lessee.

Notes to the consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2016 – continued 40.10 Liquidity risk management

IFRS 7.33, 39(c)

Ultimate responsibility for liquidity risk management rests with the board of directors, which has established an appropriate liquidity risk management framework for the management of the Group's short-, medium- and long-term funding and liquidity management requirements. The Group manages liquidity risk by maintaining adequate reserves, banking facilities and reserve borrowing facilities, by continuously monitoring forecast and actual cash flows, and by matching the maturity profiles of financial assets and liabilities. Note 40.10.2 below sets out details of additional undrawn facilities that the Group has at its disposal to further reduce liquidity risk.

40.10.1 Liquidity and interest risk tables

IFRS 7.34, 35, 39(a)

The following tables detail the Group's remaining contractual maturity for its non-derivative financial liabilities with agreed repayment periods. The tables have been drawn up based on the undiscounted cash flows of financial liabilities based on the earliest date on which the Group can be required to pay. The tables include both interest and principal cash flows. To the extent that interest flows are floating rate, the undiscounted amount is derived from interest rate curves at the end of the reporting period. The contractual maturity is based on the earliest date on which the Group may be required to pay.

Commentary:

The tables below include the weighted average effective interest rate and the carrying amount of the respective financial liabilities as reflected in the consolidated statement of financial position as an <u>example</u> of summary quantitative data about exposure to interest rates at the end of the reporting period that an entity may provide internally to key management personnel.

Source	International GAAP	Holdings Li	imited						
	Notes to the consoli	dated finaı	ncial stater	nents for t	he year eı	nded 31 De	cember 201	6 – continue	ed
		rate	Less than 1 month	1-3 months	3 months to 1 year	1-5 years	5+ years	Total	Carrying amoun
		%	CU'000	CU'000	CU'000	CU'000	CU'000	CU'000	CU'000
	31 December 2016								
	Non-interest bearing	-	3,247	9,938	6,195	-	_	19,380	19,380
	Finance lease liability	4.50	1	2	7	6	-	16	14
	Variable interest rate instruments	8.18	896	221	6,001	5,780	_	12,899	11,570
	Fixed interest rate instruments	7.56	98	333	1,145	41,595	2,500	45,671	35,576
	Financial guarantee contracts	-	2,000					2,000	24
			6,242	10,494	13,348	47,381	2,500	79,966	66,564
	31 December 2015								
	Non-interest bearing	-	1,768	16,976	2,476	2,610	-	23,830	23,830
	Finance lease liability	5.50	5	10	43	44	_	102	89
	Variable interest rate instruments	8.08	1,294	362	1,086	19,576	-	22,318	18,698
	Fixed interest rate	8.03	227	454	2,044	44,572	-	47,297	34,010

1,600

4,894

IFRS7.B10(c)

instruments
Financial guarantee
contracts

The amounts included above for financial guarantee contracts are the maximum amounts the Group could be forced to settle under the arrangement for the full guaranteed amount if that amount is claimed by the counterparty to the guarantee. Based on expectations at the end of the reporting period, the Group considers that it is more likely than not that such an amount will not be payable under the arrangement. However, this estimate is subject to change depending on the probability of the counterparty claiming under the guarantee which is a function of the likelihood that the financial receivables held by the counterparty which are guaranteed suffer credit losses.

5,649

66,802

17,802

1,600

18

IFRS 7.34, 35

The following table details the Group's expected maturity for its non-derivative financial assets. The table has been drawn up based on the undiscounted contractual maturities of the financial assets including interest that will be earned on those assets. The inclusion of information on non-derivative financial assets is necessary in order to understand the Group's liquidity risk management as the liquidity is managed on a net asset and liability basis.

Source	International GAAP H	oldings Li	mited					
	Notes to the consolida	ated finar	icial statem	ents for th	e year ende	d 31 Decemb	er 2016 – contir	nued
		Weighted average effective interest rate	Less than 1 month	1-3 months	3 months to 1 year	1-5 years	5+ years	Total
	_	%	CU'000	CU'000	CU'000	CU'000	CU'000	CU'000
	31 December 2016							
	Non-interest bearing	-	11,216	7,653	-	-	_	18,869
	Variable interest rate instruments	5.75	27,629	4,367	3,944	1,346	-	37,286
	Fixed interest rate instruments	7.38		_		3,091		3,091
			38,845	12,020	3,944	4,437		59,246
	31 December 2015							
	Non-interest bearing	-	8,493	5,251	-	-	_	13,744
	Variable interest rate instruments	4.83	21,918	3,125	5,204	353	_	30,600
	Fixed interest rate instruments	7.00				2,600		2,600
			30,411	8,376	5,204	2,953		46,944
IFRS 7.B10A(b)	The amounts included a and liabilities is subject t determined at the end c	o change i	f changes in v					
IFRS 7.39(c)	The Group has access to unused at the end of the from operating cash flow	e reporting	period (2015	: CU12.617n	nillion). The G			
IFRS 7.39(b)	The following table deta drawn up based on the on a net basis, and the u When the amount payak projected interest rates	undiscoun Indiscount ole or recei	ted contractu ed gross inflo vable is not fi	al net cash ws and out xed, the am	inflows and c flows on thos ount disclose	outflows on de se derivatives t ed has been de	rivative instrume hat require gross etermined by refe	nts that settle s settlement.

Source	International GAAP Holdings Limited								
	Notes to the consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2016 – continued								
		Less than 1 month	1-3 months	3 months to 1 year	1-5 years	5+ years			
		CU'000	CU'000	CU'000	CU'000	CU'000			
	31 December 2016								
	Net settled:								
	– interest rate swaps	11	50	205	302	121			
	– foreign exchange forward contracts	(5)	(21)	13	_	-			
	Gross settled:								
	– foreign exchange forward contracts	12	35	-	-	-			
	– currency swaps					-			
		18	64	218	302	121			
	31 December 2015								
	Net settled:								
	– interest rate swaps	7	18	22	160	82			
	– foreign exchange forward contracts	10	15	9	-	-			
	Gross settled:								
	– foreign exchange forward contracts	65	132	21	-	-			
	– currency swaps					-			
		82	165	52	160	82			

Source	International GAAP Holdings Limited						
	Notes to the consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2016 – continued						
	40.10.2 <u>Financing facilities</u>						
		31/12/16	31/12/15				
		CU'000	CU'000				
IAS 7.50(a)	Unsecured bank overdraft facility, reviewed annually and payable at call:						
	– amount used	520	314				
	– amount unused	1,540	2,686				
		2,060	3,000				
	Unsecured bill acceptance facility, reviewed annually:						
	– amount used	358	916				
	– amount unused	1,142	1,184				
		1,500	2,100				
	Secured bank overdraft facility:						
	– amount used	18	64				
	– amount unused	982	936				
		1,000	1,000				
	Secured bank loan facilities with various maturity dates through to 2017 and which may be extended by mutual agreement:						
	– amount used	14,982	17,404				
	– amount unused	5,604	7,811				
		20,586	25,215				

International GAAP Holdings Limited

Notes to the consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2016 – continued 40.11 Fair value measurements

This note provides information about how the Group determines fair values of various financial assets and financial liabilities.

40.11.1 Fair value of the Group's financial assets and financial liabilities that are measured at fair value on a recurring basis

IFRS 13.93(a)
IFRS 13.93(b)
IFRS 13.93(d)
IFRS 13.93(g)
IFRS 13.93(h)(i)
IFRS 3.B64(f)(iii)
IFRS 3.B64(g)
IFRS 3.B67(b)
IFRS 13.IE65(e)

Some of the Group's financial assets and financial liabilities are measured at fair value at the end of each reporting period. The following table gives information about how the fair values of these financial assets and financial liabilities are determined (in particular, the valuation technique(s) and inputs used).

Financial assets/ financial liabilities	Fair value as at		Fair value hierarchy	Valuation technique(s) and key input(s)
	31/12/16	31/12/15		
1) Foreign currency forward contracts (see notes 22 and 34)	Assets – CU 244,000; and Liabilities – CU87,000	Assets – CU220,000	Level 2	Discounted cash flow. Future cash flows are estimated based on forward exchange rates (from observable forward exchange rates at the end of the reporting period) and contract forward rates, discounted at a rate that reflects the credit risk of various counterparties.
2) Interest rate swaps (see notes 22 and 34)	Assets – CU284,000; Liabilities (designated for hedging) – CU5,000; and Liabilities (not designated for hedging) – CU51,000	Assets – CU177,000	Level 2	Discounted cash flow. Future cash flows are estimated based on forward interest rates (from observable yield curves at the end of the reporting period) and contract interest rates, discounted at a rate that reflects the credit risk of various counterparties.
3) Held- for-trading non-derivative financial assets (see note 22)	Listed equity securities in Z land: Real estate industry – CU911,000; and Oil and gas industry – CU628,000.	Listed equity securities in Z land: Real estate industry – CU911,000; and Oil and gas industry – CU728,000.	Level 1	Quoted bid prices in an active market.
4) Listed redeemable notes (see note 22)	Listed debt securities in Y Land – Energy industry – CU2,200,000	Listed debt securities in Y Land – Energy industry – CU2,180,000	Level 1	Quoted bid prices in an active market.
5) Redeemable cumulative preference shares (see note 34)	Liabilities – CU14,875,000	-	Level 2	Discounted cash flow at a discount rate that reflects the issuer's current borrowing rate at the end of the reporting period.

International GAAP Holdings Limited

Notes to the consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2016 – continued

Financial assets/ financial liabilities	Fair value as at		Fair value hierarchy	Valuation technique(s) and key input(s)	Significant unobservable input(s)	Relationship of unobservable inputs to fair value															
	31/12/16	31/12/15																			
6) Private equity investments (see note 22)	20 per cent equity investment in Rocket Corp Limited engaged in refining and distribution of fuel products in A land – CU5,359,000;	20 per cent equity investment in Rocket Corp Limited engaged in refining and distribution of fuel products in A land –		Income approach – in this approach, the discounted cash flow method was used to capture the present value of the expected future economic benefits to be derived from the ownership of these investees.	Long-term revenue growth rates, taking into account management's experience and knowledge of market conditions of the specific industries, ranging from 4.9 to 5.5 per cent (2015: 4.8 – 5.4 per cent).	A slight increase in the long-term revenue growth rates used in isolation would result in a significant increase in the fair value. (note 1)															
	and 10 per cent equity investment in E Plus Limited engaged in Shoe manufacturing in A land – CU360,000	economic benefits to derived from the owners of these investees.			Long-term pre-tax operating margin taking into account management's experience and knowledge of market conditions of the specific industries, ranging from 5– 12 per cent (2015: 5 – 10 per cent).	A significant increase in the long-term pretax operating margin used in isolation would result in a significant increase in the fair value.															
																					Weighted average cost of capital (WACC), determined using a Capital Asset Pricing Model, ranging from 11.9 to 12.5 per cent (2015: 11.2 to 12.1 per cent).
					Discount for lack of marketability, determined by reference to the share price of listed entities in similar industries, ranging from 5 – 20 per cent (2015: 4 – 19 per cent).	A significant increase in the discount for lack of marketability used in isolation would result in a significant decrease in the fair value.															

International GAAP Holdings Limited

Notes to the consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2016 - continued

Financial assets/ financial liabilities	Fair value as at		Fair value hierarchy	Valuation technique(s) and key input(s)	Significant unobservable input(s)	Relationship of unobservable inputs to fair value
	31/12/16	31/12/15				
7) Contingent consideration in a business combination (see note 34)	Liabilities – CU75,000	Level 3	Discounted cash flow method was used to capture the present value of the expected future	Discount rate of 18 per cent, determined using a Capital Asset Pricing Model.	A slight increase in the discount rate used in isolation would result in a significant decrease in the fair value. (note 2)	
		econom benefits will flow of the G arising t the con	economic benefits that will flow out of the Group arising from the contingent consideration.	Probability-adjusted revenues and profits, with a range from CU100,000 to CU150,000 and a range from CU 60,000 to 90,000 respectively.	A slight increase in the probability adjusted revenues and profits used in isolation would result in a significant increase in the fair value. (note 3)	

IFRS 13.93(h)(ii)

- Note 1: If the long-term revenue growth rates used were 10% higher/lower while all the other variables were held constant, the carrying amount of the shares would increase/decrease by CU7,000 (31 December 2015: increase/decrease by CU8,000).
- Note 2: A 5% increase/decrease in the WACC or discount rate used while holding all other variables constant would decrease/increase the carrying amount of the private equity investments and the contingent consideration by CU10,000 and CU3,524 respectively (31 December 2015: CU11,000 and CU3,754 respectively).
- Note 3: A 5% increase/decrease in the probability-adjusted revenues and profits while holding all other variables constant would increase/decrease the carrying amount of the contingent consideration by CU5,210 (31 December 2015: CU6,000).

IFRS 13.93(c)

There were no transfers between Level 1 and 2 in the period.

IFRS 13.93(h)(ii)

Commentary:

For financial assets and financial liabilities that are categorised within the Level 3 fair value hierarchy, if changing one or more of the unobservable inputs to reflect reasonably possible alternative assumptions would **significantly** change the fair value determined, an entity should state that fact and disclose the effect of those changes. The entity should also disclose how the effect of a change to reflect a reasonably possible alternative assumption was calculated.

IFRS 7.25, 29(a) IFRS 13.97

Notes to the consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2016 – continued

40.11.2 Fair value of financial assets and financial liabilities that are not measured at fair value (but fair value disclosures are required).

Except as detailed in the following table, the directors consider that the carrying amounts of financial assets and financial liabilities recognised in the consolidated financial statements approximate their fair values.

		31/12/16		31/12/15
	Carrying amount	Fair value	Carrying amount	Fair value
	CU'000	CU'000	CU'000	CU'000
Financial assets				
Loans and receivables:	22,506	22,339	16,832	16,713
– loans to related parties	3,637	3,608	3,088	3,032
– trade and other receivables	18,869	18,731	13,744	13,681
Held-to-maturity investments:	5,905	5,922	4,015	4,016
– bills of exchange	5,405	5,420	4,015	4,016
- debentures	500	502	-	-
Financial lease receivables	1,028	1,102	905	898
Financial liabilities				
Financial liabilities held at amortised cost:	50,190	50,242	71,441	71,115
– bills of exchange	358	350	916	920
– convertible notes	4,144	4,120	_	-
– perpetual notes	1,905	2,500	_	-
– bank loans	10,674	10,685	13,483	13,500
– loans from related parties	10,376	10,388	29,843	29,900
– loans from other entities	4,276	3,980	4,167	4,050
– interest-free loan from the government	2,798	2,711	2,610	2,546
– trade and other payables	15,659	15,508	20,422	20,199
Financial lease payables	14	12	89	87

Source	International GAAP Holdings Limited								
	Notes to the consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2016 – continued								
IFRS 13.97									
IFRS 13.93(b)			Fair	value hierarchy as	s at 31/12/16				
		Level 1	Level 2	Level 3	Total				
		CU'000	CU'000	CU'000	CU'000				
	Financial assets								
	Loans and receivables:								
	– loans to related parties	_	_	3,608	3,608				
	– trade and other receivables	-	18,731	-	18,731				
	Held-to-maturity investments:								
	– bills of exchange	5,420	_	_	5,420				
	– debentures	502	_	_	502				
	Financial lease receivables		1,102		1,102				
	Total	5,922	19,833	3,608	29,363				
	Financial liabilities								
	Financial liabilities held at amortised cost:								
	– bills of exchange	350	_	_	350				
	- convertible notes	-	4,120	_	4,120				
	– perpetual notes	2,500	_	_	2,500				
	– bank loans	_	_	10,685	10,685				
	– loans from related parties	_	_	10,388	10,388				
	– loans from other entities	_	_	3,980	3,980				
	– interest-free loan from the government	_	2,711	_	2,711				
	– trade and other payables	-	15,508	-	15,508				
	Financial lease payables		12		12				
	Total	2,850	22,351	25,053	50,254				

Source	International GAAP Holdings Limited							
	Notes to the consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2016 – continued							
			Fa	air value hierarch	y as at 31/12/15			
		Level 1	Level 2	Level 3	Total			
		CU'000	CU'000	CU'000	CU'000			
	Financial assets							
	Loans and receivables:							
	– loans to related parties	_	_	3,032	3,032			
	– trade and other receivables	-	13,681	-	13,681			
	Held-to-maturity investments:							
	– bills of exchange	4,016	_	_	4,016			
	– debentures	_	_	-	-			
	Financial lease receivables	_	898	-	898			
	Total	4,016	14,579	3,032	21,627			
	Financial liabilities							
	Financial liabilities held at amortised cost:							
	– bills of exchange	920	-	_	920			
	– convertible notes	_	_	-	-			
	– perpetual notes	-	-	-	-			
	– bank loans	-	_	13,500	13,500			
	– loans from related parties	-	_	29,900	29,900			
	– loans from other entities	-	-	4,050	4,050			
	– interest-free loan from the government	-	2,546	-	2,546			
	– trade and other payables	-	20,199	-	20,199			
	Financial lease payables		87		87			
	Total	920	22,832	47,450	71,202			

Commentary:

The categorisation of fair value measurements into the different levels of the fair value hierarchy depends on the degree to which the inputs to the fair value measurements are observable and the significance of the inputs to the fair value measurement. The above categorisations are for illustrative purpose only.

IFRS 13.97 IFRS 13.93(d) The fair values of the financial assets and financial liabilities included in the level 2 and level 3 categories above have been determined in accordance with generally accepted pricing models based on a discounted cash flow analysis, with the most significant inputs being the discount rate that reflects the credit risk of counterparties.

Source	International GAAP Holdings Limited							
	Notes to the consolidated financial statements for th	e year ended 31 Decem	ber 2016 – contin	ued				
IFRS 13.93(e)	40.11.3 Reconciliation of Level 3 fair value measurements							
	31 December 2016							
		Available-for-sale – unlisted shares	Others [describe]	Total				
		CU'000	CU'000	CU'000				
	Opening balance	5,285	-	5,285				
	Total gains or losses:							
	– in profit or loss	-	-	-				
	– in other comprehensive income	74	-	74				
	Reclassification of remaining interest in E Plus Limited from investment in associate to available- for-sale following partial sale of interest (see note 20)	360	-	360				
	Purchases	-	_	-				
	Issues	-	-	-				
	Disposals/settlements	-	_	-				
	Transfers out of level 3							
	Closing balance	5,719		5,719				
	31 December 2015							
		Available-for-sale – unlisted shares	Others [describe]	Total				
		CU'000	CU'000	CU'000				
	Opening balance	5,234	-	5,234				
	Total gains or losses:							
	– in profit or loss	-	_	-				
	– in other comprehensive income	51	-	51				
	Purchases	-	-	-				
	Issues	-	_	-				
	Disposals/settlements	-	-	-				
	Transfers out of level 3							
	Closing balance	5,285		5,285				

The only financial liabilities subsequently measured at fair value on Level 3 fair value measurement represent contingent consideration relating to the acquisition of Subsix Limited (see note 44.2). No gain or loss for the year relating to this contingent consideration has been recognised in profit or loss.

IFRS 13.93(f)

Commentary:

For recurring level 3 fair value measurements, an entity should disclose the amount of total unrealised gains or losses for the period included in profit or loss relating to those assets and liabilities held at the end of the reporting period, and the line item(s) in profit or loss in which those unrealised gains or losses are recognised.

Source	International GAAP Holdings Limited					
	Notes to the consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 Dece	mber 2016 – contin	ued			
IFRS 13.93(e)(ii)	All gains and losses included in other comprehensive income relate to unlisted sha the end of the reporting period and are reported as changes of 'Investment revalua					
	41. Deferred revenue					
		31/12/16	31/12/15			
			CU'000			
	Arising from customer loyalty programme (i)	184	147			
IAS 20.39(b)	Arising from government grant (ii)	140	390			
		324	537			
	Current	265	372			
	Non-current	59	165			
		324	537			
	(i) The deferred revenue arises in respect of the Group's Maxi-Points Scheme reco IFRIC 13 Customer Loyalty Programmes.	ognised in accordance	e with			
	(ii) The deferred revenue arises as a result of the benefit received from an interest in December 2015 (see note 32). The revenue was offset against training costs i will be offset against training costs to be incurred in 2017 (CU140,000).					
IFRS 2.44	42. Share-based payments					
	42.1 Employee share option plan of the Company					
	42.1.1 Details of the employee share option plan of the Company					
IFRS 2.45(a)	The Company has a share option scheme for executives and senior employees of the Company and its subsidiaries. In accordance with the terms of the plan, as approved by shareholders at a previous annual general meeting, executives and senior employees with more than five years' service with the Group may be granted options to purchase ordinary shares.					
	Each employee share option converts into one ordinary share of the Company on exercise. No amounts are paid or payable by the recipient on receipt of the option. The options carry neither rights to dividends nor voting rights. Options may be exercised at any time from the date of vesting to the date of their expiry.					
	The number of options granted is calculated in accordance with the performance-based formula approved by shareholders at the previous annual general meeting and is subject to approval by the remuneration committee. The formula rewards executives and senior employees to the extent of the Group's and the individual's achievement judged against both qualitative and quantitative criteria from the following financial and customer service measures:					
	improvement in share price					
	improvement in net profit					
	improvement in return to shareholders					
	reduction in warranty claims					
	results of client satisfaction surveys					
	reduction in rate of staff turnover					

Notes to the consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2016 - continued

The following share-based payment arrangements were in existence during the current and prior years:

Options series	Number	Grant date	Expiry date	Exercise price	Fair value at grant date
				CU	CU
(1) Granted on 31 March 2015	140,000	31/03/2015	30/03/2016	1.00	1.15
(2) Granted on 30 September 2015	150,000	30/09/2015	29/09/2016	1.00	1.18
(3) Granted on 31 March 2016	160,000	31/03/2016	30/03/2017	1.00	0.98
(4) Granted on 29 September 2016	60,000	29/09/2016	28/09/2017	2.40	0.82

All options vested on their date of grant and expire within twelve months of their issue, or one month after the resignation of the executive or senior employee, whichever is the earlier.

42.1.2 Fair value of share options granted in the year

IFRS 2.46, 47(a)

The weighted average fair value of the share options granted during the financial year is CU0.94 (2015: CU1.17). Options were priced using a binomial option pricing model. Where relevant, the expected life used in the model has been adjusted based on management's best estimate for the effects of non-transferability, exercise restrictions (including the probability of meeting market conditions attached to the option), and behavioural considerations. Expected volatility is based on the historical share price volatility over the past 3 years. To allow for the effects of early exercise, it was assumed that executives and senior employees would exercise the options after vesting date when the share price is two and a half times the exercise price.

Inputs into the model				Option series
	Series 1	Series 2	Series 3	Series 4
Grant date share price	1.32	1.37	1.29	2.53
Exercise price	1.00	1.00	1.00	2.40
Expected volatility	15.20%	15.40%	13.10%	13.50%
Option life	1 year	1 year	1 year	1 year
Dividend yield	13.27%	13.12%	13.00%	13.81%
Risk-free interest rate	5.13%	5.14%	5.50%	5.45%
Others [describe]	_	_	_	_

	International GAAP Holdings Limi				
	Notes to the consolidated financia		e year ended 31 De	ecember 2016 –	continued
IFDC 2 4E(b)	42.1.3 <u>Movements in shares options of</u>		o haginning and an	d of the year:	
IFRS 2.45(b)	The following reconciles the share opt	tions outstanding at th		d of the year.	201
			2016		201
		Number of options	Weighted average exercise price	Number of options	Weighted averag
			CU		C
	Balance at beginning of year	290,000	1.00	-	
	Granted during the year	220,000	1.38	290,000	1.0
	Forfeited during the year	_	_	_	
	Exercised during the year	(314,000)	1.00	_	
	Expired during the year				
	Balance at end of year	196,000	1.43	290,000	1.0
FRS 2.45(c)	42.1.4 Share options exercised during The following share options were exer Options series	*	Number exercised	Exercise date	Share price exercise da
					C
	(1) Granted on 31 March 2015		30,000	05/01/2016	2.5
	(1) Granted on 31 March 2015		45,000	31/01/2016	2.2
	(1) Granted on 31 March 2015		65,000	15/03/2016	2.
	(2) Granted on 30 September 2015		65,000	03/07/2016	2.
	(2) Granted on 30 September 2015		85,000	28/08/2016	3.
	(3) Granted on 31 March 2016		24,000	20/12/2016	3.
			314,000		
	42.1.5 <u>Share options outstanding at the</u>	ne end of the year			
FRS 2.45(d)	The share options outstanding at the and a weighted average remaining co			xercise price of Cl	J1.43 (2015: CU1.00
	42.2 Employee share option plan of	a subsidiary acquired	d in the current yea	ır	
IFRS 2.45(a)	Subsix Limited has a share option sch were not replaced and were still in exi				ling share options
	Each employee share option of Subsix No amounts are paid or payable by the dividends nor voting rights. Options no expiry. All outstanding share options a acquired Subsix Limited.	ne recipient on receipt nay be exercised at any	of the option. The o y time from the date	ptions carry neith e of vesting to the	er rights to date of their

Notes to the consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2016 - continued

The following share-based payment arrangements were in existence during the current year:

	Number	Grant date	Expiry date	Exercise price	measure at the acquisition date of Subsix Limited
Options series .	Number _	Grant date		CU CU	CU
(1) Granted on 13 March 2015	2,000	13/03/2015	12/03/2016	0.2	1.00
(2) Granted on 18 September 2015	3,000	18/09/2015	17/09/2016	0.2	1.00

Market-hased

All options vested on their date of grant and expire within three years of their issue.

42.2.1 Market-based measure of share options at the acquisition date

IFRS 2.46, 47(a)

All outstanding vested share options were measured in accordance with IFRS 2 at their market-based measure at the acquisition date. The weighted average market-based measure of the share options determined at the acquisition date of Subsix Limited is CU1.00. Options were priced using a binomial option pricing model. Where relevant, the expected life used in the model has been adjusted based on management's best estimate for the effects of non-transferability, exercise restrictions (including the probability of meeting market conditions attached to the option), and behavioural considerations. Expected volatility is based on the historical share price volatility over the past 5 years. To allow for the effects of early exercise, it was assumed that executives and senior employees would exercise the options after vesting date when the share price reaches three and a half times the exercise price.

Inputs into the model

		Option series
	Series 1	Series 2
	4.40	1.10
Acquisition date share price	1.12	1.12
Exercise price	0.2	0.2
Expected volatility	8.10%	8.50%
Option life	1.7 years	2.2 years
Dividend yield	3.00%	3.81%
Risk-free interest rate	5.50%	5.45%
Others [describe]	-	_

42.2.2 Movements in share options during the year

IFRS 2.45(d)

No share options were granted or exercised after the Group obtained control over Subsix Limited. The share options outstanding at 31 December 2016 had an exercise price of CU0.2 and a weighted average remaining contractual life of 551 days.

Notes to the consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2016 – continued

43. Related party transactions

Balances and transactions between the Company and its subsidiaries, which are related parties of the Company, have been eliminated on consolidation and are not disclosed in this note. Details of transactions between the Group and other related parties are disclosed below.

43.1 Trading transactions

IAS 24.18,19

During the year, group entities entered into the following trading transactions with related parties that are not members of the Group:

		Sales of goods	Purch	ases of goods
	Year ended 31/12/16	Year ended 31/12/15	Year ended 31/12/16	Year ended 31/12/15
	CU'000	CU'000	CU'000	CU'000
International Group Holdings Limited	693	582	439	427
Subsidiaries of International Group Holdings Limited	1,289	981	897	883
Associates of International Group Holdings Limited	398	291	-	_

IAS 24.18,19

The following balances were outstanding at the end of the reporting period:

	Amounts owed partie	•	Amounts ow	ed to related parties
	31/12/16	31/12/15	31/12/16	31/12/15
	CU'000	CU'000	CU'000	CU'000
International Group Holdings Limited	209	197	231	139
Subsidiaries of International Group Holdings Limited	398	293	149	78
Associates of International Group Holdings Limited	29	142	-	-

IAS 24.23

Sales of goods to related parties were made at the Group's usual list prices, less average discounts of 5%. Purchases were made at market price discounted to reflect the quantity of goods purchased and the relationships between the parties.

IAS 24.18

The amounts outstanding are unsecured and will be settled in cash. No guarantees have been given or received. No expense has been recognised in the current or prior years for bad or doubtful debts in respect of the amounts owed by related parties.

	International GAAP Holdings Limited		
	Notes to the consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 Decemb	er 2016 – contin	ued
IAS 24.18	43.2 Loans to related parties		
		31/12/16	31/12/15
		CU'000	CU'000
	Loans to key management personnel	3,637	3,088
	The Group has provided several of its key management personnel with short-term loar average commercial rate of interest.	ns at rates compa	rable to the
IFRS 7.7, 34(c), 36(b), (c)	The loans to key management personnel are unsecured. [To describe any concentration	n of risks.]	
IFRS 7.7	43.3 Loans from related parties		
IAS 24.18		31/12/16	31/12/15
		CU'000	CU'000
	Loans from Mr. John Banks (the ultimate controlling party of the Company)	10,376	29,843
	the ultimate controlling party are unsecured. 43.4 Compensation of key management personnel		
IAS 24.17	45.4 Compensation of key management personner		
	The remuneration of directors and other members of key management personnel duri	ing the vear was a	s follows:
	The remuneration of directors and other members of key management personnel duri	-	
	The remuneration of directors and other members of key management personnel duri	ing the year was a Year ended 31/12/16	Year ended
	The remuneration of directors and other members of key management personnel duri	Year ended	Year ended 31/12/15
	The remuneration of directors and other members of key management personnel duri	Year ended 31/12/16	Year ended 31/12/15 CU'000
		Year ended 31/12/16 CU'000	Year ended 31/12/15 CU'000
	Short-term benefits Post-employment benefits Other long-term benefits	Year ended 31/12/16 CU'000 - 1,368 160 115	Year ended 31/12/15 CU'000 1,027 139
	Short-term benefits Post-employment benefits Other long-term benefits Share-based payments	Year ended 31/12/16 CU'000 1,368 160	Year ended 31/12/15 CU'000 1,027 139
	Short-term benefits Post-employment benefits Other long-term benefits	Year ended 31/12/16 CU'000 - 1,368 160 115	Year ended 31/12/15 CU'000 1,027 139
	Short-term benefits Post-employment benefits Other long-term benefits Share-based payments	Year ended 31/12/16 CU'000 - 1,368 160 115	s follows: Year ended 31/12/15 CU'000 1,027 139 176 86
	Short-term benefits Post-employment benefits Other long-term benefits Share-based payments	Year ended 31/12/16 CU'000 CU'00 CU'000 CU'000 CU'000 CU'000 CU'00 C	Year ended 31/12/15 CU'000 1,027 139 176 86 -
	Short-term benefits Post-employment benefits Other long-term benefits Share-based payments Termination benefits The remuneration of directors and key executives is determined by the remuneration of	Year ended 31/12/16 CU'000 CU'00 CU'000 CU'000 CU'000 CU'000 CU'00 C	Year ended 31/12/15 CU'000 1,027 139 176 86

Source	International GAAP Holdings Limited			
	Notes to the consolidated financial statements fo	r the year ended 3	1 December 2016 – coi	ntinued
	44. Business combinations			
IFRS 3.	44.1 Subsidiaries acquired			
B64(a) to (d)				
	Principal activity	Date of acquisition	Proportion of voting equity interests acquired	Consideration transferred
			(%)	CU'000
	2016			
	Subsix Limited Manufacture of leisure goods	15/07/2016	80	505
	Subseven Limited Manufacture of leisure goods	30/11/2016	100	687
			_	1,192
IFRS 3.B66	Subsix Limited and Subseven Limited were acquired so leisure goods. Commentary:	as to continue the e	xpansion of the Group's	activities of
	The disclosures illustrated are also required for business			
IFRS 3 B64(f)	The disclosures illustrated are also required for business the financial statements are authorised for issue unless t time the financial statements are authorised for issue. In disclosures could not be made and the reasons why they	he initial accounting such circumstances,	for the acquisition is inc	omplete at the
IFRS 3.B64(f)	The disclosures illustrated are also required for business the financial statements are authorised for issue unless t time the financial statements are authorised for issue. In	he initial accounting such circumstances,	for the acquisition is inco , the entity is required to	omplete at the describe which
IFRS 3.B64(f)	The disclosures illustrated are also required for business the financial statements are authorised for issue unless t time the financial statements are authorised for issue. In disclosures could not be made and the reasons why they	he initial accounting such circumstances,	for the acquisition is inc	omplete at the describe which Subseven
IFRS 3.B64(f)	The disclosures illustrated are also required for business the financial statements are authorised for issue unless t time the financial statements are authorised for issue. In disclosures could not be made and the reasons why they	he initial accounting such circumstances,	for the acquisition is inco , the entity is required to Subsix	omplete at the describe which Subseven Limited
IFRS 3.B64(f)	The disclosures illustrated are also required for business the financial statements are authorised for issue unless t time the financial statements are authorised for issue. In disclosures could not be made and the reasons why they	he initial accounting such circumstances,	for the acquisition is inco , the entity is required to Subsix Limited	omplete at the describe which Subseven Limited CU'000
IFRS 3.B64(f)	The disclosures illustrated are also required for business the financial statements are authorised for issue unless time the financial statements are authorised for issue. In disclosures could not be made and the reasons why they 44.2 Consideration transferred	he initial accounting such circumstances, could not be made.	s for the acquisition is inco , the entity is required to Subsix Limited CU'000	omplete at the describe which Subseven Limited CU'000
IFRS 3.B64(f)	The disclosures illustrated are also required for business the financial statements are authorised for issue unless time the financial statements are authorised for issue. In disclosures could not be made and the reasons why they 44.2 Consideration transferred Cash	he initial accounting such circumstances, could not be made.	s for the acquisition is inco , the entity is required to Subsix Limited CU'000	omplete at the describe which Subseven Limited CU'000
IFRS 3.B64(f)	The disclosures illustrated are also required for business the financial statements are authorised for issue unless time the financial statements are authorised for issue. In disclosures could not be made and the reasons why they 44.2 Consideration transferred Cash Transfer of land and buildings at fair value at date of accounts.	he initial accounting such circumstances, could not be made.	Subsix Limited CU'000 430	Subseven Limited CU'000
IFRS 3.B64(f)	The disclosures illustrated are also required for business the financial statements are authorised for issue unless time the financial statements are authorised for issue. In disclosures could not be made and the reasons why they 44.2 Consideration transferred Cash Transfer of land and buildings at fair value at date of accompany to the contingent consideration arrangement (i)	he initial accounting such circumstances, could not be made.	Subsix Limited CU'000 430	omplete at the
	The disclosures illustrated are also required for business the financial statements are authorised for issue unless time the financial statements are authorised for issue. In disclosures could not be made and the reasons why they 44.2 Consideration transferred Cash Transfer of land and buildings at fair value at date of accompany to the contingent consideration arrangement (i) Plus: effect of settlement of legal claim against Subsever	he initial accounting such circumstances, could not be made. quisition h Limited (ii) he Group is required and tax (PBIT) in each as been CU350,000	Subsix Limited CU'000 430 - 75 - 505 d to pay the vendors an ach of the years 2017 and on average and the direct	Subseven Limited CU'000 247 400 - 40 687 additional 2018 exceeds ctors do not

Source	International GAAP Holdings Limited			
	Notes to the consolidated financial statements for the	year ended 31 Dec	ember 2016 – contir	nued
IFRS 3.B64(m)	Acquisition-related costs amounting to CU145,000 (Subsix Lin been excluded from the consideration transferred and have be current year, within the 'other expenses' line item.			
IFRS 3.B64(i)	44.3 Assets acquired and liabilities recognised at the date	of acquisition		
IAS 7.40(d)				
		Subsix	Subseven	
		Limited	Limited	Tota
		CU'000	CU'000	CU'00
	Current assets			
	Cash and cash equivalents	200	-	200
	Trade and other receivables	87	105	192
	Inventories	-	57	5
	Non-current assets			
	Plant and equipment	143	369	51.
	Current liabilities			
	Trade and other payables	(18)	(35)	(53
	Contingent liabilities (see note 35)	(45)	-	(45
	Non-current liabilities			
	Deferred tax liabilities	(17)		(17
		350	496	846
IFRS 3.B67(a) IFRS 3.B64(h)	The initial accounting for the acquisition of Subsix Limited has reporting period. For tax purposes, the tax values of Subsix's of the assets. At the date of finalisation of these consolidated and other calculations had not been finalised and they have the directors' best estimate of the likely tax values. The receivables acquired (which principally comprised trade rof CU87,000 (Subsix Limited) and CU105,000 (Subseven Limited CU120,000 respectively. The best estimate at acquisition date collected are CU10,000 (Subsix Limited) and CU8,000 (Subseven Limited).	assets are required the financial statements therefore only been proceedings of these therefore the contractual case of the contractual case.	o be reset based on real the necessary marked rovisionally determined ransactions with a factual amounts of CU1	market values et valuations ed based on ir value 04,000 and

Notes to the consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2016 – continued 44.4 Non-controlling interests

IFRS 3.B64(o)

The non-controlling interest (20% ownership interest in Subsix Limited) recognised at the acquisition date was measured by reference to the fair value of the non-controlling interest and amounted to CU127,000. This fair value was estimated by applying an income approach. The following were the key model inputs used in determining the fair value:

- · assumed discount rate of 18%;
- assumed long-term sustainable growth rates of 3% to 5%; and
- assumed adjustments because of the lack of control or lack of marketability that market participants would consider when estimating the fair value of the non-controlling interests in Subsix Limited.

All outstanding share options granted by Subsix Limited to its employees had vested by the acquisition date. These share options were measured in accordance with IFRS 2 at their market-based measure of CU5,000 and were included in the non-controlling interest in Subsix Limited. Methods and significant assumptions used in determining the market-based measure at the acquisition date are set out in note 42.2.

44.5 Goodwill arising on acquisition

	Subsix Limited	Subseven Limited	Total
	CU'000	CU'000	CU'000
Consideration transferred	505	687	1,192
Plus: non-controlling interests (20% in Subsix Limited)	127	-	127
Plus: non-controlling interests (outstanding share options granted by Subsix Limited)	5	_	5
Less: fair value of identifiable net assets acquired	(350)	(496)	(846)
Goodwill arising on acquisition	287	191	478

IFRS 3.B64(e)

Goodwill arose in the acquisition of Subsix Limited and Subseven Limited because the cost of the combination included a control premium. In addition, the consideration paid for the combination effectively included amounts in relation to the benefit of expected synergies, revenue growth, future market development and the assembled workforce of Subsix Limited and Subseven Limited. These benefits are not recognised separately from goodwill because they do not meet the recognition criteria for identifiable intangible assets.

IFRS 3.B64(k)

None of the goodwill arising on these acquisitions is expected to be deductible for tax purposes.

IAS 36.84

IAS 36.133

Commentary:

If the initial allocation of goodwill acquired in a business combination during the period cannot be completed before the end of the reporting period, the amount of the unallocated goodwill should be disclosed together with the reasons why that amount remains unallocated.

	International GAAP Holdings Limited	
	Notes to the consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2016 – cor	itinued
	44.6 Net cash outflow on acquisition of subsidiaries	
		Year ended 31/12/16
		CU'000
IAS 7.40(b)	Consideration paid in cash	677
IAS 7.40(c)	Less: cash and cash equivalent balances acquired	(200)
		477
	44.7 Impact of acquisitions on the results of the Group	
IFRS 3.B64(q)	Included in the profit for the year is CU35,000 attributable to the additional business generated by S and CU13,000 attributable to Subseven Limited. Revenue for the year includes CU2.3 million in respection Limited and CU2.8million in respect of Subseven Limited.	
IFRS 3.B64(q)	Had these business combinations been effected at 1 January 2016, the revenue of the Group from continuing operations would have been CU145 million, and the profit for the year from continuing operations would have been CU145 million, and the profit for the year from continuing operations would have been CU19.7 million. The directors consider these 'pro-forma' numbers to represent an approximate measure performance of the combined group on an annualised basis and to provide a reference point for confuture periods.	ould have been sure of the
	In determining the 'pro-forma' revenue and profit of the Group had Subsix Limited and Subseven Lin acquired at the beginning of the current year, the directors have:	nited been
	• calculated depreciation of plant and equipment acquired on the basis of the fair values arising in the accounting for the business combination rather than the carrying amounts recognised in the pre-afinancial statements;	
	 calculated borrowing costs on the funding levels, credit ratings and debt/equity position of the Grobusiness combination; and 	oup after the
	• excluded takeover defence costs of the acquiree as a one-off pre-acquisition transaction.	

Source	International GAAP Holdings Limited	
	Notes to the consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2016 – continued	d
	45. Disposal of a subsidiary	
	On 30 November 2016, the Group disposed of Subzero Limited which carried out its entire toy manufacturing operations.	ng
	45.1 Consideration received	
	Ye	ear ended 31/12/16
		CU'000
IAS 7.40(b)	Consideration received in cash and cash equivalents	7,854
	Deferred sales proceeds (see note 25)	960
IAS 7.40(a)	Total consideration received	8,814
IAS 7.40(d)	45.2 Analysis of asset and liabilities over which control was lost	
	Ye	ear ended 31/12/16
		CU'000
	Current assets	
	Cash and cash equivalents	288
	Trade receivables	1,034
	Inventories	2,716
	Non-current assets	
	Property, plant and equipment	5,662
	Goodwill	3,080
	Current liabilities	
	Payables	(973)
	Non-current liabilities	
	Borrowings	(4,342)
	Deferred tax liabilities	(471)
	Net assets disposed of	6,994

Source	International GAAP Holdings Limited	
	Notes to the consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2016 – cont	inued
	45.3 Gain on disposal of a subsidiary	
		Year ended 31/12/16
		CU'000
	Consideration received	8,814
	Net assets disposed of	(6,994)
	Non-controlling interests	-
	Cumulative gain/loss on available-for-sale financial assets reclassified from equity on loss of control of subsidiary	_
	Cumulative exchange gain in respect of the net assets of the subsidiary and related hedging instruments reclassified from equity to profit or loss on loss of control of	
	subsidiary	120
IFRS 12.19	Gain on disposal	1,940
IFRS 12.19(b)	The gain on disposal is included in the profit for the year from discontinued operations (see note 11).	
	45.4 Net cash inflow on disposal of a subsidiary	
		Year ended
		31/12/16
		CU'000
	Consideration received in cash and cash equivalents	7,854
IAS 7.40(c)	Less: cash and cash equivalent balances disposed of	(288)
		7,566

Source **International GAAP Holdings Limited** Notes to the consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2016 - continued 46. Cash and cash equivalents IAS 7.45 For the purposes of the consolidated statement of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents include cash on hand and in banks, net of outstanding bank overdrafts. Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the reporting period as shown in the consolidated statement of cash flows can be reconciled to the related items in the consolidated statement of financial position as follows: 31/12/16 31/12/15 CU'000 CU'000 Cash and bank balances 24,096 20,278 Bank overdrafts (538)(378)23,558 19,900 Cash and bank balances included in a disposal group held for sale 175 23,733 19,900

IAS 7.43 **47. Non-cash transactions**

During the current year, the Group entered into the following non-cash investing and financing activities which are not reflected in the consolidated statement of cash flows:

- the Group disposed of property, plant and equipment with an aggregate fair value of CU0.4 million to acquire Subseven Limited as indicated in note 44;
- proceeds in respect of the Group's disposal of part of its interest in E Plus Limited and its entire interest in Subzero Limited (CU1.245 million and CU960,000 respectively see notes 20 and 45) had not been received in cash at the end of the reporting period;
- share issue proceeds of CU8,000 were received in the form of consulting services, as described in note 28.1; and
- the Group acquired CU40,000 of equipment under a finance lease in 2015 (2016: nil).

Source	International GAAP Holdings Limited				
	Notes to the consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 Dece	mber 2016 – contii	nued		
	48. Operating lease arrangements				
	48.1 The Group as lessee				
	48.1.1 <u>Leasing arrangements</u>				
IAS 17.35(d) IFRS 7.7	Operating leases relate to leases of land with lease terms of between 5 and 10 years. All operating lease contracts over 5 years contain clauses for 5-yearly market rental reviews. The Group does not have an option to purchase the leased land at the expiry of the lease periods.				
	48.1.2 Payments recognised as an expense				
		Year ended 31/12/16	Year ended 31/12/15		
		CU'000	CU'000		
IAS 17.35(c)	Minimum lease payments	2,008	2,092		
IAS 17.35(c)	Contingent rentals	_	_		
IAS 17.35(c)	Sub-lease payments received				
		2,008	2,092		
IAS 17.35(a)	48.1.3 Non-cancellable operating lease commitments		<u> </u>		
		31/12/16	31/12/15		
		CU'000	CU'000		
	Not later than 1 year	1,734	1,908		
	Later than 1 year and not later than 5 years	3,568	4,336		
	Later than 5 years	4,618	5,526		
		9,920	11,770		
	48.1.4 <u>Liabilities recognised in respect of non-cancellable operating leases</u>				
		31/12/16	31/12/15		
		CU'000	CU'000		
	Onerous lease contracts (note 35)				
	Current	305	408		
-	Non-current	425	335		
	Lease incentives (note 36)				
	Current	90	90		
	Non-current	180	270		
		1,000	1,103		

Source	International GAAP Holdings Limited				
	Notes to the consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 Decem	nber 2016 – contin	ued		
	48.2 The Group as lessor				
	48.2.1 <u>Leasing arrangements</u>				
IAS 17.56(c)	Operating leases relate to the investment property owned by the Group with lease to with an option to extend for a further 10 years. All operating lease contracts contain event that the lessee exercises its option to renew. The lessee does not have an option at the expiry of the lease period.	market review claus	ses in the		
	Rental income earned by the Group from its investment property and direct operation the investment property for the year are set out in notes 7 and 13 respectively.	ng expenses arising			
IAS 17.56(a)	48.2.2 Non-cancellable operating lease receivables				
		31/12/16	31/12/15		
		CU'000	CU'000		
	Not later than 1 year	18	18		
	Later than 1 year and not longer than 5 years	54	72		
	Later than 5 years				
		72	90		
			90		
	49. Commitments for expenditure				
		31/12/16	31/12/15		
		CU'000	CU'000		
IAS 16.74(c)	Commitments for the acquisition of property, plant and equipment	4,856	6,010		
IAS 40.75(h)	In addition, the Group has entered into a contract for the management and maintenator for the next 5 years, which will give rise to an annual expense of CU3,500.	ance of its investme	nt property		
IFRS 12.23(a) IFRS 12.B18 – B19	The Group's share of the capital commitments made jointly with other joint venturers relating to its joint venture, JV Electronics Limited, is as follows:				
		31/12/16	31/12/15		
		CU'000	CU'000		
	Commitments to contribute funds for the acquisition of property,				
	plant and equipment	983	192		
	Commitments to provide loans		_		
	Commitments to acquire other venturer's ownership interest when a particular event occurs or does not occur in the future				
	(please specify what the particular event is)		_		
	Others (please specify)				

Source	International GAAP Holdings Limited		
	Notes to the consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 Decemb	er 2016 – contin	ued
	50. Contingent liabilities and contingent assets		
		31/12/16	31/12/15
		CU'000	CU'000
	50.1 Contingent liabilities		
IFRS 12.23(b)	Contingent liabilities incurred by the Group arising from its interests in a joint		
IAS 37.86(a)	venture (i)	110	116
IFRS 12.23(b)	Contingent liabilities incurred by the Group arising from its interests in associates (please disclose the details)	_	-
IFRS 12.23(b)	Group's share of associates' contingent liabilities (ii)	150	14
IFRS 12.23(b)	Group's share of joint venture's contingent liabilities (please specify the details)		_
IFRS 12.23(b)	 is liable. The extent to which an outflow of funds will be required is dependent on tigoint venture being more or less favourable than currently expected. The Group is a liabilities of other venturers in its joint venture. (ii) The amount disclosed represents the Group's share of contingent liabilities of associated. 		able for the
IFRS 12.23(b) IAS 37.86(b)	joint venture being more or less favourable than currently expected. The Group is a liabilities of other venturers in its joint venture. (ii) The amount disclosed represents the Group's share of contingent liabilities of associan outflow of funds will be required is dependent on the future operations of the a favourable than currently expected.	ciates. The extent	able for the to which
	joint venture being more or less favourable than currently expected. The Group is a liabilities of other venturers in its joint venture. (ii) The amount disclosed represents the Group's share of contingent liabilities of assorting an outflow of funds will be required is dependent on the future operations of the a	ciates. The extent	able for the to which
	joint venture being more or less favourable than currently expected. The Group is a liabilities of other venturers in its joint venture. (ii) The amount disclosed represents the Group's share of contingent liabilities of associan outflow of funds will be required is dependent on the future operations of the a favourable than currently expected.	ciates. The extent ssociates being m	to which
	joint venture being more or less favourable than currently expected. The Group is a liabilities of other venturers in its joint venture. (ii) The amount disclosed represents the Group's share of contingent liabilities of associan outflow of funds will be required is dependent on the future operations of the a favourable than currently expected.	ciates. The extent ssociates being m 31/12/16	to which ore or less
IAS 37.86(b)	joint venture being more or less favourable than currently expected. The Group is a liabilities of other venturers in its joint venture. (ii) The amount disclosed represents the Group's share of contingent liabilities of associan outflow of funds will be required is dependent on the future operations of the a favourable than currently expected. 50.2 Contingent assets Faulty goods claim (iii) — (iii) An entity in the Group has a claim outstanding against a supplier for the supply of Based on negotiations to date, the directors believe that it is probable that their claim and that compensation of CU0.14 million will be recovered.	ciates. The extent ssociates being m 31/12/16 CU'000 140 Gaulty products.	to which ore or less 31/12/15 CU'000
IAS 37.86(b)	joint venture being more or less favourable than currently expected. The Group is a liabilities of other venturers in its joint venture. (ii) The amount disclosed represents the Group's share of contingent liabilities of assoran outflow of funds will be required is dependent on the future operations of the a favourable than currently expected. 50.2 Contingent assets Faulty goods claim (iii) (iii) An entity in the Group has a claim outstanding against a supplier for the supply of Based on negotiations to date, the directors believe that it is probable that their claim of the compensation of CU0.14 million will be recovered. 51. Events after the reporting period	ciates. The extent ssociates being m 31/12/16 CU'000 140 aulty products. im will be success	to which ore or less 31/12/15 CU'000
IAS 37.86(b)	joint venture being more or less favourable than currently expected. The Group is a liabilities of other venturers in its joint venture. (ii) The amount disclosed represents the Group's share of contingent liabilities of associan outflow of funds will be required is dependent on the future operations of the a favourable than currently expected. 50.2 Contingent assets Faulty goods claim (iii) — (iii) An entity in the Group has a claim outstanding against a supplier for the supply of Based on negotiations to date, the directors believe that it is probable that their claim and that compensation of CU0.14 million will be recovered.	ciates. The extent ssociates being m 31/12/16 CU'000 140 aulty products. im will be success	to which ore or less 31/12/15 CU'000 ful
IAS 37.86(b)	joint venture being more or less favourable than currently expected. The Group is a liabilities of other venturers in its joint venture. (ii) The amount disclosed represents the Group's share of contingent liabilities of assoran outflow of funds will be required is dependent on the future operations of the a favourable than currently expected. 50.2 Contingent assets Faulty goods claim (iii) (iii) An entity in the Group has a claim outstanding against a supplier for the supply of Based on negotiations to date, the directors believe that it is probable that their clain and that compensation of CU0.14 million will be recovered. 51. Events after the reporting period On 18 January 2017, the premises of Subfive Limited were seriously damaged by fire. In	ciates. The extent ssociates being m 31/12/16 CU'000 140 aulty products. im will be success	to which ore or less 31/12/15 CU'000 ful
IAS 37.86(b)	joint venture being more or less favourable than currently expected. The Group is a liabilities of other venturers in its joint venture. (ii) The amount disclosed represents the Group's share of contingent liabilities of asso an outflow of funds will be required is dependent on the future operations of the a favourable than currently expected. 50.2 Contingent assets Faulty goods claim (iii) (iii) An entity in the Group has a claim outstanding against a supplier for the supply of Based on negotiations to date, the directors believe that it is probable that their claim and that compensation of CU0.14 million will be recovered. 51. Events after the reporting period On 18 January 2017, the premises of Subfive Limited were seriously damaged by fire. In but the cost of refurbishment is currently expected to exceed the amount that will be recovered.	ciates. The extent ssociates being m 31/12/16 CU'000 140 aulty products. im will be success surance claims are eimbursed by CU	to which ore or less 31/12/15 CU'000 ful e in process, 8.3 million.
IAS 37.86(b) IAS 37.89	joint venture being more or less favourable than currently expected. The Group is a liabilities of other venturers in its joint venture. (ii) The amount disclosed represents the Group's share of contingent liabilities of asso an outflow of funds will be required is dependent on the future operations of the a favourable than currently expected. 50.2 Contingent assets Faulty goods claim (iii) (iii) An entity in the Group has a claim outstanding against a supplier for the supply of Based on negotiations to date, the directors believe that it is probable that their claim and that compensation of CU0.14 million will be recovered. 51. Events after the reporting period On 18 January 2017, the premises of Subfive Limited were seriously damaged by fire. In but the cost of refurbishment is currently expected to exceed the amount that will be recovered.	ciates. The extent ssociates being m 31/12/16 CU'000 140 aulty products. im will be success surance claims are eimbursed by CU	to which ore or less 31/12/15 CU'000 ful e in process, 8.3 million.

International GAAP Holdings Limited

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT

Commentary:

The audit of the financial statements may be conducted in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (ISA) and/or applicable local auditing standards, making reference to local laws, auditing standards or regulations.

A number of new and revised ISAs are effective for the audits of financial statements for periods ending on or after 15 December 2016. They include the following:

- ISA 570 (Revised) Going Concern;
- ISA 700 (Revised) Forming an Opinion and Reporting on Financial Statements;
- ISA 701 Communicating Key Audit Matters in the Independent Auditor's Report (new);
- ISA 705 (Revised) Modifications to the Opinion in the Independent Auditor's Report;
- ISA 706 (Revised) Emphasis of Matter Paragraphs and Other Matter Paragraphs in the Independent Auditor's Report; and
- ISA 720 (Revised) The Auditor's Responsibilities Relating to Other Information

The most significant changes required by the new and revised ISAs are as follows:

- The first section of the auditor's report now includes the auditor's opinion with the heading 'Opinion';
- The section headed 'Basis for Opinion' now directly follows the Opinion section, unless law or regulation prescribe otherwise;
- The report now includes a statement about the auditor's independence and fulfilment of relevant ethical responsibilities, with disclosures of the jurisdiction of origin of those requirements or reference to the International Ethics Standards Board for Accountant's Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants;
- For listed entities, there is a new section to communicate Key Audit Matters in the auditor's report (this can be voluntarily included for unlisted entities);
- There is a new section that describes the auditor's responsibilities relating to other information;
- Expansion of the description of the auditor's responsibilities, including a specific focus on the responsibilities around consideration of the director's use of the going concern basis of accounting. When a material uncertainty exists, a new section under the heading 'Material Uncertainty related to Going Concern' is now added, rather than an Emphasis of Matter Paragraph; and
- For listed entities the name of the engagement partner is to be included in the auditor's report (this can be voluntarily included for unlisted entities).

A detailed discussion of the new requirements is beyond the scope of this publication.

Due to the increased specificity required by the new and revised ISAs, the wording of the audit report is likely to differ between entities. Moreover, when local auditing standards or regulations apply, the report format will also be affected by those local rules. Accordingly, no illustrative auditor's report has been included in these model financial statements.

Deloitte.

Deloitte refers to one or more of Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu Limited, a UK private company limited by guarantee, and its network of member firms, each of which is a legally separate and independent entity. Please see www.deloitte.com/about for a detailed description of the legal structure of Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu Limited and its member firms.

"Deloitte" is the brand under which tens of thousands of dedicated professionals in independent firms throughout the world collaborate to provide audit, consulting, financial advisory, risk management and tax services to selected clients. These firms are members of Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu Limited (DTTL), a UK private company limited by guarantee. Each member firm provides services in a particular geographic area and is subject to the laws and professional regulations of the particular country or countries in which it operates. DTTL does not itself provide services to clients. DTTL and each DTTL member firm are seperate and distinct legal entities, which cannot obligate each other. DTTL and each DTTL member firm are liable only for their own acts or omissions and not those of each other. Each DTTL member firm is structured differently in accordance with national laws, regulations, customary practice, and other factors, and may secure the provision of professional services in its territory through subsidiaries, affiliates, and/or other entities.

This publication contains general information only, and none of Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu Limited, its member firms, or their affiliates are, by means of this publication, rendering accounting, business, financial, investment, legal, tax, or other professional advice or services. This publication is not a substitute for such professional advice or services, nor should it be used as a basis for any decision or action that may affect your finances or your business. Before making any decision or taking any action that may affect your finances or your business, you should consult a qualified professional adviser.

None of Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu Limited, its member firms, or its and their respective affiliates shall be responsible for any loss whatsoever sustained by any person who relies on this publication.

© 2016 Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu Limited

Designed and produced by The Creative Studio at Deloitte, London. J10411